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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549  

FORM 10-K  

� ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT 
OF 1934  

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004  

Commission File Number 000-26929  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
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(610) 727-6900  
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     Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has 
been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes �   No �  

     Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be 
contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. � .  

     The approximate aggregate market value of common stock held by non-affiliates of the Company was $ 291.3 million as of June 30, 2004. 
(For purposes of determining this amount only, the Company has defined affiliates to include, as of June 30, 2004, (a) its executive officers and 
(b) its directors.)  

     Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes �  No �  

     The number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding as of March 7, 2005 was 38,388,004 shares.  

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  
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PART I  

     Although we refer in this report on Form 10-K (“Report”) to companies in which we have acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership 
interest as our “partner companies” and indicate that we have a “partnership” with these companies, we do not act as an agent or legal 
representative for any of our partner companies, we do not have the power or authority to legally bind any of our partner companies, and we do 
not have the types of liabilities in relation to our partner companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  

ITEM 1. Business  

Business Overview  

     Internet Capital Group, Inc. (“ICG” or the “Company”) is an information technology company actively engaged in delivering software 
solutions and services that are designed to enhance business operations by increasing efficiency, reducing costs and improving sales results. ICG 
operates through a network of partner companies that deliver those solutions to customers. To help drive partner company progress, ICG 
provides operational assistance, capital support, industry expertise, access to operational best practices, and a strategic network of business 
relationships. ICG was formed on March 4, 1996 and is headquartered in Wayne, Pennsylvania.  

     In the information technology industry, certain terms are often used to describe the nature of a company’s business, including the following 
terms: internet company, business to business e-commerce, software company, outsourcing, procurement services, supply chain and customer 
relationship management. These terms apply, in varying degrees, to most of our partner companies. Our partner companies also typically provide 
customers with systems integration consulting services or stand alone services. For convenience throughout this Report, we generally refer to our 
partner companies’ businesses as software and services.  

     The current market environment creates a substantial opportunity for providers of software and services that improve sales results, reduce 
costs and increase efficiencies by streamlining business processes both within an enterprise and across the value chain. An increasing number of 
large enterprises are focusing on their core competencies to drive differentiation and competitive advantage for their firms. This means that these 
enterprises are looking for ways to outsource non-core or non-strategic processes that cost time and money and distract them from their top 
priorities of achieving profitability, growing market share and delivering new products or services. Our partner companies deliver software and 
services to help businesses focus on their core competencies. As of December 31, 2004, our partner company network is made up of 26 
companies in which we own interests.  

     With a sharp focus on those companies that we believe have the greatest potential to generate value for ICG stockholders (our “Core” 
companies), our operating strategy is to build and develop our partner companies by providing them with both human and financial resources. 
This support leverages the collective knowledge and best practices both within ICG and across our network of partner companies. We use these 
collective resources to actively support the business strategies, operations and management teams of our partner companies. Our resources 
include the experience, industry relationships and specific expertise of our management team, our partner companies’ management teams and 
our Board of Directors.  

     ICG is a successor to a business originally founded as a Delaware limited liability company under the name Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. As 
a limited liability company, Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. was treated for income tax purposes as a partnership with taxes on the income 
generated by Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. paid by its members. Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. merged into Internet Capital Group, Inc. on 
February 2, 1999 with Internet Capital Group, Inc. surviving (the “Reorganization.”) As required by its limited liability company agreement to 
satisfy the members’ tax liabilities, Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. declared a $10.7 million distribution to its members. Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. has assumed all liabilities of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. including the distribution to members of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Also as 
part of the Reorganization, Internet Capital Group, Inc. issued 8,200,555 shares of common stock to the members of Internet Capital Group, 
L.L.C. The separate existence of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. ceased in connection with the Reorganization.  
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Industry Overview  

     The internet’s growth creates substantial market opportunities for companies that provide software and services to help traditional businesses 
increase efficiency and cost savings by leveraging the internet and other technologies. Historically, e-commerce has occurred through electronic 
data interchange over proprietary networks, which are costly and available only to a limited number of participants. The internet provides an 
open platform with common communication protocols to build efficient, cost-effective networks that facilitate e-commerce.  

     During 2003 and 2004, the e-commerce market continued a period of development and growth as enterprises of all sizes and across all 
industries looked for vehicles to help them:  

Increase efficiency and reduce cost  

     Traditional businesses are utilizing the internet to automate their internal operations, including manufacturing, finance, sales and purchasing 
functions. The internet is also used to increase information flow and access throughout the value chain. This increases operational efficiency by 
reducing the time, costs and resources required to transact business, lowering inventory levels and procurement costs and improving 
responsiveness to customers and suppliers. Recently, challenging market conditions only served to increase the need for companies to reduce 
bottom line costs and increase operational efficiencies to support growth.  

Focus on core competencies and outsource non-core, non-strategic processes  

     There are an increasing number of large enterprises focusing on their core competencies to drive differentiation and competitive advantage 
for their firms. This means that they are looking for ways to outsource non-core, or non-strategic, processes that cost time and money, and more 
importantly distract them from their top priorities, which are to grow market share and deliver new products or services.  

Expand access to new and existing customers and suppliers  

     Traditional businesses have relied on their sales forces and purchasing departments to develop and maintain customer and supplier 
relationships. This model is constrained by the time and cost required to exchange current information regarding requirements, prices and 
product availability, and the difficulty of cost-effectively locating new customers and suppliers and managing existing relationships. Traditional 
businesses can leverage the internet to obtain and communicate real-time, accurate information regarding requirements, prices and products to a 
global audience, including suppliers, customers and business partners. This should make it easier for businesses to attract new customers and 
suppliers, improve service and increase revenue.  

     We believe that the benefits of e-commerce are broad and will be realized by businesses in times of economic growth or contraction, because 
e-commerce can be used to build top line revenues in times of growth and new levels of efficiency in times of contraction.  

Our Solution and Strategy  

     Our goal is to become a leader in information technology by owning significant stakes in leading companies that deliver the savings and 
efficiency of the internet to businesses of all sizes across all industries.  

     With a sharp focus on those companies that we believe offer the greatest potential to generate value for ICG stockholders, our operating 
strategy is to build and develop our partner companies by providing them with both human and financial resources. This support leverages the 
collective knowledge and best practices both within ICG and across our network of partner companies. We use these collective resources to 
actively support the business strategies, operations and management teams of our partner companies. Our resources include the experience, 
industry relationships and specific expertise of our management team, our partner companies’ management teams and our Board of Directors.  
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     Although ICG’s mission of building leading companies has remained constant since its inception, the Company’s focus and operational tenets 
have evolved with the growth of the e-commerce market and in response to changes within the overall business environment. This evolution 
included:  

Identifying key markets and owning stakes in potential leaders  

     Our expertise in the e-commerce market has allowed us to identify companies that we believe are positioned to succeed. In building our 
partner company network, we applied an analysis that capitalized on this competitive advantage. We were very active in acquiring new 
companies during 1999 and 2000, bringing the partner company network composition to an all-time high of 80 companies by late 2000. In 
evaluating whether to enter a market or acquire a stake in a specific company, we weighed each opportunity in terms of several industry and 
company factors. With regards to industry criteria, we evaluated the inefficiencies within each market, its competitive landscape and the 
potential each market had in terms of the number and dollar value of transactions it would be able to support. In measuring the potential of each 
partner company, we looked at market position and share, our ability to own a significant stake and the company’s potential to contribute to the 
network’s value in terms of operational resources and the quality of its management team.  

     After we identified an attractive potential partner company, we negotiated the acquisition of a significant interest in the company. As a 
condition to an acquisition, we generally required representation on the company’s board of directors to ensure our ability to provide active 
guidance to the partner company. We structured acquisitions to permit the partner company’s management and key personnel to retain an equity 
stake in the company. During our negotiations with potential partner companies we emphasized the value of our network and resources, which 
we believe gave us a competitive advantage over other acquirers in successfully consummating transactions.  

     In late 2000, we reallocated our capital resources as described below to focus on those partner companies that we believed presented the 
greatest potential for ICG stockholders. Due to this increased focus on certain existing partner companies, we decreased our focus on new 
acquisitions. Accordingly, our strategy since late 2000 has been to acquire interests in new partner companies only when we believe the strategic 
value of such companies was extremely compelling.  

     After acquiring interests in partner companies, we selectively continue to participate in their follow-on financings and selectively increase our 
ownership positions.  

Aggregating companies into a network to promote growth  

     During 1999 and 2000 we acquired interests in numerous partner companies, and as we made those acquisitions, we immediately took an 
active role in the partner companies by providing both strategic guidance and operational support:  

Strategic Guidance . We provide strategic guidance to our partner companies regarding market positioning, business model development and 
market trends. Our focus on the e-commerce market and the knowledge base of our partner companies, management and our board of directors 
gives us valuable experience that we share with our partner companies.  

Operational Support . We provide operational support to our partner companies in the areas of finance, sales and marketing, business 
development and human resources. The majority of our partner companies have an assigned operations and finance team. This team advises our 
partner companies’ management on day-to-day management and operational issues.  

Exchange of Best Practices and Economies of Scale. One of the principal goals of our network is to promote best practices and economies of 
scale among our partner companies. We promote and facilitate the information flow among our partner companies and as they follow similar 
business cycles and challenges, key learnings are leveraged to increase operational efficiencies, accelerate decision-making and promote growth. 
Importantly, the challenging economic environment has had a significant effect  
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on most of our partner companies. The benefits of a network effect has enabled many of these companies to leverage strategies implemented by 
some companies to cut costs and evolve business models to quickly respond to common challenges.  

Prioritize resources to accelerate development of most promising companies  

Although we do and will continue to concentrate on providing the operational and strategic support to promote growth and profitability at our 
partner companies, the market volatility that began in early 2000 necessitated a prioritization of both our human and capital resources toward 
partner companies believed to have the greatest potential to generate value for our stockholders. Based on our active involvement in the e-
commerce market since 1996, we believe that our expertise allows us to identify companies that are positioned to succeed. This enables the 
prioritization of our resources to accelerate the development of partner companies which we believe offer the greatest value for our stockholders 
over the long-term. We believe this prioritization and focus will result in the continued streamlining of our partner company network into a 
smaller but stronger group of companies. We intend to continue to focus on our private partner companies that we believe have the greatest value 
potential, which we refer to as our private Core partner companies. These private Core partner companies primarily deliver a wide array of 
software and services to help customers streamline and automate business processes with the goal of reducing costs and increasing efficiencies 
both within the four walls of the enterprise and across their individual value chains. However, this categorization does not necessarily imply that 
every one of our private Core partner companies is a de facto success at this time. Rather, it captures those companies that are receiving the 
majority of management’s time and resources as we consider them our most promising.  

     At December 31, 2004 our consolidated Core partner companies consisted of:  

CommerceQuest  

     CommerceQuest is an enterprise software and service provider that enables its customers to turn business strategy into business processes by 
fully integrating the work that people do with software systems that optimize business performance. CommerceQuest delivers a complete set of 
scalable business process management solutions that leverage existing IT investments to unite people, processes and technology in a service-
based architecture.  

ICG Commerce  

     ICG Commerce is a procurement services provider delivering total procurement cost savings through a combination of deep expertise and 
hosted technology. ICG Commerce provides a comprehensive range of solutions to help companies identify savings through sourcing, realize 
savings through implementation and purchase-to-pay automation and drive continuous improvements through ongoing category management.  

     At December 31, 2004 our equity Core partner companies consisted of:  

CreditTrade  

     CreditTrade provides transaction, data and information services to the credit markets. CreditTrade is a broker specializing in credit default 
swaps and secondary loans.  

eCredit  

     eCredit delivers credit risk management and collections software and services to Fortune 1000 companies and financial institutions. eCredit 
improves credit and collections decision-making practices to deliver process efficiencies, optimized risk management, reduced operating costs 
and increased revenues.  

Freeborders  

     Freeborders provides product lifecycle management software and services to leading retailers and their suppliers, enabling brands to more 
effectively manage the increasing complexity of their supply chains. Freeborders solutions help drive profitable revenue growth, speed products 
to market, improve inventory management, and maintain control, consistency and quality.  
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GoIndustry  

     GoIndustry provides corporations, financial institutions, and insolvency practitioners a comprehensive range of industrial asset services, 
including disposal, valuation and related consulting. Additionally, for large corporations, GoIndustry provides enterprise asset management 
solutions for used and under-utilized capital assets.  

Investor Force  

     Investor Force is a software technology company specializing in the delivery of revenue and efficiency generating business solutions to the 
institutional investment community. Investor Force serves a broad array of over 500 institutional investment clients, including money managers, 
consultants, plan sponsors and institutional investors. By eliminating manual, time-consuming tasks and providing greater portfolio insight, 
Investor Force helps firms serve their institutional clients faster and with greater intelligence and productivity.  

LinkShare  

     LinkShare is a provider of internet technology solutions to track, manage, and analyze the performance of sales, marketing and business 
development initiatives. Combining patented technology, the reach and distribution of a robust network, and expert account management 
services, LinkShare empowers clients with the ability to collaborate with partners online and develop cost-efficient pay-for-performance 
campaigns. LinkShare provides the platform, tools, and reporting to help clients acquire new customers, increase revenues, drive results and 
measure success across affiliate, search and email initiatives.  

Marketron  

     Marketron is a provider of broadcast management solutions for the radio, TV and cable industries. Marketron’s fully integrated suite of sales, 
traffic, finance and business intelligence solutions automates workflow from proposal to billing, enabling groups to optimize inventory and 
increase revenues.  

StarCite  

     StarCite provides a comprehensive suite of software applications and services to the meeting and events industry. StarCite helps drive 
efficiencies and cost savings to both corporate buyers and suppliers. More than 400 corporate, association and third-party meeting buyers rely on 
StarCite’s Enterprise Meeting Solutions for workflow, procurement, supply chain management, spend analysis and attendee management. 
Thousands of industry suppliers rely on the StarCite Online Marketplace, supplier marketing programs and enabling technologies to increase 
meeting revenues. StarCite’s international division represents destination management companies and other premier international travel suppliers 
using both technology and traditional means.  

     We believe that additional partner companies may be included in this category in the future and that, conversely, certain partner companies 
may be removed from this category in the future.  

Government Regulations and Legal Uncertainties  

     Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce is evolving and unfavorable changes could harm our partner companies’ business. Our 
partner companies are subject to general business regulations and laws, as well as regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and e-
commerce. Such existing and future laws and regulations may impede the growth of the internet or other online services. These regulations and 
laws may cover taxation, user privacy, pricing, content, copyrights, distribution, electronic contracts, consumer protection, the provision of 
online payment services, broadband residential internet access and the characteristics and quality of products and services. It is not clear how 
existing laws governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to the internet and e-
commerce. Unfavorable resolution of these issues may harm our partner companies’ business.  
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Proprietary Rights  

     Our partner companies have copyrights with respect to software applications, websites and other materials. These materials may constitute an 
important part of our partner companies’ assets and competitive strengths. Federal law generally protects such copyrights for 90 years from the 
creation of the underlying material.  

Concentration of Customer Base and Credit Risk  

     Approximately 17% and 13% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to one customer of ICG 
Commerce. During 2003, this customer notified ICG Commerce of the exercise of its right to terminate its arrangement to purchase services 
from ICG Commerce effective January 1, 2004.  

Competition  

Competition Facing our Partner Companies  

     Competition for information technology and internet products and services is intense. As the market for e-commerce grows, we expect that 
competition will continue to intensify. Barriers to entry are minimal and competitors can offer products and services at a relatively low cost. Our 
partner companies compete for a share of a customer’s:  

     In addition, some of our partner companies compete to attract and retain a critical mass of buyers and sellers. Several companies offer 
competitive solutions that compete with one or more of our partner companies. We expect that additional companies will offer competing 
solutions on a stand-alone or combined basis in the future. Furthermore, our partner companies’ competitors may develop information 
technology and internet products or services that are superior to, or have greater market acceptance than, the solutions offered by our partner 
companies. Many of our partner companies’ competitors have greater brand recognition and greater financial, marketing and other resources 
than our partner companies. This may place our partner companies at a disadvantage in responding to their competitors’ pricing strategies, 
technological advances, advertising campaigns, strategic partnerships and other initiatives.  

     If our partner companies are unable to compete successfully against their competitors, our partner companies may fail.  

Competition From Within our Network  

     We may compete with some of our partner companies for internet-related opportunities. We may compete with our partner companies to 
acquire interests in e-commerce companies and our partner companies may compete with each other for e-commerce opportunities. This 
competition may deter companies from partnering with us and may limit our business opportunities.  

Employees  

     Our corporate headcount as of March 7, 2005 is 20. Headcount at our consolidated partner companies as of March 7, 2005 is 420. Although 
we believe our and our consolidated partner companies current staffing levels are adequate to conduct business, we cannot ensure that we and 
our consolidated partner companies will not need to increase headcount in the future.  

Financial Information About Segments and Geographic Areas  

     Segment and geographic area information is set forth in Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 below and 
incorporated herein by reference.  

Availability of Reports and Other Information  

     Our internet website address is www.internetcapital.com . Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports 
on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission  
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pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are accessible free of charge through our website as 
soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file those documents with, or otherwise furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  

ITEM 2. Properties  

     The location and general description of our properties as of March 7, 2005 are as follows:  

Corporate Offices  

     Our corporate headquarters are located at 690 Lee Road, Suite 310 in an office facility located in Wayne, Pennsylvania, where we lease 
approximately 7,475 square feet.  

Partner Company Properties  

     Our consolidated partner companies lease approximately 112,293 square feet of office, administrative, sales and marketing, operations and 
data center space, principally in California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, New York and Pennsylvania in the United States, and also in 
Germany and the United Kingdom.  

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings  

     In May and June 2001, certain of the Company’s present directors, along with the Company, certain of its former directors, certain of its 
present and former officers and its underwriters, were named as defendants in nine class action complaints filed in the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of New York. The plaintiffs and the alleged classes they seek to represent include present and former 
stockholders of the Company. The complaints generally allege violations of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, based on, among other things, the dissemination of statements allegedly containing 
material misstatements and/or omissions concerning the commissions received by the underwriters of the initial public offering and follow-on 
public offering of the Company as well as failure to disclose the existence of purported agreements by the underwriters with some of the 
purchasers in these offerings to buy additional shares of the Company’s stock subsequently in the open market at pre-determined prices above 
the initial offering prices. The plaintiffs seek for themselves and the alleged class members an award of damages and litigation costs and 
expenses. The claims in these cases have been consolidated for pre-trial purposes (together with claims against other issuers and underwriters) 
before one judge in the Southern District of New York federal court. In April 2002, a consolidated, amended complaint was filed against these 
defendants which generally alleges the same violations and also refers to alleged misstatements or omissions that relate to the recommendations 
regarding the Company’s stock by analysts employed by the underwriters. In June and July 2002, defendants, including the Company 
defendants, filed motions to dismiss plaintiffs’ complaints on numerous grounds. The Company’s motion was denied in its entirety in an opinion 
dated February 19, 2003. In July 2003, a committee of the Company’s Board of Directors approved a proposed settlement with the plaintiffs in 
this matter. The settlement would provide for, among other things, a release of the Company and of the individual defendants (who had been 
previously dismissed without prejudice) for the wrongful conduct alleged in the amended complaint. The Company would agree to undertake 
other responsibilities under the partial settlement, including agreeing to assign away, not assert, or release certain potential claims the Company 
may have against its underwriters. Any direct financial impact of the proposed settlement is expected to be borne by the Company’s insurers. 
The complete terms of the proposed settlement is on file with the Court. The Court overseeing the litigation granted preliminary approval of the 
settlement in February 2005 subject to a change in the terms to bar cross-claims by defendant underwriters for contribution, but not for 
indemnification or otherwise. The parties to the settlement are currently negotiating a revised agreement. Assuming that a revised agreement is 
reached, a fairness hearing on the settlement must be held before the Court can make a final determination regarding approval of the settlement.  

     On December 20, 2002, the Company was named as a defendant in an action filed in the United States District Court for the District of 
Maine. The plaintiffs include former stockholders of Animated Images, Inc. (“Animated Images”), one of the Company’s former partner 
companies. In addition to the Company, the complaint also named Freeborders, a current partner company, as a defendant, as well as four 
individual defendants, including former officers of the Company and former Animated Images and Freeborders directors. The complaint 
generally alleges violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 5(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, fraud, breach 
of contract, breach of fiduciary duty and civil conspiracy, among other claims, in connection with the merger of Animated Images into 
Freeborders. In support of these claims, the plaintiffs allege, among other things, that the defendants misrepresented the value of the stock of 
Freeborders, resulting in  
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plaintiffs’ having received less consideration in the merger than that to which they believe they were entitled. In July 2003, the Court granted 
defendants’ motion to stay the litigation pending arbitration in California of plaintiffs’ claims against Freeborders. In an effort to avoid such 
arbitration, plaintiffs moved to dismiss Freeborders from the litigation in March 2004. The Court granted this motion and thereafter, plaintiffs 
filed a motion to compel arbitration of their claims against the Company and certain other defendants. The Court granted plaintiffs’ motion on 
October 1, 2004, and further ordered a stay of the plaintiffs’ non-arbitrable claims against two individual defendants. The arbitration is currently 
in a preliminary stage. The Company intends to oppose the arbitration of plaintiffs’ claims on both procedural and substantive grounds.  

     On September 30, 2004, Verticalnet and several of its former officers and directors, including an employee of the Company, were named as 
defendants in a complaint filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. The complaint alleges that in connection with 
the issuance of Verticalnet stock to plaintiff’s predecessors in interest pursuant to an acquisition, the plaintiff was damaged by the defendants’ 
delays in registering stock, updating the registration of stock, releasing stock from lock-ups and releasing stock from escrows. The defendants 
have filed a motion to dismiss the case. The Court has not yet ruled on this motion.  

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  

     No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 
2004.  

PART II  

ITEM 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters  

(a) Our common stock is currently traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “ICGE”. We transferred from the Nasdaq National 
Market to the Nasdaq SmallCap Market effective June 10, 2002 and transferred back to the Nasdaq National Market effective March 3, 2005. 
Our initial public offering of stock occurred on August 5, 1999 at $120.00 (post split) per share on the Nasdaq National Market. The price range 
per share reflected in the table below is the highest and lowest sale price for our stock (post split) as reported by the Nasdaq National Market and 
the Nasdaq SmallCap Market during each quarterly period of our two most recent fiscal years.  

     As of March 7, 2005, the last reported sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was $8.05 per share.  

(b) Holders . As of March 3, 2005, there were approximately 1,595 holders of record of our common stock, although there is a much larger 
number of beneficial owners.  

(c) Dividends . We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. We plan to retain any earnings for use in the operation of our business and to fund future growth.  

(d) Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  

     Information regarding the Company’s equity compensation plans and the securities authorized for issuance thereunder is set forth in Item 12 
below.  
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    Three Months Ended   
    March 31     June 30     Sept. 30     Dec. 31     March 31     June 30     Sept. 30     Dec. 31   
    2004     2004     2004     2004     2003     2003     2003     2003   
High    $ 12.20     $ 8.20     $ 7.85     $ 9.68     $ 11.20     $ 19.20     $ 16.00     $ 10.60   
Low    $ 6.60     $ 4.00     $ 4.80     $ 5.90     $ 5.20     $ 5.60     $ 8.20     $ 5.80   
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ITEM 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data  

     The following table summarizes certain selected historical consolidated financial information of ICG that has been derived from our audited 
consolidated financial statements for each of the five years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, 2002, 2001, and 2000. The financial information 
may not be indicative of our future performance. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in this 
Report.  

     The Company has not paid a cash dividend since its inception. In December 1999, the Company declared and paid a 100% stock dividend. In 
May 2004, the Company implemented a one-for-twenty reverse stock split. All share information in this Report reflects this dividend and this 
reverse stock split.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002     2001     2000   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:                                          
Revenue    $ 52,400     $ 70,020     $ 79,490     $ 101,060     $ 42,238   
Operating Expenses                                          

Cost of revenue      27,986       40,936       51,977       79,327       46,065   
Selling, general and administrative      34,665       46,626       76,372       234,758       243,871   
Research and development expenses      9,722       14,840       24,100       43,788       68,821   
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles      2,711       7,955       10,115       123,564       239,813   
Impairment related and other      810       (1,736 )     11,276       851,257       160,844   

     
  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total operating expenses      75,894       108,621       173,840       1,332,694       759,414   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (23,494 )     (38,601 )     (94,350 )     (1,231,634 )     (717,176 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Other income (loss), net      (106,259 )     (58,659 )     92,632       (109,768 )     627,227   
Interest income (expense), net      (3,574 )     (15,232 )     (19,300 )     (25,447 )     7,126   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity loss      (133,327 )     (112,492 )     (21,018 )     (1,366,849 )     (82,823 ) 
Income tax (expense) benefit      —      —      (179 )     12,584       319,449   
Minority interest      903       2,326       15,438       108,223       84,245   
Equity loss      (5,893 )     (14,490 )     (81,114 )     (1,048,860 )     (980,391 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Loss from continuing operations      (138,317 )     (124,656 )     (86,873 )     (2,294,902 )     (659,520 ) 
Gain (loss) on discontinued operations, net of gain of $1,675 

(2003) and $10,317 (2002) and tax benefit of $2,917 (2001) and 
$7,806 (2000)      3,000       (11,228 )     (15,346 )     (35,942 )     (7,028 ) 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      —      —      (7,886 )     —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net Loss    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                           
Diluted Loss Per Share:                                          
Loss from continuing operations per share – diluted    $ (3.87 )   $ (8.24 )   $ (6.48 )   $ (164.90 )   $ (47.96 ) 

Gain (loss) on discontinued operations per share – diluted      0.08       (0.74 )     (1.15 )     (2.58 )     (0.51 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share – 

diluted      —      —      —      (0.57 )     —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss per share— diluted    $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 )   $ (7.63 )   $ (168.05 )   $ (48.47 ) 
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted      35,713       15,130       13,400       13,917       13,752   
                                           
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data :                                          
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments    $ 89,526     $ 77,590     $ 125,094     $ 247,548     $ 421,172   
Working capital    $ 76,818     $ (124,479 ) (1)   $ 81,443     $ 183,434     $ 356,524   
Total assets    $ 277,606     $ 231,163     $ 366,246     $ 655,047     $ 3,330,583   
Other long-term debt, net of current portion    $ 11     $ 30     $ 7,290     $ 9,919     $ 169   
Senior convertible notes    $ 60,000     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —  
Convertible subordinated notes    $ —    $ 173,919     $ 283,114     $ 446,061     $ 566,250   
Total stockholders’  equity (deficit)    $ 165,107     $ (19,294 )   $ (51,646 )   $ 34,737     $ 2,266,167   

(1)   Includes convertible subordinated notes at December 31, 2003. See Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 
below. 
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  

     The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements 
that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a 
result of certain factors, including those set forth elsewhere in this Report and the risks discussed in our other SEC filings. The following 
discussion should be read in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto included in this Report.  

     Although we refer in this Report to companies in which we have acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership interest as our “partner 
companies” and indicate that we have a “partnership” with these companies, we do not act as an agent or legal representative for any of our 
partner companies, we do not have the power or authority to legally bind any of our partner companies, and we do not have the types of 
liabilities in relation to our partner companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  

     Because we own significant interests in information technology and e-commerce companies, many of which have generated net losses, we 
have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, significant volatility in our quarterly results. While many of our partner companies have 
consistently reported losses, we have recorded net income in certain periods and experienced significant volatility from period-to-period due to 
one-time or infrequently occurring transactions and other events relating to our ownership interests in partner companies. These transactions and 
events are described in more detail in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and include dispositions of, and changes to, our partner 
company ownership interests, dispositions of our holdings of available-for-sale securities and debt extinguishments.  

Introduction  

     The Consolidated Financial Statements include the consolidated accounts of Internet Capital Group, Inc., a company incorporated in 
Delaware, and its subsidiaries, both wholly owned and consolidated (Internet Capital Group, Inc. and all such subsidiaries, hereafter “we,” 
“ICG,” the “Company” or “Internet Capital Group”) and have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in 
the United States of America (“GAAP”).  

     Internet Capital Group is an information technology company actively engaged in delivering software solutions and services that are designed 
to enhance business operations by increasing efficiency, reducing costs and improving sales results. We operate through a network of partner 
companies that deliver those solutions to customers. The various interests that we acquire in our partner companies are accounted for under one 
of three accounting methods: consolidation, equity method or cost method. The applicable accounting method is generally determined based on 
our voting interest in a partner company. Generally, if we own more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of a partner company, and for 
which other shareholders do not possess the right to affect significant management decisions, a partner company’s accounts are reflected within 
our consolidated financial statements. Generally, if we own between 20% and 50% of the outstanding voting securities, a partner company’s 
accounts are not reflected within our consolidated financial statements; however, our share of the earnings or losses of the partner company is 
reflected in the caption “Equity loss” in our consolidated statements of operations. Partner companies not accounted for under either the 
consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for under the cost method of accounting. Under this method, our share of the 
earnings or losses of these companies is not included in our consolidated statements of operations.  

     Information for all periods presented below reflects the grouping of ICG partner companies into two segments, consisting of the Core 
segment and the Emerging segment. The Core operating segment includes those partner companies in which the Company’s management takes a 
very active role in providing strategic direction and management assistance (“Core”). The Emerging operating segment includes investments in 
companies that are, in general, managed to provide the greatest near-term stockholder value (“Emerging”). During fiscal 2003, one of our 
consolidated Core partner companies, OneCoast Network Holdings, Inc. (“OneCoast”) disposed of substantially all of its assets. During fiscal 
2002, two of our consolidated Core partner companies, Delphion, Inc. (“Delphion”) and Logistics.com, Inc. (“Logistics.com”) disposed of 
substantially all of their assets. The historical results of Delphion, Logistics.com and OneCoast are presented as “Discontinued Operations”, in 
addition to any gain (loss) realized on the transactions. Additionally, during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, eighteen of our Emerging partner 
companies ceased operations. The partner companies included within the segments as of December 31, 2004 for presentation purposes, are 
consistently the same 26 partner companies for the 2004, 2003 and 2002 periods.  
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     Loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 totaled $138.3 million and included net charges totaling 
$106.7 million consisting of the following: (i) charges in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.84, 
“Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt,” of $133.2 million relating to our 2004 convertible debt for equity exchanges and other retirements, 
(ii) gains on the disposition of partner companies and marketable securities of $28.8 million, (iii) charges for the impairment of partner 
companies/marketable securities of $4.1 million, (iv) gains on partner company warrants/other of $2.6 million and (v) restructuring charges of 
$0.8 million.  

     Loss from continuing operations for 2003 totaled $124.7 million and included net charges totaling $58.3 million consisting of the following: 
(i) charges in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 84, “Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt,” net 
of $59.3 million relating to our 2003 convertible debt for equity exchanges and other retirements, (ii) charges for the impairment of partner 
companies of $5.8 million, (iii) gains on the disposition of partner companies/other of $4.1 million and (iv) net restructuring credits/other of 
$2.7 million.  

     Loss from continuing operations for 2002 totaled $86.9 million and included net benefits totaling $53.0 million consisting of the following: 
(i) gains on the retirement of debt of $111.4 million, (ii) charges for the impairment of partner companies of $43.5 million, (iii) losses on the 
disposition of partner companies/other of $4.9 million and (iv) restructuring charges of $10.0 million.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

     The following table summarizes certain balance sheet information for the parent company, Internet Capital Group:  

     In the period from January through March 2004, we repurchased and extinguished $134.8 million of convertible subordinated notes by 
issuing 15.9 million shares of our common stock. In April 2004, we issued $60.0 million of senior convertible notes due in April 2009. We used 
the net proceeds to redeem the then outstanding balance of $39.1 million of convertible subordinated notes due December 2004. The residual 
will be used for general operations requirements and fundings to existing partner companies as well as potential new partner companies.  

     We believe existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and proceeds from the potential sales of all or a portion of our interests 
in certain marketable securities and partner companies to be sufficient to fund our cash requirements for the foreseeable future, including future 
commitments to existing partner companies, debt obligations and general operations requirements.  

     At December 31, 2004, as well as the date of this filing, we were not obligated for any significant funding and guarantee commitments to 
existing partner companies. If ICG Commerce achieves a fair market value in excess of $1.0 billion, we will be obligated to pay, in cash or stock 
at our option, 4% of ICG Commerce’s fair market value in excess of $1.0 billion, up to $70 million, to a venture capital firm. The Company and 
one of its executive officers were limited partners of this venture capital firm. The Company retains a contingent economic interest in such firm 
but the executive officer retains no such interest. A member of our Board of Directors also has an interest in this venture capital firm. The 
Company’s contingent obligation will expire on the earlier to occur of May 31, 2005 or an unaffiliated company sale, if the valuation milestone 
is not achieved. Currently, the fair market value of ICG Commerce is well below $1.0 billion.  

     We will continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities and may acquire additional ownership interests in new and existing partner companies 
in the next twelve months; however, such acquisitions will generally be made at our discretion. If we elect to make additional acquisitions, it 
may become necessary for us to monetize certain assets and/or raise additional funds. We may not be able to monetize certain assets or raise 
additional capital and failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of 
equity securities, our existing stockholders may experience significant dilution.  

14  

                  
    December 31, 2004     December 31, 2003   
    (in thousands)   
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments    $ 67,285     $ 49,771   
Marketable securities    $ 54,082     $ 6,714   
Senior convertible notes due April 2009    $ (60,000 )   $ —  
Convertible subordinated notes due December 2004    $ —    $ (173,919 ) 
                   
Shares of common stock outstanding      38,388       21,839   
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     The following table summarizes our and our consolidated subsidiaries’ cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term investments:  

Summary of Liquidity  

Consolidated working capital improved by $201.3 million from December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2004 primarily due to (1) the repurchase 
and extinguishment of $173.9 million of convertible subordinated notes due December 2004 through the issuance of 15.9 million shares of our 
common stock and payment of $39.5 million in cash and (2) the issuance of $60.0 million of senior convertible notes due April 2009.  

Summary of Statements of Cash Flows  

     Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $26.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to $38.6 million 
during the comparable 2003 period. The decrease in cash used in operating activities is primarily the result of the decreased losses at our 
consolidated partner companies.  

     Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $34.2 million versus net cash provided by investing activities 
of $6.6 million during the comparable 2003 period. The decrease in cash provided by investing activities is primarily due to net purchases of 
short-term investments of $57.9 million in 2004 offset by increased proceeds from sales of partner company ownership interests in 2004 versus 
2003.  

     Net cash provided by financing activities was $14.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 versus net cash used in financing activities 
of $6.8 million during the comparable 2003 period. The increase in cash provided by financing activities is principally the result of the issuance 
of $60.0 million senior convertible notes offset by $39.5 million used to redeem the remaining balance of convertible subordinated notes due in 
2004 and $6.2 million of repayments of long-term debt versus $5.5 million being used to repurchase $12.0 million of principal amount of our 
convertible subordinated notes in 2003.  

     We and our consolidated subsidiaries are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not 
expect the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will materially affect our financial position or cash flows.  
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    December 31, 2004     December 31, 2003   
    ICG Parent                     ICG Parent               
    Company     Consolidated             Company     Consolidated         
    Level     Subsidiaries     Total     Level     Subsidiaries     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 9,345     $ 22,241     $ 31,586     $ 49,771     $ 27,810     $ 77,581   
Restricted cash (1)      —      999       999       850       969       1,819   
Short-term investments      57,940       —      57,940       —      9       9   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total    $ 67,285     $ 23,240     $ 90,525     $ 50,621     $ 28,788     $ 79,409   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

(1)   Restricted cash at December 31, 2003 does not include $893 of long-term restricted cash included in “Other” assets on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets. 

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Cash used in operating activities    $ (26,044 )   $ (38,631 )   $ (80,725 ) 
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    $ (34,243 )   $ 6,599     $ 12,430   
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    $ 14,566     $ (6,802 )   $ (49,148 ) 
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Contractual Cash Obligations and Commercial Commitments  

     The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2004:  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

     We are not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material future effect on our financial 
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.  

Our Partner Companies  

     As of December 31, 2004, we owned interests in 26 partner companies that are categorized below based on segment and method of 
accounting.  
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    Payments due by period   
            Less                     
            than 1     1-3     3-5     More than   
    Total     Year     Years     Years     5 years   
    (in thousands)   
Senior convertible notes    $ 60,000     $ —    $ —    $ 60,000     $ —  
Operating leases      13,019       5,449       4,150       1,550       1,870   
Other borrowings      48       37       11       —      —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 73,067     $ 5,486     $ 4,161     $ 61,550     $ 1,870   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

          
CORE PARTNER COMPANIES (%Voting Interest) 

Consolidated   Equity   Cost 

CommerceQuest (87%)    CreditTrade (30%)   Blackboard (1) 

ICG Commerce (76%)    eCredit (32%)   Universal Access (2) 

  Freeborders (48%)   Verticalnet (3) 

  GoIndustry (54%)     
  Investor Force (38%)     
  LinkShare (40%)     
  Marketron (38%)     
  StarCite (37%)     

(1)   As of December 31, 2004, we owned 2,923,777 shares of Blackboard (see Note 5 “Marketable Securities” to Consolidated Financial 
Statements.) 

  
(2)   As of December 31, 2004, we owned 1,083,206 shares of Universal Access (see Note 5 “Marketable Securities” to Consolidated Financial 

Statements.) 
  
(3)   As of December 31, 2004, we owned 2,917,794 shares of Verticalnet (see Note 5 “Marketable Securities” to Consolidated Financial 

Statements.) 
          

EMERGING PARTNER COMPANIES (%Voting Interest) 
Consolidated   Equity   Cost 

  Agribuys (20%)   Anthem (9%) 
  ComputerJobs.com (46%)   Arbinet (4) 

  Co-nect (36%)   Axxis (9%) 
      Captive Capital (5%) 
      ClearCommerce (11%) 
      Emptoris (7%) 
      Entegrity Solutions (2%) 
      Jamcracker (2%) 
      Mobility Technologies (3%) 
      Tibersoft (5%) 

(4)   As of December 31, 2004, we owned 231,128 shares of Arbinet (see Note 5 “Marketable Securities” to Consolidated Financial 
Statements.) 
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Results of Operations  

     The following summarizes the unaudited selected financial information related to our segments. Each segment includes the results of our 
consolidated partner companies and records our share of the earnings and losses of partner companies accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting. The partner companies included within the segments are consistently the same 26 partner companies for 2004, 2003 and 2002. The 
method of accounting for any particular partner company may change based on our ownership interest.  

     Discontinued operations and dispositions are those partner companies that have been sold or ceased operations and are no longer included in a 
segment for all periods presented. Corporate expenses represent our general and administrative expenses of supporting the partner companies 
and operating as a public company. The measure of segment net loss reviewed by us does not include items such as impairment related charges, 
income taxes and accounting changes, which are reflected in other reconciling items in the information that follows.  
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Segment Information 

(in thousands) 
                            Reconciling Items           
                            Discontinued                         
                    Total     Operations and                     Consolidated   
    Core     Emerging     Segment     Dispositions     Corporate     Other     Results   
For The Year Ended December 31, 2004                                                          
Revenues    $ 52,400     $ —    $ 52,400     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 52,400   
Net Income (loss)    $ (13,154 )   $ (133 )   $ (13,287 )   $ 1,888     $ (18,116 )   $ (105,802 )   $ (135,317 ) 
For The Year Ended December 31, 2003                                                          
Revenues    $ 69,818     $ 202     $ 70,020     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 70,020   
Net income (loss)    $ (32,235 )   $ (1,374 )   $ (33,609 )   $ (16,032 )   $ (25,964 )   $ (60,279 )   $ (135,884 ) 
For The Year Ended December 31, 2002                                                          
Revenues    $ 78,997     $ 507     $ 79,504     $ —    $ —    $ (14 )   $ 79,490   
Net income (loss)    $ (82,724 )   $ (14,518 )   $ (97,242 )   $ (29,388 )   $ (55,026 )   $ 79,437     $ (102,219 ) 
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 vs. 2003 vs. 2002  

Results of Operations — Core Companies  

     The following presentation of our Results of Operations – Core Companies includes the results of our consolidated Core partner companies 
and our share of the results of our equity method Core partner companies.  

Revenue  

     Revenue decreased $17.4 million from $69.8 million in 2003 to $52.4 million in 2004. During 2003, a customer of ICG Commerce notified 
ICG Commerce of its intent to exercise its right to terminate its arrangement to purchase services from ICG Commerce effective January 1, 
2004. Revenue from this customer totaled $12.0 million in 2003. The deconsolidation in 2003 of two Core companies, eCredit and Freeborders 
reduced revenue $3.8 million versus 2003. The residual decrease is primarily due to lower revenue at ICG Commerce’s European subsidiary due 
to the competitive environment for outsourcing services.  

     Revenue decreased $9.2 million from $79.0 million in 2002 to $69.8 million in 2003. As a result of a challenging market for enterprise 
software sales in 2003, CommerceQuest’s revenue declined $6.6 million in 2003 versus 2002. The deconsolidation in 2003 of two Core 
companies, eCredit and Freeborders reduced 2003 revenue $4.3 million versus 2002. These decreases were partially offset by an increase of 
$1.7 million at ICG Commerce.  

Operating Expenses  

     Operating Expenses decreased $34.5 million from $95.9 million in 2003 to $61.4 million in 2004. Due to the loss of a significant customer at 
ICG Commerce and further focus at both ICG Commerce and CommerceQuest at containing operating expenses, ICG Commerce and 
CommerceQuest reduced operating expenses $26.9 million for 2004 versus 2003. The deconsolidation in 2003 of two Core companies, eCredit 
and Freeborders reduced operating expenses $7.6 million versus 2003.  

     Operating expenses decreased $39.9 million from $135.8 million in 2002 to $95.9 million in 2003. As a result of a challenging market for 
enterprise software sales in 2003 and the subsequent reduction in revenues, CommerceQuest reduced operating expenses $5.9 million in 2003 as 
compared to 2002. The deconsolidation in 2003 of two Core Companies, eCredit and Freeborders reduced operating expenses $13.7 million. The 
residual $20.3 million decrease is the result of ICG Commerce significantly reducing operating expenses.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
Selected data:   2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 52,400     $ 69,818     $ 78,997   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cost of revenue      (27,986 )     (40,847 )     (51,552 ) 
Selling, general and administrative      (20,620 )     (29,827 )     (40,297 ) 
Research and development      (9,722 )     (14,840 )     (24,100 ) 
Amortization of intangibles      (2,711 )     (7,955 )     (10,115 ) 
Impairment related and other      (334 )     (2,414 )     (9,777 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Operating expenses      (61,373 )     (95,883 )     (135,841 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Interest and other      467       1,004       (1,506 ) 
Equity loss      (4,648 )     (7,174 )     (24,374 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (13,154 )   $ (32,235 )   $ (82,724 ) 
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Equity Loss  

     The following table reconciles the components of equity loss for segment reporting purposes to equity loss for consolidated financial 
statement reporting:  

     The total revenue of our eight private Core equity method partner companies improved from $125.2 million in 2002 to $142.4 million in 2003 
to $167.5 million in 2004. The improvements are primarily the result of increased revenue at our partner companies involved with affiliate 
marketing and credit derivatives offset by reduced revenue at our partner companies selling software relating to enterprise applications.  

     The total net losses of our eight private Core equity method partner companies in the aggregate improved from $30.5 million in 2002 to 
$24.8 million in 2003 to $16.7 million in 2004. The improvements are primarily the result of increased revenues as discussed in the previous 
paragraph offset by increased spending to extend products, services and sales and goodwill impairment charges of approximately $5.8 million at 
one of our partner companies in 2003. Our share of the net losses of these partner companies increased in 2004 primarily as a result of net 
increased losses/reduced net income at our partner companies and net increased equity losses as a result of 2004 fundings to our partner 
companies where our carrying value in 2003 was zero. Our share of the net losses improved in 2003 primarily as a result of the improved net 
losses compared to 2002. Our share of the net losses in 2003 was also impacted by changes in the methods of accounting for these partner 
companies.  

     Additionally, as of December 31, 2004, two of these eight Core equity method partner companies have carrying values that have been 
reduced to zero. We may not record our share of these partner companies’ losses in 2005 until such time as we make an additional funding to 
these partner companies, our share of income equals the unrecorded losses or the partner companies’ equity transactions result in an adjustment 
of our investment. Our share of the net losses of those companies whose carrying value is zero at December 31, 2004 totaled $1.2 million in 
2004.  

     Our share of the net losses in 2004 improved as Universal Access and Verticalnet’s ownership levels fell below 20% during the third quarter 
of 2003; resulting in these partner companies to no longer be accounted for under the equity method for all of 2004. Our share of the net losses in 
2003 improved over 2002 as Universal Access and Verticalnet’s net losses improved given their restructuring of operations in 2002.  
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    2004     2003     2002   
Share of loss – Private Companies    $ (4,648 )   $ (4,073 )   $ (7,528 ) 
Share of loss – Public Companies      —      (3,101 )     (16,846 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Segment subtotal    $ (4,648 )   $ (7,174 )   $ (24,374 ) 
Impairment charges – see subsection below      —      —      (7,000 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (4,648 )   $ (7,174 )   $ (31,374 ) 
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Results of Operations – Emerging Companies  

     The following presentation of our Results of Operations – Emerging Companies includes the results of our consolidated Emerging partner 
companies and our share of the results of our equity method Emerging partner companies.  

     The period over period decreases in revenue and operating expenses is primarily a result of deconsolidating Captive Capital during the second 
quarter of 2003. Equity loss decreased period over period primarily as a result of our carrying value in the partner companies being reduced to 
zero and changes in the methods of accounting for these partner companies. During 2002, we recorded impairment charges totaling $13.0 million 
related to these partner companies.  

Discontinued Operations and Dispositions  

     The following is a summary of the components included in “Discontinued Operations and Dispositions”, a reconciling item for segment 
reporting purposes:  

     In 2003 and 2002, three of our Core consolidated partner companies sold substantially all of their assets (see Note 9 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements). In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) SFAS No. 144, these partner companies have 
been treated as discontinued operations. Accordingly, the operating results of these three discontinued operations have been presented separately 
from continuing operations and include the gains or losses recognized on disposition.  

     The impact to our consolidated results of equity method partner companies we have disposed of our ownership interest in or have ceased 
operations during 2004, 2003 and 2002 is also included in the caption “Dispositions” for segment reporting purposes.  

     The following table reconciles the components of equity loss for equity method partner companies we disposed of to equity loss for 
consolidated financial reporting:  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
Selected data:   2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ —    $ 202     $ 507   
Operating expenses      —      (445 )     (1,834 ) 
Interest and other      —      —      9   
Equity loss      (133 )     (1,131 )     (13,200 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (133 )   $ (1,374 )   $ (14,518 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Net gain (loss) attributable to Discontinued Operations    $ 3,000     $ (11,228 )   $ (15,346 ) 
Net loss attributable to equity method companies disposed of      (1,112 )     (4,804 )     (14,042 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ 1,888     $ (16,032 )   $ (29,388 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Share of loss    $ (1,112 )   $ (4,804 )   $ (14,042 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Segment subtotal      (1,112 )     (4,804 )     (14,042 ) 
Impairments – see subsection below      —      (1,381 )     (9,492 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (1,112 )   $ (6,185 )   $ (23,534 ) 
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Corporate  

General and Administrative  

     Our general and administrative expenses decreased $2.4 million from 2003 to 2004 and $18.3 million from 2002 to 2003 primarily due to 
reduction in stock-based compensation from $15.3 million in 2002 to $2.3 million in 2003 to $1.4 million in 2004 as a result of more restricted 
stock vesting in 2002, as well as changes recorded relating to certain modifications of certain stockholder loans. The residual decrease is the 
result of our continued restructuring of our operations. (See “Restructuring” below).  

Restructuring (Impairment Related and Other)  

     During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we restructured our operations to better align our general and administrative expenses with the reduction in the 
number of our partner companies. The restructuring resulted in charges of $0.5 million, a credit of $5.1 million and charges of $1.5 million for 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The credit in 2003 is primarily due to our settlement of a lease obligation for $7.0 million less than we had 
estimated.  

Interest Income/Expense  

     The decrease in interest expense, net is primarily attributable to the reduction in convertible notes outstanding at December 31, 2004 versus 
2003 versus 2002.  

Other  

Impairment Charges  

     We continually evaluate the carrying values of our partner companies. Additionally, we operate in an industry that is rapidly evolving, 
extremely competitive and where many businesses have experienced difficulty in raising additional capital necessary to fund operating losses. 
Based on our periodic review of our partner company carrying values, impairment charges of $1.3 million, $5.8 million and $43.5 million were 
recorded in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. (See Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements).  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
General and administrative    $ (14,045 )   $ (16,443 )   $ (34,680 ) 
Impairment related and other      (476 )     5,094       (1,499 ) 
Interest expense, net      (3,595 )     (14,615 )     (18,847 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (18,116 )   $ (25,964 )   $ (55,026 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Other income (loss) (Note 18)    $ (105,438 )   $ (56,792 )   $ 107,668   
Impairments (Note 4)      (1,267 )     (5,813 )     (43,490 ) 
Taxes      —      —      (179 ) 
Minority interest      903       2,326       15,438   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ (105,802 )   $ (60,279 )   $ 79,437   
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Other Income (Loss), Net  

     Other income (Loss), net was a loss of $105.4 million in 2004 versus a loss of $56.8 million in 2003 versus income of $107.7 million in 2002. 
The increase in losses from 2004 versus 2003 is primarily attributable to the 2004 loss of $133.1 million on our debt-for-equity exchanges offset 
by sales of ownership interests in partner companies of $28.8 million versus the 2003 loss of $59.3 million on our debt-for-equity exchanges, 
net. The decrease from 2003 versus 2002 is primarily due to the 2003 loss of $59.3 million on our debt-for-equity exchanges, net versus a gain in 
2002 of $111.4 million on our cash debt repurchases.  

Income Taxes  

     Our net deferred tax asset of $628 million at December 31, 2004 consists of deferred tax assets of $646 million, relating primarily to partner 
company basis differences, capital and net operating loss carry forwards, offset by deferred tax liabilities of $18 million primarily related to 
unrealized appreciation in available for sale securities. During 2001, we recorded a full valuation allowance against our net assets that was 
maintained during 2002, 2003 and 2004 (See Note 14 to our Consolidated Financial Statements).  

Critical Accounting Policies  

     Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us 
to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to our investments in our partner 
companies, marketable securities, revenues, income taxes and commitments and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience 
and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or 
conditions.  

     We believe the following critical accounting policies are important to the presentation of our financial statements and require the most 
difficult, subjective and complex judgments.  

Valuation of Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Ownership Interests in Partner Companies  

     We perform on-going business reviews and perform annual goodwill impairment tests in accordance with SFAS No. 142 and other 
impairments tests in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 18 “Equity Method Investments” and SFAS No. 144 and, based 
on quantitative and qualitative measures, assess the need to record impairment losses on goodwill, intangible assets and our ownership interests 
in our partner companies when impairment indicators are present. Where impairment indicators are present, we determine the amount of the 
impairment charge as the excess of the carrying value over the fair value. We determine fair value based on a combination of the discounted cash 
flow methodology, which is based upon converting expected future cash flows to present value, and the market approach, which includes 
analysis of market price multiples of companies engaged in lines of business similar to the company being evaluated. The market price multiples 
are selected and applied to the company based on relative performance, future prospects and risk profile of the company in comparison to the 
guideline companies. Significant assumptions relating to future operating results must be made when estimating the future cash flows associated 
with these companies. Significant assumptions relating to achievement of business plan objectives and milestones must be made when evaluating 
whether impairment indicators are present. Should unforeseen events occur or should operating trends change significantly, additional 
impairment losses could occur.  

Revenue  

     ICG Commerce may assume all or a part of a customer’s procurement function as part of sourcing arrangements. Typically, in these 
engagements, ICG Commerce is paid a fee based on a percentage of the amount spent by our customer’s purchasing department in the specified 
areas ICG Commerce manages, a fixed fee agreed upon in advance, and in many cases ICG Commerce has the opportunity to earn additional 
fees based on the level of savings achieved for customers. ICG Commerce recognizes fee income as earned and any additional fees as ICG 
Commerce becomes entitled to them. In these arrangements, ICG Commerce does  
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not assume inventory, warranty or credit risk for the goods or services a customer purchases, but ICG Commerce does negotiate the 
arrangements between a customer and supplier.  

     CommerceQuest recognizes license revenue when a signed contract or purchase order exists, the software has been shipped or electronically 
delivered, the license fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is probable. CommerceQuest sells their software 
direct to end users, as well as through resellers. When contracts contain multiple elements wherein vendor specific objective evidence exists for 
all undelivered elements, CommerceQuest accounts for the delivered elements in accordance with the “Residual Method” prescribed by 
Statements of Position No. 98-9 “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions.”  

     CommerceQuest assesses whether the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is probable at the time of the transaction. In determining 
whether the fee is fixed or determinable, CommerceQuest compares the payment terms of the transaction to our normal payment terms. If a 
significant portion of a fee is due after our normal payment terms, CommerceQuest accounts for the fee as not being fixed or determinable and 
recognizes revenue as the fees become due. CommerceQuest assesses whether collection is probable based on a number of factors, including the 
customer’s past transaction history and credit-worthiness. CommerceQuest does not request collateral from our customers. If CommerceQuest 
determines that collection of a fee is not probable, CommerceQuest defers the fee and recognizes revenue at the time collection becomes 
probable, which is generally upon receipt of cash.  

     First-year maintenance typically is sold with the related software license and renewed on an annual basis thereafter. For such arrangements 
with multiple obligations, CommerceQuest allocates revenue to each component of the arrangement based on the fair value of the undelivered 
elements. Fair values of ongoing maintenance and support obligations are based on separate sales of renewals to other customers or upon 
renewal rates quoted in the contracts. Maintenance revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance and support 
period. Fair value of services, such as consulting or training, is based upon separate sales of these services. Consulting and training services are 
generally billed based on hourly rates and revenues are generally recognized as the services are performed. Consulting services primarily consist 
of implementation services related to the installation of our products and generally do not include significant customization to or development of 
the underlying software code.  

Deferred Income Taxes  

     We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. We consider future 
taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in determining the need for a valuation allowance. In the event that we determine 
that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets is charged to earnings in the 
period such determination is made. Likewise, if we later determine that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets would be 
realized, then the previously provided valuation allowance would be reversed.  

Commitments and Contingencies  

     From time to time, we are a defendant or plaintiff in various legal actions that arise in the normal course of business. From time to time, we 
are also a guarantor of various third-party obligations and commitments. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or 
outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required for these 
contingencies, if any, which would be charged to earnings, is made after careful analysis of each individual matter. The required reserves may 
change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in circumstances, such as a change in settlement strategy. Changes in 
required reserves could increase or decrease our earnings in the period the changes are made.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

     In December 2004, the Financial Account Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS 123-R, “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123-R revises 
SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” 
and its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123-R will require compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions to be 
recognized in the financial statements (with limited exceptions). The amount of compensation cost will be measured based on the grant-date fair 
value of the equity or liability instruments issued. Compensation cost will be recognized over the period that an employee provides service in 
exchange for the award. This statement is effective as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 
2005. We estimate that the effect on net income  
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and earnings per share in the periods following adoption of SFAS 123-R will be consistent with our proforma disclosure under SFAS No. 123, 
except that estimated forfeitures will be considered in the calculation of compensation expense under SFAS No. 123-R. However, the actual 
effect on net income and earnings per share will vary depending upon the number of grants of equity in 2005 compared to prior years. Further, 
we have not yet determined the actual model we will use to calculate fair value.  

     SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity”, was issued in May 2003. 
SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for the classification and measurement of certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities 
and equity. SFAS No. 150 also includes required disclosures for financial instruments within its scope. For us, SFAS No. 150 was effective for 
instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and otherwise at July 1, 2003, except for mandatorily redeemable financial instruments. 
For certain mandatorily redeemable financial instruments, SFAS No. 150 became effective for us on January 1, 2005. The effective date has 
been deferred indefinitely for certain other types of mandatorily redeemable financial instruments. We currently do not have any financial 
instruments that are within the scope of SFAS No. 150.  

Risk Factors  

     Forward-looking statements made with respect to our financial condition and results of operations and business in this Report and those made 
from time to time by us through our senior management are made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and projections about future events but are subject 
to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and our partner companies that may cause our actual results, levels of 
activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  

     Factors that could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those anticipated in 
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, factors discussed elsewhere in this Report and include among other things:  

     In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” 
“plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions. All forward-looking statements 
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in this Report. We 
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this Report might not occur.  

     Our business involves a number of risks, some of which are beyond our control. You should carefully consider each of the risks and 
uncertainties we describe below and all of the other information in this Report before deciding to invest in our shares. The risks and uncertainties 
we describe below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we do not currently know or that we currently believe to 
be immaterial may also adversely affect our business.  

Risks Particular to Internet Capital Group  

If general economic conditions are unfavorable our partner companies may be unable to attract or retain customers and our ability to grow 
our business may be adversely effected.  

     Numerous external forces, including fear of terrorism, hostilities in the Middle East involving United States armed forces, lack of consumer 
confidence and interest rate or currency rate fluctuations, could affect the economy. If the economy is  
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•   development of the e-commerce and information technology markets; 
  
•   capital spending by enterprises and customers; 
  
•   our partner companies’  ability to compete successfully against competitors; 
  
•   our ability to maximize value in connection with divestitures; 
  
•   our ability to retain key personnel; 
  
•   our ability to effectively manage existing capital resources; 
  
•   our ability and our partner companies’  ability to access the capital markets; and 
  
•   our outstanding indebtedness. 
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unfavorable, our partner companies’ customers and potential customers may be unwilling to spend money on technology-related goods or 
services. If our partner companies are unable to attract new customers or retain existing customers, our ability to grow our business will be 
adversely affected.  

Our stock price has been volatile in the past and may continue to be volatile in the future.  

     Our stock price has historically been volatile. Stock prices of technology companies have generally been volatile as well. This volatility may 
continue in the future.  

     The following factors, among others, may add to our common stock price’s volatility:  

     Many of these factors are beyond our control. These factors may decrease the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating 
performance.  

Fluctuations in our quarterly results may adversely affect our stock price.  

     We expect that our quarterly results will fluctuate significantly due to many factors, including:  

  •   general economic conditions, such as a recession or interest rate or currency rate fluctuations, and the reluctance of enterprises to 
increase spending on new technologies; 

  
  •   actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly results and those of our partner companies; 
  
  •   changes in the market valuations of our partner companies and other technology and internet companies; 
  
  •   conditions or trends in the information technology and e-commerce industries; 
  
  •   negative public perception of the prospects of information technology companies; 
  
  •   changes in our financial estimates and those of our partner companies by securities analysts; 
  
  •   new products or services offered by us, our partner companies and their competitors; 
  
  •   announcements by our partner companies and their competitors of technological innovations; 
  
  •   announcements by us or our partner companies or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint 

ventures; 
  
  •   additional sales of our securities; 
  
  •   additions to or departures of our key personnel or key personnel of our partner companies; and 
  
  •   our debt obligations. 

  •   the operating results of our partner companies; 
  
  •   significant fluctuations in the financial results of information technology and e-commerce companies generally; 
  
  •   changes in equity losses or income; 
  
  •   the acquisition or divestiture of interests in partner companies; 
  
  •   changes in our methods of accounting for our partner company interests, which may result from changes in our ownership 

percentages of our partner companies; 
  
  •   sales of equity securities by our partner companies, which could cause us to recognize gains or losses under applicable accounting 

rules; 
  
  •   the pace of development or a decline in growth of the information technology and e-commerce markets; 
  
  •   competition for the goods and services offered by our partner companies; and 
  
  •   our ability to effectively manage our growth and the growth of our partner companies. 



     If our operating results in one or more quarters do not meet securities analysts’ or investors’ expectations, the price of our common stock 
could decrease.  
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A large number of shares of our common stock could be sold in the public market in connection with the exercise of our senior convertible 
debt, and future sales of our common stock, or the perception that such future sales may occur, may cause our stock price to decline.  

     A large number of shares of our common stock could be sold into the public market if the holders of our senior convertible notes due 
April 2009 elect to convert such notes. The notes are convertible at the option of the holder at any time on or before maturity into shares of our 
common stock at a conversion price of $9.108 per share. The sale of a large number of shares of our common stock, or the perception that such 
sales could occur, could materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to obtain capital 
through an offering of equity securities.  

Fluctuation in the price of the common stock of our publicly-traded partner companies may affect the price of our common stock.  

     Arbinet, Blackboard, Verticalnet and Universal Access are our publicly-traded partner companies. Fluctuations in the price of Arbinet’s, 
Blackboard’s, Verticalnet’s and Universal Access’s and other future publicly-traded partner companies’ common stock are likely to affect the 
price of our common stock. The price of our publicly-traded partner companies common stock has been highly volatile. As of December 31, 
2004, the market value of the Company’s interest in these publicly-traded partner companies was $54.1 million.  

     The results of operations, and accordingly the price of the common stock, of each of Blackboard, Arbinet, Verticalnet and Universal Access 
may be adversely affected by the risk factors in its SEC filings, which are publicly available at www.sec.gov.  

Our business depends upon the performance of our partner companies, which is uncertain.  

     If our partner companies do not succeed, the value of our assets and the price of our common stock may decline. Economic, governmental, 
industry and company factors outside our control affect each of our partner companies. The material risks relating to our partner companies 
include:  

     Of our $277.6 million in total assets as of December 31, 2004, $49.8 million, or 17.9%, consisted of ownership interests in our private partner 
companies accounted for under the equity and cost methods of accounting. The carrying value of our partner company ownership interests 
includes our original acquisition cost, the effect of accounting for certain of our partner companies under the equity method of accounting, the 
effect of adjustments to our carrying value resulting from certain issuances of equity securities by our partner companies, and the effect of 
impairment charges recorded for the decrease in value of certain partner companies. The carrying value of our partner companies will be 
impaired and decrease if one or more of our partner companies do not succeed. This decline would likely affect the price of our common stock. 
As of December 31, 2004, the value of our publicly-traded partner companies (Blackboard, Arbinet, Verticalnet and Universal Access) was 
$54.1 million and reflected as “Marketable Securities” in our financial statements. A decline in the market value of our publicly-traded partner 
companies will likely cause a decline in the price of our common stock.  
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  •   fluctuations in the market price of the common stock of Blackboard, Arbinet, Verticalnet and Universal Access, our publicly-
traded partner companies, which are likely to affect the price of our common stock; 

  
  •   many of our partner companies have limited operating histories, have not yet attained significant revenues and are operating at or 

near break-even and may not achieve profitability in the future; 
  
  •   lack of the widespread commercial use of the internet, decreased spending on information technology software and services and 

elongated sales cycles which may prevent our partner companies from succeeding; 
  
  •   intensifying competition for the products and services our partner companies offer, which could lead to the failure of some of our 

partner companies; and 
  
  •   the inability of our partner companies to secure additional financing, which may force some of our partner companies to cease or 

scale back operations. 
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The success of our partner companies depends on the development of the e-commerce market, which is uncertain.  

     Most of our partner companies rely on e-commerce markets for the success of their businesses. If widespread commercial use of the internet 
does not develop, or if the internet does not develop as an effective medium for providing products and services, our partner companies may not 
succeed.  

     A number of factors could prevent widespread market acceptance of e-commerce, including the following:  

The companies that we have identified as Core partner companies may not succeed.  

     We have identified certain partner companies that we believe offer the greatest value proposition as Core partner companies. We cannot 
ensure that the companies we have identified as Core partner companies are those that actually have the greatest value proposition or are those to 
which we will continue to allocate capital. Although we have identified certain of our partner companies as Core partner companies, this 
categorization does not necessarily imply that every one of our Core partner companies is a success at this time or will become successful in the 
future. There is no guarantee that a Core partner company will remain categorized as Core or that it will be able to successfully continue 
operations.  

We have had a history of losses and expect continued losses in the foreseeable future.  

     We have had significant operating losses and, excluding the effect of any future non-operating gains, we expect to continue incurring 
operating losses in the future. As a result, we may not have sufficient resources to expand or maintain our operations in the future. We can give 
no assurances as to when or whether we will achieve profitability, and if we ever have profits, we may not be able to sustain them.  

Certain of our partner companies have a limited operating history and may never be profitable.  

     Certain of our partner companies are early-stage companies with limited operating histories, have significant historical losses and may never 
be profitable. Many of these companies have incurred substantial costs to develop and market their products and expand operations, have 
incurred net losses and cannot fund their cash needs from operations. Operating expenses of these companies could increase in the foreseeable 
future as they continue to develop products, increase sales and marketing efforts and expand operations.  

Even if a number of our partner companies achieve profitability, we may not be able to extract cash from such companies, which could have 
a negative impact on our operations.  

     One of our goals is to help our partner companies achieve profitability. Even if a number of our partner companies do meet such goal, we 
may not be able to access cash generated by such partner companies to fund our own operations, which could have a negative impact on our 
operations.  

Our partner companies may not be able to successfully compete.  

     If our partner companies are unable to compete successfully against their competitors, our partner companies may fail. Competition for 
information technology and e-commerce products and services is intense. As the markets for information technology and e-commerce grow, we 
expect that competition will intensify. Barriers to entry are minimal and competitors can offer products and services at a relatively low cost. Our 
partner companies compete for a share of a customer’s:  
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  •   the unwillingness of businesses to shift from traditional processes to e-commerce processes; 
  
  •   the network necessary for enabling substantial growth in usage of e-commerce may not be adequately developed; 
  
  •   increased government regulation or taxation, which may adversely affect the viability of e-commerce; 
  
  •   insufficient availability of telecommunication services or changes in telecommunication services which could result in slower response 

times for the users of e-commerce; and 
  
  •   concern and adverse publicity about the security of e-commerce transactions. 
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     In addition, some of our partner companies compete to attract and retain a critical mass of buyers and sellers. Many companies offer 
competitive solutions that compete with one or more of our partner companies. We expect that additional companies will offer competing 
solutions on a stand-alone or combined basis in the future. Furthermore, our partner companies’ competitors may develop products or services 
that are superior to, or have greater market acceptance than, the solutions offered by our partner companies.  

     Many of our partner companies’ competitors have greater brand recognition and greater financial, marketing and other resources than our 
partner companies. This may place our partner companies at a disadvantage in responding to their competitors’ pricing strategies, technological 
advances, advertising campaigns, strategic partnerships and other initiatives.  

Our partner companies may fail to retain significant customers.  

     During 2003, a partner company’s customer notified such partner company that it was exercising its right to terminate its arrangement to 
purchase services from such partner company effective January 1, 2004. This customer may compete with this partner company in the future. 
Approximately 17% of our consolidated company revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 related to such customer. If our partner 
companies are not able to retain significant customers, such partner companies’ and our results of operations and financial position could be 
adversely affected.  

The inability of our partner companies’ customers to pay their obligations to them in a timely manner, if at all, could have an adverse affect 
on our partner companies.  

     Some of the customers of our partner companies may have inadequate financial resources to meet all their obligations. If one or more 
significant customers are unable to pay amounts owed to a partner company, such partner company’s results of operations and financial 
condition could be adversely affected  

If public and private capital markets are not favorable for the information technology and e-commerce sectors, we may not be able to execute 
on our strategy.  

     Our success depends on the acceptance by the public and private capital markets of information technology and e-commerce companies in 
general, including initial public offerings of those companies. The information technology and e-commerce markets have experienced significant 
volatility recently and the market for initial public offerings of information technology and e-commerce companies has experienced weakness 
since 2000. If these markets are weak, we may not be able to create stockholder value by taking our partner companies public. In addition, 
reduced market interest in our industry may reduce the market value of our publicly-traded partner companies.  

Our operations and growth could be impaired by limitations on our and our partner companies’ ability to raise money.  

     If the capital markets’ interest in our industry is depressed, our ability and the ability of our partner companies to grow and access the capital 
markets will be impaired. This may require us or our partner companies to take other actions, such as borrowing money on terms that may be 
unfavorable, or divesting of assets prematurely to raise capital. While we attempt to operate our business in such a manner so as to be 
independent from the capital markets, there is no assurance that we will be successful in doing so. Our partner companies are also dependent on 
the capital markets to raise capital for their own purposes.  

Because we have limited resources to dedicate to our partner companies, some of our partner companies may not be able to raise sufficient 
capital to sustain their operations.  

     If our partner companies are not able to raise capital from other outside sources, then they may need to cease operations. Our allocation of 
resources to our partner companies is mostly discretionary. Because our resources and our ability to raise capital are limited, we may not commit 
to provide our partner companies with sufficient capital resources to allow them to reach a cash flow positive position. We allocate our resources 
to focus on those partner companies that we believe present the greatest potential to increase stockholder value. We cannot ensure that the 
companies we identified in this process are those that actually  
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have the greatest value proposition. As a result of our limited resources, we will not allocate capital to all of our existing partner companies. Our 
decision to not provide additional capital support to some of our partner companies could have a material adverse impact on the operations of 
such partner companies.  

When we divest partner company interests, we may be unable to obtain maximum value for such interests.  

     When we divest all or part of an interest in a partner company, we may not receive maximum value for our position. We may divest our 
interests in partner companies to generate cash or for strategic reasons. For partner companies with publicly-traded stock, we may be unable to 
sell our interest at then-quoted market prices. Because we hold significant stakes of restricted securities in thinly-traded public companies, we 
may have difficulty selling our interest in such companies and, if we are able to sell our shares, such sales may be subject to volume limitations. 
Furthermore, for those partner companies that do not have publicly-traded stock, the realizable value of our interests may ultimately prove to be 
lower than the carrying value currently reflected in our consolidated financial statements. We continually evaluate the carrying value of our 
ownership interests in and advances to each of our partner companies for possible impairment based on achievement of business plan objectives 
and milestones, the value of each ownership interest in the partner company relative to carrying value, the financial condition and prospects of 
the partner company and other relevant factors. We cannot guarantee that we will receive maximum value in connection with the disposition of 
our stakes in partner companies. Additionally, we may be unable to find buyers for certain of our assets, which could adversely affect our 
business.  

We may not be able to increase our ownership stakes in select partner companies.  

     One of our goals is to increase our ownership in a small group of companies that we believe have major growth opportunities. We may not be 
able to achieve this goal because of limited resources and/or the unwillingness of other stockholders of such companies to enter into a transaction 
that would result in an increase in our ownership stake.  

We may have to buy, sell or retain assets when we would otherwise choose not to in order to avoid registration under the Investment 
Company Act, which would impact our investment strategy.  

     We believe that we are actively engaged in the businesses of information technology and e-commerce through our network of subsidiaries 
and companies that we are considered to “control.” Under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), 
a company is considered to control another company if it owns more than 25% of that company’s voting securities and is the largest stockholder 
of such company. A company may be required to register as an investment company if more than 45% of its total assets consist of, and more 
than 45% of its income/loss and revenue attributable to it over the last four quarters is derived from, ownership interests in companies that it does 
not control. Because many of our partner companies are not majority-owned subsidiaries, and because we own 25% or less of the voting 
securities of a number of our partner companies, changes in the value of our interests in our partner companies and the income/loss and revenue 
attributable to our partner companies could subject us to regulation under the Investment Company Act unless we take precautionary steps. For 
example, in order to avoid having excessive income from “non-controlled” interests, we may not sell minority interests we would otherwise want 
to sell or we may have to generate non-investment income by selling interests in partner companies that we are considered to control. We may 
also need to ensure that we retain more than 25% ownership interests in our partner companies after any equity offerings. In addition, we may 
have to acquire additional income or loss generating majority-owned or controlled interests that we might not otherwise have acquired or may 
not be able to acquire “non-controlling” interests in companies that we would otherwise want to acquire. It is not feasible for us to be regulated 
as an investment company because the Investment Company Act rules are inconsistent with our strategy of actively managing, operating and 
promoting collaboration among our network of partner companies. On August 23, 1999, the SEC granted our request for an exemption under 
Section 3(b)(2) of the Investment Company Act declaring us to be primarily engaged in a business other than that of investing, reinvesting, 
owning, holding or trading in securities. This exemptive order reduces the risk that we may have to take action to avoid registration as an 
investment company, but it does not eliminate the risk.  

Our accounting estimates with respect to the ultimate recoverability of our basis in our partner companies could change materially in the 
near term.  

     Our accounting estimates with respect to the useful life and ultimate recoverability of our carrying basis, including goodwill, in our partner 
companies could change in the near term and the effect of such changes on the financial statements could be significant. In the first quarter of 
2000, we announced several significant acquisitions that were financed principally with shares  
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of our stock and based on the price of our stock at that time, were valued in excess of $1.0 billion. Based on our periodic review of our partner 
company holdings, we have recorded cumulative impairment charges of $1.3 billion to write off certain partner company holdings. As of 
December 31, 2004, our recorded amount of carrying basis including goodwill was not impaired, although we cannot assure that our future 
results will confirm this assessment. We performed our latest annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of 2004 and we will perform our 
next annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2005. It is possible that a significant write-down or write-off of partner company carrying 
basis, including goodwill, may be required in the future, or that a significant loss will be recorded in the future upon the sale of a partner 
company. A write-down or write-off of this type could cause a decline in the price of our common stock.  

The loss of any of our or our partner companies’ executive officers or other key personnel or our or our partner companies’ inability to 
attract additional key personnel could disrupt our business and operations.  

     If one or more of our executive officers or key personnel, or our partner companies’ executive officers or key personnel were unable or 
unwilling to continue in their present positions, or if we or our partner companies were unable to hire qualified personnel, our business and 
operations could be disrupted and our operating results and financial condition could be seriously harmed. The success of some of our partner 
companies also depends on their having highly trained technical and marketing personnel. A shortage in the number of trained technical and 
marketing personnel could limit the ability of our partner companies to increase sales of their existing products and services and launch new 
product offerings.  

Our partner companies could make business decisions that are not in our best interests or that we do not agree with, which could impair the 
value of our partner company interests.  

     Although we generally seek a significant equity interest and participation in the management of our partner companies, we may not be able to 
control significant business decisions of our partner companies. In addition, although we currently own a controlling interest in several of our 
partner companies, we may not maintain this controlling interest. Equity interests in partner companies in which we lack control or share control 
involve additional risks that could cause the performance of our interest and our operating results to suffer, including the management of a 
partner company having economic or business interests or objectives that are different from ours and partner companies not taking our advice 
with respect to the financial or operating difficulties that they may encounter.  

     Our inability to prevent dilution of our ownership interests in our partner companies or our inability to otherwise have a controlling influence 
over the management and operations of our partner companies could have an adverse impact on our status under the Investment Company Act. 
Our ability to adequately control our partner companies could also prevent us from assisting them, or could prevent us from liquidating our 
interest in them at a time or at a price that is favorable to us. Additionally, our partner companies may not collaborate with each other or act in 
ways that are consistent with our business strategy. These factors could hamper our ability to maximize returns on our interests and cause us to 
recognize losses on our interests in partner companies.  

Our stakes in some partner companies have been and are likely to be diluted, which could materially reduce the value of our stake in such 
partner companies.  

     Since we allocate our financial resources to certain partner companies, our ownership interests in other partner companies have been and are 
likely to continue to be diluted due to our decision not to participate in financings. Additionally, in connection with new rounds of financing, our 
partner companies may create liquidation preferences that are senior to existing preferences. If we do not participate in these rounds, our rights to 
receive preferences upon a sale of the Company may be diminished at certain valuations. This dilution and the creation of senior liquidation 
preferences could result in a reduction in the value of our stakes in such partner companies.  

Our outstanding indebtedness could negatively impact our future prospects.  

     In April 2004, we issued $60.0 million of senior convertible notes due in April 2009. This indebtedness may make it more difficult to obtain 
additional financing and may inhibit our ability to pursue needed or favorable opportunities.  
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We may be unable to maintain our listing on the Nasdaq National Market, which could cause our stock price to fall and decrease the 
liquidity of our common stock.  

     Our common stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq National Market, which has requirements for the continued listing of stock. One of the 
requirements is that our common stock maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share. If our common stock trades below $1.00 per share or 
we fail to meet any of the other requirements of the Nasdaq National Market, our common stock may be delisted from the Nasdaq National 
Market. If our common stock is delisted from the Nasdaq National Market, the trading market for our common stock could decline which could 
depress our stock price and adversely affect the liquidity of our common stock.  

We may compete with some of our partner companies, and our partner companies may compete with each other, which could deter 
companies from partnering with us and may limit future business opportunities.  

     We may compete with our partner companies to acquire interests in information technology and e-commerce companies and our partner 
companies may compete with each other for information technology e-commerce opportunities. This competition may deter companies from 
partnering with us and may limit our business opportunities.  

We have implemented certain anti-takeover provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us.  

     Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party 
to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation provides that our board of directors may 
issue preferred stock without stockholder approval and also provides for a staggered board of directors. We are subject to the provisions of 
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which restricts certain business combinations with interested stockholders. Additionally, 
we have a Rights Agreement which has the effect of discouraging any person or group from beneficially owning more than 15% of our 
outstanding common stock unless our board has amended the plan or redeemed the rights. The combination of these provisions may inhibit a 
non-negotiated merger or other business combination.  

Some of our partner companies may be unable to protect their proprietary rights and may infringe on the proprietary rights of others.  

     The complexity of international trade secret, copyright, trademark and patent law, coupled with the limited resources of our partner 
companies and the demands of quick delivery of products and services to market, create the risk that our partner companies will be unable to 
protect their proprietary rights. Further, the nature of internet business demands that considerable detail about their innovative processes and 
techniques be exposed to competitors, because it must be presented on the websites in order to attract clients. Some of our partner companies 
also license content from third parties, and it is possible that they could become subject to infringement actions based upon the content licensed 
from those third parties. Our partner companies generally obtain representations as to the origin and ownership of such licensed content. 
However, these representations may not adequately protect them. Any claims against our partner companies’ proprietary rights, with or without 
merit, could subject our partner companies to costly litigation and the diversion of their technical and management personnel. If our partner 
companies incur costly litigation and their personnel are not effectively deployed, the expenses and losses incurred by our partner companies will 
increase and their profits, if any, will decrease.  

Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce may harm our partner companies’ businesses.  

     Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce is evolving and unfavorable changes could harm our partner companies’ respective 
businesses. Our partner companies are subject to general business regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and e-commerce. Such 
existing and future laws and regulations may impede the growth of the internet or other online services. These regulations and laws may cover 
taxation, user privacy, pricing content, copyrights, distribution, electronic contracts, consumer protection, the provision of online payment 
services, broadband residential internet access and the characteristics and quality of products and services. It is not clear how existing laws 
governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to the internet and e-commerce. Unfavorable 
resolution of these issues may harm our partner companies’ business.  
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Our partner companies that publish or distribute content over the internet may be subject to legal liability.  

     Some of our partner companies may be subject to legal claims relating to the content on their websites, or the downloading and distribution of 
this content. Claims could involve matters such as defamation, invasion of privacy and copyright infringement. Providers of internet products 
and services have been sued in the past, sometimes successfully, based on the content of material. In addition, some of the content provided by 
our partner companies on their websites is drawn from data compiled by other parties, including governmental and commercial sources. The data 
may have errors. If any of our partner companies’ website content is improperly used or if any of our partner companies supply incorrect 
information, it could result in unexpected liability. Any of our partner companies that incur this type of unexpected liability may not have 
insurance to cover the claim or its insurance may not provide sufficient coverage. If our partner companies incur substantial cost because of this 
type of unexpected liability, the expenses incurred by our partner companies will increase and their profits, if any, will decrease.  

Our partner companies’ computer and communications systems may fail, which may discourage parties from using our partner companies’ 
systems.  

     Some of our partner companies’ businesses depend on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of their computer and communications 
hardware systems. Any system interruptions that cause our partner companies’ websites to be unavailable to web browsers may reduce the 
attractiveness of our partner companies’ websites to third parties. If third parties are unwilling to use our partner companies’ websites, our 
business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected. Interruptions could result from natural disasters as well as power 
loss, telecommunications failure and similar events.  

Our partner companies’ businesses may be disrupted if they are unable to upgrade their systems to meet increased demand.  

     Capacity limits on some of our partner companies’ technology, transaction processing systems and network hardware and software may be 
difficult to project and they may not be able to expand and upgrade their systems to meet increased use. As traffic on our partner companies’ 
websites continues to increase, they must expand and upgrade their technology, transaction processing systems and network hardware and 
software. Our partner companies may be unable to accurately project the rate of increase in use of their websites. In addition, our partner 
companies may not be able to expand and upgrade their systems and network hardware and software capabilities to accommodate increased use 
of their websites. If our partner companies are unable to appropriately upgrade their systems and network hardware and software, the operations 
and processes of our partner companies may be disrupted.  

Our partner companies may be unable to acquire or maintain easily identifiable website addresses or prevent third parties from acquiring 
website addresses similar to theirs.  

     Some of our partner companies hold various website addresses relating to their brands. These partner companies may not be able to prevent 
third parties from acquiring website addresses that are similar to their addresses, which could adversely affect the use by businesses of our 
partner companies’ websites. In these instances, our partner companies may not grow as we expect. The acquisition and maintenance of website 
addresses generally is regulated by governmental agencies and their designees. The regulation of website addresses in the United States and in 
foreign countries is subject to change. As a result, our partner companies may not be able to acquire or maintain relevant website addresses in all 
countries where they conduct business. Furthermore, the relationship between regulations governing such addresses and laws protecting 
trademarks is unclear.  

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  

     We are exposed to equity price risks on the marketable portion of our equity securities. Our public holdings at December 31, 2004 include 
equity positions in companies in the technology industry sector, including Blackboard, Arbinet, Verticalnet and Universal Access, many of 
which have experienced significant historical volatility in their stock prices. A 20% adverse change in equity prices, based on a sensitivity 
analysis of our public holdings as of December 31, 2004, would result in an approximate $10.8 million decrease in the fair value of our public 
holdings.  

     Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost which approximates fair value due to the short-term 
maturity of these instruments. Our interests in public Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting had a fair value of 
$10.1 million as of December 31, 2003, compared to a carrying value of $0.4 million. Short-term investments and marketable securities are 
carried at fair value. Our senior convertible notes had a fair value of approximately $73.3 million at December 31, 2004 versus a carrying value 
of $60.0 million. Our convertible subordinated notes had a fair value of  
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$133.0 million as of December 31, 2003 versus a carrying value of $173.9 million. Fair value of our senior convertible notes and convertible 
subordinated notes is determined by obtaining thinly traded market quotes.  

     We have historically had very low exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and as such, have not used derivative financial 
instruments to manage foreign currency fluctuation risk.  
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  

     The following Consolidated Financial Statements, and the related Notes thereto, of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the Report of Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm are filed as a part of this Report on Form 10-K.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

     We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 
2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), comprehensive loss and cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  

     We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

     In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Internet 
Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

     We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness 
of Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report 
dated March 15, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over 
financial reporting.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 15, 2005  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    December 31,   
    2004     2003   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Assets                  
Current Assets                  

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 31,586     $ 77,581   
Restricted cash      999       1,819   
Short-term investments      57,940       9   
Accounts receivable, net of allowance ($1,129-2004; $2,620-2003)      17,922       25,715   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      5,999       6,315   

     
  
    

  
  

Total current assets      114,446       111,439   
Marketable securities      54,082       6,714   
Fixed assets, net      2,185       2,368   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies      49,794       52,467   
Goodwill      45,196       45,196   
Intangibles, net      4,705       6,663   
Other      7,198       6,316   
     

  
    

  
  

Total Assets    $ 277,606     $ 231,163   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity (Deficit)                  
Current Liabilities                  

Current maturities of convertible subordinated notes (Note 6)    $ —    $ 173,919   
Current maturities of other long-term debt      37       6,298   
Accounts payable      10,142       21,117   
Accrued expenses      12,284       15,192   
Accrued compensation and benefits      7,593       7,907   
Accrued restructuring      488       2,512   
Deferred revenue      7,084       8,973   

     
  
    

  
  

Total current liabilities      37,628       235,918   
Senior convertible notes (Note 6)      60,000       —  
Other liabilities      10,467       10,851   
Minority interest      4,404       3,688   
     

  
    

  
  

       112,499       250,457   
     

  
    

  
  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)                  
Stockholders’  Equity (Deficit)                  

Preferred stock $0.01 par value; 10,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding (Note 12)      —      —  
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 2,000,000 shares authorized, 38,388 (2004) and 21,839 (2003) issued and 

outstanding      38       22   
Additional paid-in capital      3,525,596       3,251,068   
Accumulated deficit      (3,405,237 )     (3,269,920 ) 
Unamortized deferred compensation      (3,634 )     (712 ) 
Notes receivable-stockholders      (300 )     (460 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income      48,644       708   

     
  
    

  
  

Total stockholders’  equity (deficit)      165,107       (19,294 ) 
     

  

    

  

  

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity (Deficit)    $ 277,606     $ 231,163   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Revenue    $ 52,400     $ 70,020     $ 79,490   
                           
Operating expenses                          

Cost of revenue      27,986       40,936       51,977   
Selling, general and administrative      34,665       46,626       76,372   
Research and development      9,722       14,840       24,100   
Amortization of intangibles      2,711       7,955       10,115   
Impairment related and other      810       (1,736 )     11,276   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Total operating expenses      75,894       108,621       173,840   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (23,494 )     (38,601 )     (94,350 ) 
Other income (loss), net      (106,259 )     (58,659 )     92,632   
Interest income      1,351       1,332       4,098   
Interest expense      (4,925 )     (16,564 )     (23,398 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Loss before income taxes, minority interest and equity loss      (133,327 )     (112,492 )     (21,018 ) 
Income tax (expense) benefit      —      —      (179 ) 
Minority interest      903       2,326       15,438   
Equity loss      (5,893 )     (14,490 )     (81,114 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Loss from continuing operations      (138,317 )     (124,656 )     (86,873 ) 
Gain (loss) on discontinued operations, net of gain of $1,675 (2003) and $10,317 (2002) (Note 9)      3,000       (11,228 )     (15,346 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Basic and diluted loss per share:                          
Loss from continuing operations    $ (3.87 )   $ (8.24 )   $ (6.48 ) 
Gain (loss) on discontinued operations      0.08       (0.74 )     (1.15 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 )   $ (7.63 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted loss per share      35,713       15,130       13,400   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DE FICIT)  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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                                                    Accumulated         
                    Additional             Unamortized     Notes     Other         
    Common Stock     Paid-In     Accumulated     Deferred     Receivable-     Comprehensive         
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Compensation     Stockholders     Income (loss)     Total   
    (in thousands) 
Balance as of December 31, 2001      14,384     $ 14     $ 3,081,362     $ (3,031,817 )   $ (9,610 )   $ (4,721 )   $ (491 )   $ 34,737   
Amortization of deferred compensation      —      —      —      —      6,393       —      —      6,393   
Forfeitures of restricted stock, net      (48 )     —      (249 )     —      249       —      —      —  
Impact of subsidiary equity transactions      —      —      4,950       —      —      —      —      4,950   
Modifications to stockholder loans      —      —      (558 )     —      —      4,261       —      3,703   
Net unrealized appreciation in marketable 

securities and reclassification adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      790       790   
Net loss      —      —      —      (102,219 )     —      —      —      (102,219 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Balance as of December 31, 2002      14,336       14       3,085,505       (3,134,036 )     (2,968 )     (460 )     299       (51,646 ) 
Amortization of deferred compensation      —      —      —      —      2,328       —      —      2,328   
Compensation charge in connection with the 

acceleration of vesting      —      —      368       —      —      —      —      368   
Issuance of common stock to Board of Directors      10       —      72       —      (72 )     —      —      —  
Stockholder loans principal payments      —      —      476       —      —      —      —      476   
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of 

options      59       —      320       —      —      —      —      320   
Issuance of common stock in exchange for 

convertible subordinated notes      7,353       8       163,590       —      —      —      —      163,598   
Issuance of common stock to third parties      81       —      737       —      —      —      —      737   
Net unrealized appreciation in marketable 

securities and reclassification adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      409       409   
Net loss      —      —      —      (135,884 )     —      —      —      (135,884 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Balance as of December 31, 2003      21,839       22       3,251,068       (3,269,920 )     (712 )     (460 )     708       (19,294 ) 
Amortization of deferred compensation      —      —      —      —      1,413       —      —      1,413   
Issuance of common stock in payment of bonuses     33       —      273       —      —      —      —      273   
Issuance of common stock in exchange for 

convertible subordinated notes      15,887       16       267,607       —      —      —      —      267,623   
Impact of subsidiary equity transactions 

(Note 16)      —      —      2,313       —      —      —      —      2,313   
Issuance of restricted stock      640       —      4,412       —      (4,412 )     —      —      —  
Forfeiture of restricted stock      (11 )     —      (77 )     —      77       —      —      —  
Stockholder loans principal payments      —      —      —      —      —      160       —      160   
Net unrealized appreciation in marketable 

securities and reclassification adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      47,936       47,936   
Net loss      —      —      —      (135,317 )     —      —      —      (135,317 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Balance as of December 31, 2004      38,388     $ 38     $ 3,525,596     $ (3,405,237 )   $ (3,634 )   $ (300 )   $ 48,644     $ 165,107   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  



Table of Contents  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Net loss    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Other comprehensive income (loss)                          
Unrealized holding gains (losses) in marketable securities      48,812       77       (6,875 ) 
Reclassification adjustments/realized net gains (losses) on marketable securities      (630 )     332       7,665   

Other accumulated other comprehensive loss      (246 )     —      —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Sub-total      47,936       409       790   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

  
Comprehensive loss    $ (87,381 )   $ (135,475 )   $ (101,429 ) 
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See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Operating Activities                          
Net loss    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities                          

Depreciation and amortization      4,031       13,245       19,120   
Impairment related and other      810       (1,736 )     11,276   
Stock-based compensation      1,413       2,725       18,947   
Deferred tax expense      —      —      179   
Equity loss      5,893       14,490       81,114   
Other (income) loss      106,259       58,659       (92,632 ) 
Minority interest      (903 )     (2,326 )     (15,438 ) 
Loss (gain) on discontinued operations, net      (3,000 )     11,228       15,346   

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:                          
Restricted cash      (73 )     8,802       549   
Accounts receivable, net      7,918       3,300       (426 ) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets      66       1,607       7,772   
Accounts payable      (10,647 )     (499 )     (3,798 ) 
Accrued expenses      (1,345 )     (10,425 )     (12,389 ) 
Deferred revenue      (1,590 )     (6,738 )     (2,073 ) 
Other liabilities      441       4,921       (6,053 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash used in operating activities      (26,044 )     (38,631 )     (80,725 ) 
                           
Investing Activities                          

Capital expenditures, net      (1,109 )     (645 )     (750 ) 
Purchases of short-term investments      (85,219 )     —      (6,986 ) 
Proceeds of short-term investments      27,288       6,986       9,938   
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities      7,798       9,935       287   
Proceeds from sales of Partner Company ownership interests      25,668       7,019       42,219   
Acquisitions of ownership interests in Partner Companies, net      (8,669 )     (13,342 )     (26,402 ) 
Other acquisitions, net      —      (1,595 )     —  
Reduction in cash due to deconsolidation of Partner Companies      —      (1,759 )     (5,876 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities      (34,243 )     6,599       12,430   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Financing Activities                          

Issuance of senior convertible notes      60,000       —      —  
Repurchase of convertible subordinated notes      (39,541 )     (5,529 )     (48,752 ) 
Long term debt and capital lease obligations, net      (6,278 )     (2,658 )     (9,511 ) 
Line of credit borrowings      216       642       —  
Line of credit repayments      —      (89 )     (805 ) 
Repayment of advances and loans to employees/shareholders      160       476       —  
Exercises of stock options      —      320       —  
Issuance of stock by subsidiary      9       —      9,882   
Other      —      36       38   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities      14,566       (6,802 )     (49,148 ) 
Net decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents      (45,721 )     (38,834 )     (117,443 ) 
Effect of exchange rates on cash      (274 )     (1,368 )     (1,847 ) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of year      77,581       117,783       237,073   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of year    $ 31,586     $ 77,581     $ 117,783   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. The Company  

Description of the Company  

     Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the “Company”) is an information technology company actively engaged in delivering software solutions and 
services that are designed to enhance business operations by increasing efficiency, reducing costs and improving sales results. The Company 
operates through a network of partner companies that deliver those solutions to customers. To help drive partner company progress, the 
Company provides operational assistance, capital support, industry expertise, access to operational best practices, and a strategic network of 
business relationships. The Company was formed in March 1996 and is headquartered in Wayne, Pennsylvania.  

     Although the Company refers to companies in which it has acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership interest as its “Partner 
Companies” and indicates that it has a “partnership” with these companies, it does not act as an agent or legal representative for any of its 
Partner Companies, it does not have the power or authority to legally bind any of its Partner Companies and it does not have the types of 
liabilities in relation to its Partner Companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  

2. Reverse stock split  

     In May 2004, the Company implemented a one-for-twenty reverse stock split. The common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts and 
all share and per share amounts have been retroactively restated in these financial statements to reflect this reverse split.  

3. Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Presentation  

     The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The consolidated financial 
statements also include the following majority-owned subsidiaries for all or a portion of the periods indicated, each of which was consolidated 
since the date the Company acquired majority control (collectively, the “Consolidated Subsidiaries”):  

     During the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company’s ownership in Captive Capital and eCredit decreased to a level that resulted in 
deconsolidation. During the three months ended September 30, 2003, the Company’s ownership in Freeborders decreased to a level that resulted 
in deconsolidation.  

     The Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following majority owned subsidiaries:  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2004   2003   2002 

CommerceQuest    Captive Capital   Captive Capital 
ICG Commerce    CommerceQuest   CommerceQuest 

  eCredit   eCredit 
  Freeborders   Freeborders 
  ICG Commerce   ICG Commerce 

      
December 31, 

2004   2003 

CommerceQuest    CommerceQuest 
ICG Commerce    ICG Commerce 
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

3. Significant Accounting Policies – (Continued)  

Principles of Accounting for Ownership Interests in Partner Companies  

     The various interests that the Company acquires in its Partner Companies are accounted for under three methods: consolidation, equity and 
cost. The applicable accounting method is generally determined based on the Company’s voting interest in a Partner Company.  

      Consolidation. Partner Companies in which the Company directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities are 
generally accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting. Under this method, a Partner Company’s balance sheet and results of 
operations are reflected within the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have 
been eliminated. Participation of other Partner Company stockholders in the net assets and in the earnings or losses of a consolidated Partner 
Company is reflected in the caption “Minority interest” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and Statements of Operations. Minority 
interest adjusts the Company’s consolidated results of operations to reflect only the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the 
consolidated Partner Company. The results of operations and cash flows of a consolidated Partner Company are included through the latest 
interim period in which the Company owned a greater than 50% direct or indirect voting interest for the entire interim period or otherwise 
exercised control over the Partner Company. Upon dilution of control below 50%, the accounting method is adjusted to the equity or cost 
method of accounting, as appropriate, for subsequent periods.  

      Equity Method. Partner Companies that are not consolidated, but over which the Company exercises significant influence, are accounted for 
under the equity method of accounting. Whether or not the Company exercises significant influence with respect to a Partner Company depends 
on an evaluation of several factors including, among others, representation on the Partner Company’s Board of Directors and ownership level, 
which is generally a 20% to 50% interest in the voting securities of the Partner Company, including voting rights associated with the Company’s 
holdings in common, preferred and other convertible instruments in the Partner Company. Under the equity method of accounting, a Partner 
Company’s accounts are not reflected within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and Statements of Operations; however, the 
Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the Partner Company is reflected in the caption “Equity loss” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. The carrying value of equity method Partner Companies is reflected in “Ownership interests in Partner Companies” in the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

     When the Company’s investment in an equity method Partner Company is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements unless the Company guaranteed obligations of the Partner Company or has committed additional funding. 
When the Partner Company subsequently reports income, the Company will not record its share of such income until it equals the amount of its 
share of losses not previously recognized.  

      Cost Method. Partner Companies not accounted for under the consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for under the 
cost method of accounting. Under this method, the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of such companies is not included in the Balance 
Sheet or Consolidated Statements of Operations. However, cost method Partner Company impairment charges are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. If circumstances suggest that the value of the Partner Company has subsequently recovered, such 
recovery is not recorded.  

     When a cost method Partner Company qualifies for use of the equity method, the Company’s investment is adjusted retroactively for its share 
of the past results of its operations. Therefore, prior losses could significantly decrease the Company’s carrying value balance at that time.  

     The Company records its ownership interest in equity securities of Partner Companies accounted for under the cost method at cost, unless 
these securities have readily determinable fair values based on quoted market prices, in which case these interests are valued at fair value and 
classified as marketable securities or some other classification in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt 
and Equity Securities.”  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

3. Significant Accounting Policies – (Continued)  

Ownership Interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net  

     The Company follows the guidance in SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The Company is required to test intangible 
assets and goodwill for impairment in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. The Company follows the guidance in APB No. 18, 
“The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock” to evaluate its equity method ownership interests in Partner Companies 
for impairment.  

     The Company continually evaluates the carrying value of its ownership interests in each of its Partner Companies for possible impairment 
based on achievement of business plan objectives and milestones, the value of each ownership interest in the Partner Company relative to 
carrying value, the financial condition and prospects of the Partner Company, and other relevant factors. The business plan objectives and 
milestones the Company considers include, among others, those related to financial performance such as achievement of planned financial 
results or completion of capital raising activities, and those that are not primarily financial in nature, such as obtaining key business partnerships 
or the hiring of key employees. Impairment charges are determined by comparing the estimated fair value of a Partner Company with its carrying 
value. Fair value is determined by estimating the cash flows related to the asset, including estimated proceeds on disposition.  

     The Company’s policy is to perform its annual impairment testing for all Partner Companies in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. The 
Company performed its annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 and concluded the carrying value of its ownership interest 
in Partner Companies, goodwill and intangibles, net was not impaired. At December 31, 2004, the Company’s carrying value of its ownership 
interests in Partner Companies totaled $49.8 million, goodwill totaled $45.1 million and intangibles net totaled $4.7 million.  

Revenue Recognition  

     During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s revenues were primarily attributable to ICG Commerce and CommerceQuest.  

     ICG Commerce generates revenue from enabled sourcing, full service arrangements and managed eProcurement services. Enabled sourcing 
revenue includes revenue from procurement consulting services, auction services and sourcing programs and is generally recognized as the 
services are rendered. In full service arrangements, ICG Commerce assumes all or part of the procurement function for a customer and is paid a 
fixed fee which is recognized over the term of the arrangement. In addition, typically in these engagements, ICG Commerce is paid a fee based 
on a percentage of the amount spent by ICG Commerce’s customer’s purchasing department in the specified areas. Managed eProcurement 
revenue includes transaction fees, which are typically based on a percentage of the cost of the items purchased through the exchange. Because 
ICG Commerce does not carry inventory risk, transaction revenue is recorded under the net method. Under this method, the net transaction fees 
rather than the gross amounts charged to customers are recorded as revenues.  

     CommerceQuest derives revenue from software license fees and services. CommerceQuest sells their software direct to end users, as well as 
through resellers. Fees from licenses are recognized as revenue upon contract execution, provided all delivery obligations have been met, fees 
are fixed or determinable, collection is probable, and vendor-specific objective evidence exists for the undelivered elements of the arrangement. 
Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract. Consulting and training revenue is recognized when the 
services are performed. Implementation fees, which do not relate to software license fees including start-up fees, are deferred and generally 
recognized as revenue over the term of the arrangement.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies – (Continued)  

Use of Estimates  

     The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.  

     These estimates include evaluation of the Company’s investments in its Partner Companies, investments in marketable securities, asset 
impairment, revenue recognition, income taxes and commitments and contingencies. Certain amounts recorded to reflect the Company’s share of 
losses of Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method are based on unaudited results of operations of those Partner Companies and 
may require adjustments in the future when audits of these entities are made final. It is reasonably possible that the Company’s accounting 
estimates with respect to the useful life of intangible assets and the ultimate recoverability of ownership interests in Partner Companies and 
goodwill could change in the near term and that the effect of such changes on the financial statements could be material. At year end, the 
Company believes the recorded amount of ownership interests in Partner Companies and goodwill is not impaired, although there can be no 
assurance that the Company’s future results will confirm this assessment, that a significant write-down or write-off of ownership interests in 
Partner Companies and goodwill will not be required in the future, or that a significant loss will not be recorded in the future upon the sale of a 
Partner Company.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

     The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be cash 
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are invested principally in money market accounts, certificates of deposit 
and commercial paper.  

Restricted Cash  

     The Company considers cash legally restricted and held as a compensating balance for letter of credit arrangements as restricted cash. At 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, restricted cash was held primarily in money market accounts. Long term restricted cash of $0.9 million at 
December 31, 2004 is included in “Other” assets on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Short-term Investments  

     Short-term investments are debt securities, principally commercial paper and certificates of deposit, maturing in less than one year, are 
classified as available for sale and are recorded at market value using the specific identification method. Short-term investments consist of $53.9 
million in commercial paper and $4.0 million in certificates of deposit at December 31, 2004. All of the short-term investments mature in 2005.  

Marketable Securities  

     Marketable securities are reported at fair value, based on quoted market prices, with the net unrealized gain or loss reported as a component 
of “Accumulated other comprehensive income ” in stockholders’ equity (deficit).  

Financial Instruments  

     Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost which approximates fair value due to the short-term 
maturity of these instruments. The Company’s interests in public Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting had a 
fair value of $10.1 million, compared to a carrying value of $0.4 million at December 31, 2003. Short-term investments and marketable 
securities are carried at fair value. The Company’s senior convertible notes had a fair value of approximately $73.3 million at December 31, 
2004 versus a carrying value of $60.0 million. The Company’s convertible subordinated notes had a fair value of $133.0 million as of 
December 31, 2003 versus a carrying value of $173.9  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies – (Continued)  

million. Fair value of the Company’s senior convertible notes and convertible subordinated notes is determined by obtaining thinly traded market 
quotes.  

Deferred Revenue  

     Deferred revenue consists primarily of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under procurement sourcing arrangements, 
software licensing, software installation, maintenance agreements and various start up fees.  

Research and Development  

     Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.  

Income Taxes  

     Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 
estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  

Net Loss Per Share  

     Basic net loss per share (“EPS”) is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted 
EPS includes shares, unless anti-dilutive, that would arise from the exercise of stock options and conversion of other convertible securities and is 
adjusted, if applicable, for the effect on net income (loss) of such transactions. If a consolidated or equity method Partner Company has dilutive 
options or securities outstanding, diluted net income per share is computed by deducting from income (loss) from continuing operations the 
income attributable to the potential exercise of the dilutive options or securities of the Partner Company.  

     As the Company has incurred losses for 2004, 2003 and 2002, the effect of dilutive securities are not included as they would be anti-dilutive. 
See Note 20.  

Issuances of Stock By Partner Companies  

     At the time a Partner Company accounted for under the consolidation or equity method of accounting issues its common stock at a price 
different from the Partner Company’s book value per share, the Company’s share of the Partner Company’s net equity changes and the Company 
adjusts the carrying value in the Partner Company accordingly. If at that time, the Partner Company is not a newly-formed, non-operating entity, 
nor a research and development, start-up or development stage company, nor is there question as to the Company’s ability to continue in 
existence, the Company records the change in its share of the Partner Company’s net equity as a gain or loss in our Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.  

Foreign Currency Translation  

     The functional currency for ICG Commerce’s and CommerceQuest’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in which the 
subsidiary operates. Assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Revenue, expenses, gains and losses 
are translated at the average exchange rate in the month those elements are recognized. Translation adjustments, which have not been material to 
date, are included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income” in stockholders’ equity (deficit).  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies – (Continued)  

Concentration of Customer Base and Credit Risk  

     Approximately 17% and 13% of the Company’s revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to one 
customer of ICG Commerce. During 2003, this customer notified ICG Commerce of the exercise of its right to terminate its arrangement to 
purchase services from ICG Commerce effective January 1, 2004.  

Accounts Receivable/Accounts Payable  

     ICG Commerce provides services in which it manages the transaction between its customer and a third party supplier. In these transactions, 
ICG Commerce is responsible for paying the supplier for the full cost of the goods or services and the customer is responsible for paying ICG 
Commerce an amount, which is generally ICG Commerce’s cost plus a transaction fee, for the goods or services. ICG Commerce is typically 
responsible for paying the supplier independent of when and if ICG Commerce receives payment from its customer. ICG Commerce receives 
payment directly from its customer. ICG Commerce records the gross amount of the associated receivables and payables on the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets. However, ICG Commerce records the net amount of the transaction fee as revenue on the accompanying statements 
of operations. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, accounts receivable included approximately $8.5 million and $17.3 million, respectively, and 
accounts payable included $4.6 million and $12.3 million, respectively, related to such transactions.  

Stock Based Compensation  

     As permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” the Company measures compensation cost in accordance with 
APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation expense is 
recorded for stock options issued to employees that are granted at fair market value. Stock options issued to non-employees are recorded at fair 
value at the date of grant. Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model and the expense is amortized over the vesting period.  

     In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure – an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” which provides optional transition guidance for those companies electing to voluntarily adopt the 
accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123. In addition, the statement mandates certain disclosures that are incremental to those required by SFAS 
No. 123. The Company has continued to account for stock-based compensation in accordance with APB No. 25. The Company has adopted the 
disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 148.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies – (Continued)  

     The following table illustrates the effect on the Company’s net loss and net loss per share as if the fair value based method had been applied 
to all outstanding and unvested awards:  

     The per share weighted-average fair value of options issued by the Company during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $5.50, $6.47 and $7.22, 
respectively.  

     The following assumptions were used to determine the fair value of stock options granted to employees by the Company for the three years 
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:  

     The Company also includes its share of its Partner Companies’ SFAS No. 123 pro forma expense in the Company’s SFAS No. 123 pro forma 
expense. The methods used by the Partner Companies included the minimum value method for private Partner Companies and the Black-Scholes 
method for public Partner Companies.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

     In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123-R, “Share-Based Payment”. SFAS No. 123-R revises SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation”, and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and its related implementation 
guidance. SFAS No. 123-R requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions to be recognized in the financial statements 
(with limited exceptions). The amount of compensation cost is measured based on the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability instruments 
issued. Compensation cost will be recognized over the period that an employee provides service in exchange for the award. This statement is 
effective as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. The Company estimates that the effect 
on net loss and loss per share in the periods following adoption of SFAS No. 123-R will be consistent with our pro forma disclosure under SFAS 
No. 123, except that estimated forfeitures will be considered in the calculation of compensation expense under SFAS No. 123-R. However, the 
actual effect on net loss and loss per share will vary depending upon the number of grants of equity in 2005 compared to prior years. Further, the 
Company has not yet determined the actual model it will use to calculate fair value.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Net loss, as reported    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 ) 
Deduct stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net loss      1,583       2,725       18,947   
Add total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair-value-based method 

for all awards      (8,123 )     (18,292 )     (51,372 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Pro forma net loss    $ (141,857 )   $ (151,451 )   $ (134,644 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Net loss per share, as reported    $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 )   $ (7.63 ) 
Pro forma net loss per share    $ (3.97 )   $ (10.01 )   $ (10.05 ) 

              
    2004   2003   2002 

Volatility    70.0-132.99%   134.69-138.38%   135.68-140.93% 
Average expected option life    3 years   3 years   3 years 
Risk-free interest rate    2.26-2.88%   1.99-2.26%   2.30-4.10% 
Dividend yield    0.0%   0.0%   0.0% 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies – (Continued)  

Comprehensive Loss  

     The Company reports and displays comprehensive loss and its components in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss. 
Comprehensive loss is the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from non-owner sources. Excluding net loss, the Company’s 
sources of comprehensive loss are from net unrealized appreciation on its marketable securities and foreign currency translation adjustments; 
such translation adjustments have been negligible to date. Reclassification adjustments result from the recognition in net income of gains or 
losses that were included in comprehensive loss in prior periods.  

Reclassifications  

     Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. The impact of these changes is not material and 
did not affect net loss.  

Accounting Changes  

     In March 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached consensus on Issue 50, “Accounting for the conversion of a recourse note 
to a nonrecourse note” of EITF No. 00-23, “Issues Related to the Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and FASB 
Interpretation No. 44.” This consensus establishes that the conversion of a substantive recourse note to a nonrecourse note should be accounted 
for as the repurchase of the shares previously exercised where the repurchase amount is equal to the sum of (a) the then-current principal balance 
of the recourse note, (b) accrued interest, if any and (c) the intrinsic value of the new option. In most instances, compensation expense is 
recorded where the fair market value of the repurchased shares is less than the repurchase amount at the date of conversion. This consensus was 
applied prospectively to conversions of recourse notes to nonrecourse notes occurring after March 21, 2002 and resulted in compensation 
expense of approximately $3.7 million for 2002.  
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4. Ownership interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net  

     The following table summarizes the Company’s goodwill and intangibles, net, ownership interests in Partner Companies and impairments by 
method of accounting.  

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, all of the Company’s goodwill was allocated to the Core segment.  

Intangible assets, net are shown in the table below:  

     Amortization expense for intangible assets during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $2.7 million, $8.0 million, and $10.1 million respectively. During 
the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company’s consolidated Partner Companies recorded impairment charges, principally related to other 
intangibles, of approximately $1.3 million.  

     Estimated amortization expense for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005 and succeeding fiscal years is as follows (in thousands):  

49  

                  
    December 31,   
    2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Goodwill    $ 45,196     $ 45,196   
Intangibles, net      4,705       6,663   
     

  
    

  
  

     $ 49,901     $ 51,859   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Ownership interest in Partner Companies – Equity Method    $ 45,451     $ 41,745   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies – Cost Method      4,343       10,722   
     

  
    

  
  

     $ 49,794     $ 52,467   
     

  

    

  

  

                                  
            As of December 31, 2004   
            (in thousands)   
    Useful     Gross Carrying     Accumulated     Net Carrying   
Intangible Assets   Life     Amount     Amortization     Amount   
Technology    2-5 years   $ 23,190     $ (19,231 )   $ 3,959   
Tradename    Indefinite     746       —      746   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 23,936     $ (19,231 )   $ 4,705   
             

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                  
            As of December 31, 2003   
            (in thousands)   
    Useful     Gross Carrying     Accumulated     Net Carrying   
Intangible Assets   Life     Amount     Amortization     Amount   
Technology    2-5 years   $ 22,379     $ (16,462 )   $ 5,917   
Tradename    Indefinite     746       —      746   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 23,125     $ (16,462 )   $ 6,663   
             

  

    

  

    

  

  

          
2005    $ 1,830   
2006      884   
2007      720   
2008      525   
     

  
  

     $ 3,959   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

4. Ownership interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net – (Continued)  

Impairments:  

Consolidated Companies — Acquisitions  

     There were no new acquisitions of consolidated Partner Companies during the years ended December 31, 2004 or 2003.  

     During 2002, the Company completed acquisitions of new or follow-on majority ownership positions in Partner Companies, which were 
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price, including the carrying value of the ownership interest for Partner 
Companies previously accounted for under the equity method, have been allocated to the assets and the liabilities based upon their fair values at 
the date of the acquisition. The results of operations of each acquisition are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations 
from the date of each acquisition. The assets and liabilities for these acquisitions were allocated as follows:  
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    Statements of Operations         
    Presentation     Year Ended December 31,   
            2004     2003     2002   
            (in thousands)   
Consolidation Method    Impairment related and other   $ —    $ 944     $ —  
Equity Method    Equity loss     —      1,381       29,498   
Cost Method    Other income (loss), net     1,267       3,488       13,992   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 1,267     $ 5,813     $ 43,490   
             

  

    

  

    

  

  

                  
    Goodwill and other         
    intangible assets     Working capital   
    (in thousands)   
2002 Acquisitions                  
Freeborders    $ 1,375     $ 625   
CommerceQuest    $ 6,500     $ 1,500   
ICG Commerce    $ 7,500     $ 18,500   
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4. Ownership interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net – (Continued)  

     Presented below is unaudited selected pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2002 as if the acquired Partner 
Companies accounted for under the consolidation method were included in the financial statements as consolidated subsidiaries for the entire 
period presented. The unaudited selected financial information may not be indicative of the actual results that would have occurred had the 
acquisitions been consummated at the beginning of the period presented and is not intended to be a projection of future results.  

Equity Method Companies  

     The following unaudited summarized financial information relates to the eleven Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting at December 31, 2004 (voting ownership %):  

      Core – CreditTrade (30%), eCredit (32%), Freeborders (48%), GoIndustry (54%), Investor Force (38%), LinkShare (40%), Marketron (38%) 
and StarCite (37%). Although the Company’s ownership percentage in GoIndustry exceeds 50% at December 31, 2004, the Company has not 
consolidated its financial statements due to the existence of certain minority voting rights in accordance with EITF No. 96-16, “Investor’s 
Accounting for an Investee When an Investor Has a Majority of the Voting Interest but the Minority Shareholder or Shareholders Have Certain 
Approval or Veto Rights.”  

      Emerging – Agribuys (20%), ComputerJobs.com (46%) and Co-nect (36%).  

     This information has been compiled from the financial statements of the respective Partner Companies.  

Balance Sheets (Unaudited)  
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    Year Ended December 31, 2002   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 85,326   
Net loss    $ (107,634 ) 
  
Basic and Diluted Net Loss per share    $ (8.03 ) 

                          
    As of December 31, 2004   
    Core     Emerging     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 50,587     $ 4,860     $ 55,447   
Other current assets      51,445       4,230       55,675   
Non-current assets      107,695       1,573       109,268   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total assets    $ 209,727     $ 10,663     $ 220,390   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Current liabilities    $ 74,120     $ 7,675     $ 81,795   
Non-current liabilities      19,023       12,958       31,981   
Stockholders’  equity (deficit)      116,584       (9,970 )     106,614   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 209,727     $ 10,663     $ 220,390   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Total carrying value    $ 44,580     $ 871     $ 45,451   
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4. Ownership interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net – (Continued)  

Results of Operations (Unaudited)  
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    As of December 31, 2003   
    Core     Emerging     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 50,154     $ 6,193     $ 56,347   
Other current assets      57,788       3,942       61,730   
Non-current assets      107,162       2,420       109,582   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total assets    $ 215,104     $ 12,555     $ 227,659   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Current liabilities    $ 83,834     $ 7,019     $ 90,853   
Non-current liabilities      20,034       9,520       29,554   
Stockholders’  equity (deficit)      111,236       (3,984 )     107,252   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 215,104     $ 12,555     $ 227,659   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Carrying value    $ 40,305     $ 1,004     $ 41,309   
     

  

    

  

          

Carrying value of eMerge Interactive                      436   
                     

  
  

Total                    $ 41,745   
                     

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31, 2004   
    Core     Emerging     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 167,472     $ 17,671     $ 185,143   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

  
Net loss    $ (16,695 )   $ (5,664 )   $ (22,359 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

  
Components of equity loss:                          
Core/Emerging    $ (4,648 )   $ (133 )   $ (4,781 ) 
     

  

    

  

          

Public Partner Company                      (436 ) 
Other Partner Companies                      (676 ) 
                     

  
  

Total equity loss                    $ (5,893 ) 
                     

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31, 2003   
    Core     Emerging     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 142,385     $ 17,369     $ 159,754   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Net loss    $ (24,825 )   $ (7,669 )   $ (32,494 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Components of equity loss:                          
Core/Emerging    $ (4,073 )   $ (1,120 )   $ (5,193 ) 
     

  

    

  

          

Public Partner Companies                      (4,823 ) 
Other Partner Companies                      (3,093 ) 
Impairments                      (1,381 ) 
                     

  
  

Total equity loss                    $ (14,490 ) 
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4. Ownership interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net – (Continued)  

          During the three months ended March 31, 2004, the Company sold its ownership interest in eMerge Interactive, previously accounted for 
under the equity method of accounting. eMerge Interactive reported revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2004 and years ended 
December 31, 2003 and 2002 of $0.2 million and $0.9 million, $0.6 million, respectively, and net loss of $0.1 million, $9.7 million and 
$30.6 million, respectively.  

          During 2003, Verticalnet and Universal Access, previously accounted for under the equity method of accounting were reclassified to the 
cost method of accounting as the Company’s ownership level decreased as well as the Company’s ability to exercise significant influence on 
these entities. During the years 2003 and 2002, Verticalnet and Universal Access reported aggregate revenue of $79.9 million and 
$144.9 million, respectively, and net loss of $34.1 million and $117.4 million, respectively.  

     In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB 
No. 51” (“Interpretation No. 46”). Interpretation No. 46 addresses the consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities as defined 
in Interpretation No. 46. Interpretation No. 46 applies immediately to variable interests in variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, 
and to variable interests in variable interest entities obtained after January 31, 2003. For public enterprises with a variable interest in a variable 
interest entity created before February 1, 2003, Interpretation No. 46 is applied to the enterprise no later than the beginning of the first interim or 
annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” (“Interpretation No. 46-R”) to address certain Interpretation No. 46 implementation issues. The 
effective dates and impact of Interpretation No. 46 and Interpretation No. 46-R are as follows:  
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    Year Ended December 31, 2002   
    Core     Emerging     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 125,240     $ 19,224     $ 144,464   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

Net loss    $ (30,481 )   $ (12,198 )   $ (42,679 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Components of equity loss:                          
Core/Emerging    $ (7,528 )   $ (4,168 )   $ (11,696 ) 
     

  

    

  

          

Public Partner Companies                      (26,806 ) 
Other Partner Companies                      (13,114 ) 
Impairments                      (29,498 ) 
                     

  
  

Total equity loss                    $ (81,114 ) 
                     

  

  

  (i)   Special purpose entities created prior to February 1, 2003: The Company must apply either the provisions of Interpretation No. 46 or 
early adopt the provisions of Interpretation No. 46-R at the end of the first interim or annual reporting period ending after December 
31, 2003. 

  
  (ii)   Non-special purpose entities created prior to February 1, 2003: The Company was required to adopt Interpretation No. 46-R at the end 

of the first interim or annual reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. 
  
  (iii)   All entities, regardless of whether a special purpose entity that were created subsequent to January 31, 2003: The provisions of 

Interpretation No. 46 were applicable for variable interests in entities obtained after January 31, 2003. 
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4. Ownership interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net – (Continued)  

     The Company adopted Interpretation No. 46-R during the three months ended March 31, 2004. There was no impact to the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements as the Company’s ownership interests in its Partner Companies were excluded due to scope exceptions 
provided for in Interpretation No. 46-R.  

Warrants  

     The estimated fair value of warrants held in Partner Companies was approximately $1.8 million and $0.9 million at December 31, 2004 and 
2003, respectively. The value of the Company’s warrants is included in “Other assets” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
Estimated gains on the fair value of all outstanding warrants was $1.2 million and $0.1 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Estimated losses 
on the fair value of all outstanding warrants for 2002 was approximately $0.9 million. These gains and losses are included in “other income 
(loss), net” on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company exercised warrants that had a net value of $0.3 million 
and $0.4 million during 2004 and 2002, respectively.  

5. Marketable Securities  

     Marketable securities represent the Company’s holdings in equity securities. The cost, unrealized holding gains/(losses), and fair value of 
marketable securities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:  

     The amounts reflected as the Company’s cost for Blackboard, Arbinet, Verticalnet and Universal Access was the carrying value on the date 
these Partner Companies converted to marketable securities. During 2004, the Company recorded a $2.9 million impairment charge for the other 
than temporary decline in the fair market value of Universal Access which is included in “Other income (loss), net” in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
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                    Unrealized         
    Common Shares             Holding     Fair   
    Owned     Cost     Gains     Value   
    (in thousands, except shares)   
December 31, 2004                                  
Blackboard      2,923,777     $ 775     $ 42,526     $ 43,301   
Arbinet      231,128       1,175       4,564       5,739   
Verticalnet      2,917,794       3,135       1,563       4,698   
Universal Access      1,083,206       —      189       189   
Other              107       48       155   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 5,192     $ 48,890     $ 54,082   
             

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                   
December 31, 2003                                  
Verticalnet      2,917,794     $ 3,135     $ 308     $ 3,443   
Universal Access      1,083,206       2,869       316       3,185   
Other              2       84       86   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 6,006     $ 708     $ 6,714   
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6. Debt  

Senior Convertible Notes  

     In April 2004, the Company issued $60.0 million of senior convertible notes. The notes bear interest at an annual rate of 5%, payable semi-
annually, and mature in April 2009. The notes are convertible at the option of the holder, at any time on or before maturity into shares of the 
Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $9.108 per share. Additionally, subsequent to October 8, 2004, provided that at the time of 
redemption the Company is in compliance with certain other requirements, the notes may be redeemed by the Company if the Company’s 
closing stock price exceeds $15.94 per share for at least 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days. The Company recorded interest expense of 
$2.2 million for 2004 related to these notes. Deferred financing fees of $1.6 million are included in “Other assets” in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets and are being amortized over the life of the notes. The Company expensed $0.3 million relating to these fees in 
2004.  

Convertible Subordinated Notes  

     In December 1999, the Company issued $566.3 million of convertible subordinated notes. The notes bore interest at an annual rate of 5.5% 
and were scheduled to mature in December 2004. From 2001 through March 31, 2004, the Company repurchased and extinguished 
$527.2 million of the original $566.3 million face value of convertible notes for $89.8 million in cash and 23.2 million shares of the Company’s 
common stock in a series of separate transactions. As of March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, the remaining balance of the convertible notes 
was $39.1 million and $173.9 million, respectively. In June 2004, the Company redeemed for cash the remaining $39.1 million face value of 
convertible notes for $39.5 million.  

     The following tables summarize the Company’s cash debt repurchases and debt for equity exchanges:  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Cash repurchases of convertible debt                          
Face value of convertible subordinated notes repurchased/redeemed    $ 39,111     $ 12,000     $ 162,947   
Cash paid      (39,541 )     (5,529 )     (48,752 ) 
Other expenses      (169 )     (68 )     (2,772 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Gain (loss) recorded    $ (599 )   $ 6,403     $ 111,423   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Debt for equity exchanges                          
Face value of convertible subordinated notes exchanged    $ 134,808     $ 97,195     $ —  
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

Shares of common stock issued for debt exchange      15,887       7,353       —  
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

Fair value of common stock issued    $ (133,264 )   $ (66,762 )   $ —  
Fair value of common stock issued-original terms      449       360       —  
Accrued interest      790       1,599       —  
Other expenses      (534 )     (897 )     —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Expense recorded    $ (132,559 )   $ (65,700 )   $ —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (expense) included in “Other income (loss), net” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations    $ (133,158 )   $ (59,297 )   $ 111,423   
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6. Debt – (Continued)  

     The debt for equity exchanges were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 84, “Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt”, and 
accordingly the Company recorded expense equal to the fair value of the shares issued in excess of the fair value of the shares issuable pursuant 
to the original conversion terms, less accrued interest. Additionally, additional paid-in capital increased by the face value of the convertible notes 
exchanged and the fair value of the shares issued in excess of the shares issuable pursuant to the original terms.  

     The Company recorded interest expense of $1.6 million, $13.7 million and $20.0 million during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to 
these notes. The remaining balance of deferred financing fees of $1.3 million at December 31, 2003 was included in “Other assets” in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

Other Long-Term Debt  

     The Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2004 and 2003 relates to its consolidated Partner Companies, and primarily consists of 
secured notes due to stockholders and outside lenders of CommerceQuest and capital lease commitments.  

     During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company settled short-term debt consisting of $6.2 million of principal and $2.3 million of 
accrued interest for a total of $6.9 million in cash. The resulting $1.6 million gain is reflected in “Other income (loss), net” in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations.  

Loan and Credit Agreements  

     On September 30, 2002, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Comerica Bank to provide for the issuance of letters of credit (the 
“Loan Agreement”). The Loan Agreement provided for issuances of letters of credit up to $20 million subject to a cash-secured borrowing base 
as defined by the Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement was extended to December 14, 2005, and the maximum amount of letters of credit 
authorized to be issued was reduced to $10 million. Issuance fees of 0.50% per annum of the face amount of each letter of credit will be paid to 
Comerica Bank subsequent to issuance. The Loan Agreement also is subject to a 0.25% per annum unused commitment fee payable to the bank 
quarterly. As of December 31, 2003, $0.9 million in letters of credit were outstanding under the loan agreement, and amounts secured under the 
Loan Agreement are included in “Restricted Cash” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. No amounts were outstanding at 
December 31, 2004.  
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            As of December 31,   
    Interest Rates     2004     2003   
            (in thousands)   
Notes payable      9.0% -18.0%     $ —    $ 6,243   
Commercial loan payable      7.7%       18       —  
Capital leases      12.0%       30       85   
             

  
    

  
  

               48       6,328   
Current maturities              (37 )     (6,298 ) 
             

  
    

  
  

Long term debt            $ 11     $ 30   
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7. Fixed Assets  

     Fixed assets consist of the following:  

     Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $1.3 million, $5.2 million and $9.0 million, respectively.  

8. Restructuring  

     During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company and its consolidated Partner Companies implemented restructuring 
plans designed to reduce cost structures. The restructuring costs include the estimated costs to close offices including costs to fulfill the 
Company’s obligations under signed lease contracts and the write-off of leasehold improvements. The restructuring costs also include employee 
severance and related benefits including the estimated costs of cash severance, non-cash charges for the acceleration of stock options and 
forgiveness of interest on employee stock option loans. Cash severance was generally paid in a lump sum or over the shorter of a six-month 
period or until new employment. Restructuring charges totaled $0.8 million, $4.4 million and $10.0 million for the years ended December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. During 2003, the Company settled a lease liability resulting in a credit of $7.1 million as this liability was 
settled for less than originally estimated in 2001. These charges are included in “Impairment related and other” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. The following table provides further detail of the remaining employee severance and office closure costs.  

     The remaining $0.5 million accrual will be paid in 2005 using cash from operations.  
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    As of December 31,   
    Useful Life     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Computer equipment and software, office equipment and furniture    3-10 years   $ 19,734     $ 20,109   
Leasehold improvements    1-5 years     2,426       2,391   
             

  
    

  
  

               22,160       22,500   
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization              (19,975 )     (20,132 ) 
             

  
    

  
  

             $ 2,185     $ 2,368   
             

  

    

  

  

                          
    Office     Employee         
    closure     severance and         
    costs     related benefits     Total   
            (in thousands)           
Accrued restructuring balance at December 31, 2003    $ 2,084     $ 428     $ 2,512   
                           
Restructuring charges      476       334       810   
Cash payments      (2,225 )     (395 )     (2,620 ) 
Non-cash items expensed immediately/other      (70 )     (144 )     (214 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Accrued restructuring balance at December 31, 2004    $ 265     $ 223     $ 488   
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9. Discontinued Operations  

     In 2003 and 2002, three of the Company’s Core Partner Companies sold substantially all of their assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, 
these partner companies have been treated as discontinued operations. Accordingly, the operating results of these three discontinued operations 
have been presented separately from continuing operations and include the gains or losses recognized on disposition in the line item “Gain 
(loss) on discontinued operations, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

     In 2003, the sale of the assets of OneCoast occurred. The Company received no cash proceeds on the transaction and recorded a loss of 
approximately $10.8 million. OneCoast had revenues of $24.4 million and $29.0 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company’s share 
of the losses of OneCoast totaled $2.1 million and $6.4 million for 2003 and 2002, respectively.  

     In 2002, the sale of the assets of Logistics.com occurred. The Company received $1.7 million in proceeds in 2003 and $10.8 million in 2002 
and recognized a gain of $1.2 million in 2003 and $0.3 million in 2002. Logistics.com had revenues of $7.6 million in 2002. The Company’s 
share of the losses of Logistics.com totaled $15.0 million in 2002.  

     In 2002, the sale of the assets of Delphion occurred. The Company received $3.0 million in proceeds in 2004, $0.5 million in 2003 and 
$10.0 million in 2002 and recognized a gain of $3.0 million in 2004, $0.5 million in 2003 and $10.0 million in 2002. Delphion had revenues of 
$8.5 million in 2002. The Company’s share of the losses of Delphion totaled $4.2 million in 2002.  
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10. Segment Information  

     The Company’s reportable segments using the “management approach” under SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure About Segments of a Business 
Enterprise and Related Information,” consist of two operating segments, the core (“Core”) operating segment and the emerging (“Emerging”) 
operating segment. Each segment includes the results of the Company’s Consolidated Partner Companies and records the Company’s share of 
earnings and losses of Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting and captures the Company’s basis in the assets of 
all of its partner companies. Any marketable securities are considered “Corporate” assets whereas, prior to becoming marketable securities, the 
Partner Company would have been included in the Core or Emerging category.  

     The Core operating segment includes those partner companies in which the Company’s management takes a very active role in providing 
strategic direction and management assistance. The Emerging operating segment includes investments in companies that are, in general, 
managed to provide the greatest near term stockholder value.  

     Approximately 22%, 26% and 21% of the Company’s consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively, relates to sales generated in Germany. Approximately 11%, 9% and 10% of the Company’s consolidated revenues for the years 
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, relates to sales generated in the United Kingdom. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
the Company’s assets were primarily located in the United States.  

     The following summarizes the selected information related to the Company’s segments. All significant intersegment activity has been 
eliminated. Assets are owned or allocated assets used by each operating segment.  

* Other reconciling items to loss are as follows:  
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Segment Information   

(in thousands)   
                            Reconciling Items         
                            Discontinued                         
                            Operations                         
                    Total     and                     Consolidated   
    Core     Emerging     Segment     Dispositions     Corporate     Other     Results   
Year Ended December 31, 2004                                                          
Revenues    $ 52,400     $ —    $ 52,400     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 52,400   
Net loss    $ (13,154 )   $ (133 )   $ (13,287 )   $ 1,888     $ (18,116 )   $ (105,802) *   $ (135,317 ) 
Assets    $ 142,861     $ 5,214     $ 148,075     $ —    $ 129,531     $ —    $ 277,606   
Capital Expenditures    $ (949 )   $ —    $ (949 )   $ —    $ (160 )   $ —    $ (1,109 ) 
                                                           
Year Ended December 31, 2003                                                          
Revenues    $ 69,818     $ 202     $ 70,020     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 70,020   
Net loss    $ (32,235 )   $ (1,374 )   $ (33,609 )   $ (16,032 )   $ (25,964 )   $ (60,279) *   $ (135,884 ) 
Assets    $ 154,998     $ 10,364     $ 165,362     $ 714     $ 65,087     $ —    $ 231,163   
Capital Expenditures    $ (487 )   $ —    $ (487 )   $ —    $ (158 )   $ —    $ (645 ) 
                                                           
Year Ended December 31, 2002                                                          
Revenues    $ 78,997     $ 507     $ 79,504     $ —    $ —    $ (14 )   $ 79,490   
Net loss    $ (82,724 )   $ (14,518 )   $ (97,242 )   $ (29,388 )   $ (55,026 )   $ 79,437 *   $ (102,219 ) 
Assets    $ 199,025     $ 14,811     $ 213,836     $ 30,549     $ 121,861     $ —    $ 366,246   
Capital Expenditures    $ (748 )   $ (2 )   $ (750 )   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ (750 ) 

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
Impairment of equity method Partner Companies (Note 4)    $ —    $ (1,381 )   $ (29,498 ) 
Impairment of consolidated Partner Companies (Note 4)      —      (944 )     —  
Taxes      —      —      (179 ) 
Minority interest      903       2,326       15,438   
Other income (loss) (Note 18)      (106,705 )     (60,280 )     93,676   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (105,802 )   $ (60,279 )   $ 79,437   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

11. Parent Company Financial Information  

     Parent company financial information is provided to present the financial position and results of operations of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries as if the Partner Companies accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting were accounted for under the equity 
method of accounting for all applicable periods presented. The Company’s share of the consolidated Partner Companies’ losses is included in 
“Equity loss” in the Parent Company Statements of Operations for all periods presented based on the Company’s ownership percentage in each 
period. The carrying value of the consolidated companies as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 is included in “Ownership interests in Partner 
Companies” in the Parent Company Balance Sheets.  

Parent Company Balance Sheets  

Parent Company Statements of Operations  
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    As of December 31,   
    2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Assets                  

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 9,345     $ 49,771   
Restricted cash      —      850   
Short-term investments      57,940       —  
Other current assets      1,837       2,481   

     
  
    

  
  

Current assets      69,122       53,102   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies      105,428       99,419   
Marketable securities      54,082       6,714   
Other      6,407       5,271   

     
  
    

  
  

Total assets    $ 235,039     $ 164,506   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Liabilities and stockholders’  equity                  

Current maturities of convertible subordinated notes    $ —    $ 173,919   
Other current liabilities      9,932       9,881   

     
  
    

  
  

Total current liabilities      9,932       183,800   
     

  
    

  
  

Senior convertible notes      60,000       —  
Stockholders’  equity (deficit)      165,107       (19,294 ) 

     
  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 235,039     $ 164,506   
     

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ —    $ —    $ —  
Operating expenses                          

General and administrative      14,074       16,443       34,680   
Impairment related and other      476       (5,094 )     1,499   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Total operating expenses      14,550       11,349       36,179   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (14,550 )     (11,349 )     (36,179 ) 
Other income (loss), net      (103,705 )     (58,605 )     93,676   
Interest expense, net      (3,595 )     (14,615 )     (18,847 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) before equity loss      (121,850 )     (84,569 )     38,650   
Equity loss      (13,467 )     (51,315 )     (140,869 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 ) 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

11. Parent Company Financial Information – (Continued)  

Parent Company Statements of Cash Flows  

12. Stockholders’ Equity  

     The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share and are entitled to dividends as declared. Dividends are restricted by the 
senior convertible notes and may be restricted by the inability to liquidate ownership interests in Partner Companies to fund cash dividends and 
may be subject to the preferential rights of the holders of the Company’s preferred stock, if any. No cash dividends have been declared to date 
and may not be declared for the foreseeable future.  

     The Company may establish one or more classes or series of preferred stock. The holders of the preferred stock may be entitled to preferences 
over common stockholders with respect to dividends, liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, as established by the Company’s 
Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock were authorized; no shares have 
been issued.  
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    Year Ended December 31   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Operating Activities                          
Net loss    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities                          

Depreciation and amortization      71       1,283       1,741   
Impairment related and other      476       (5,094 )     1,499   
Stock-based compensation      1,413       2,327       9,525   
Equity loss      13,467       51,315       140,869   
Other income (loss)      103,705       58,605       (93,676 ) 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:                          
Restricted cash      850       8,330       549   
Accounts receivable, net      —      —      58   
Prepaid expenses and other assets      (609 )     3,143       8,968   
Accounts payable      (189 )     211       40   
Accrued expenses      869       (7,605 )     (9,025 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash used in operating activities      (15,264 )     (23,369 )     (41,671 ) 
Investing Activities                          

Capital expenditures, net      (172 )     (158 )     —  
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets      12       —      40   
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities      7,798       9,935       287   
Proceeds from sales of ownership interests in Partner Companies      25,668       6,327       42,219   
Acquisitions of ownership interests in Partner Companies, net      (21,147 )     (27,092 )     (88,781 ) 
Purchase of short-term investments      (85,219 )     —      (6,986 ) 
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments      27,279       6,986       9,938   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash used in investing activities      (45,781 )     (4,002 )     (43,283 ) 
Financing Activities                          

Issuance of senior convertible notes      60,000       —      —  
Repurchase of convertible subordinated notes      (39,541 )     (5,529 )     (48,752 ) 
Repayment of loans from employees      160       476       —  
Exercises of stock options      —      320       —  

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities      20,619       (4,733 )     (48,752 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents      (40,426 )     (32,104 )     (133,706 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning at year      49,771       81,875       215,581   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year    $ 9,345     $ 49,771     $ 81,875   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

12. Stockholders’ Equity – (Continued)  

Stockholder Rights Plan  

     During 2000, the Company enacted a stockholder rights plan. Under the stockholder rights plan, preferred stock purchase rights were 
distributed as a dividend at the rate of one right for each share of common stock outstanding as of the close of business on December 6, 2000 and 
one right per share has been issued in connection with shares issued subsequent to such date. Each right entitles the holder to purchase from the 
Company one ten-thousandth of a share of series A junior participating preferred stock of the Company at an exercise price of $100 per right. 
The rights attached to the Company’s common stock are not currently exercisable. The rights become exercisable and will separate from the 
common stock (1) ten calendar days after a person or group acquires, or announces the intent to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15% or more of 
the Company’s common stock, or (2) ten business days (or a later date following such announcement if determined by the Board of Directors of 
the Company in accordance with the plan) after the announcement of a tender offer or an exchange offer to acquire 15% or more of the 
Company’s outstanding common stock.  

     The rights are redeemable for $0.0001 per right at the option of the Company’s Board of Directors at any time prior to the close of business 
on the tenth business day after the announcement of a stock acquisition event described above. If not redeemed, the rights will expire on 
November 22, 2010. Prior to the date upon which the rights would become exercisable under the plan, the Company’s outstanding stock 
certificates will represent both the shares of common stock and the rights will trade only with the shares of common stock.  

     Generally, if the rights become exercisable, then each stockholder other than the acquirer is entitled to purchase, for the purchase price, that 
number of shares of common stock that, at the time of the transaction, will have a market value of three times the exercise price of the rights. In 
addition, if, after the rights become exercisable, the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination, or 50% or more of its assets 
or earning power are sold, each right will entitle the holder to purchase, at the exercise price of the rights, that number of shares of common 
stock of the acquiring company that, at the time of the transaction, will have a market value of three times the exercise price of the rights.  

Common Stock Issued in Exchange for Convertible Debt  

     During 2004, the Company issued 15,886,698 shares of common stock in exchange for convertible debt. See Note 6.  

     During 2003, the Company issued 7,352,975 shares of common stock in exchange for convertible debt. See Note 6.  

Common Stock Issued to Third Parties  

     During 2003, the Company issued 75,000 shares of common stock in settlement of a lease obligation, valued at $0.6 million and 6,000 shares 
of common stock for services, valued at $0.1 million.  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

13. Stock Option Plans  

     Incentive or non-qualified stock options may be granted to Company employees, directors and consultants under the Membership Profit 
Interest Plan (the “MPI Plan”), the 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (the “1999 Plan”) or the LGO Corporation 2001 Equity Compensation Plan 
(f/k/a Logistics.com 2001 Equity Compensation Plan) (the “LGO Plan”, together with the MPI Plan and the 1999 Plan, the “Plans”). Generally, 
the grants vest over a two to five year period and expire eight to ten years after the date of grant. At December 31, 2004, the Company reserved 
approximately 36,000 shares of common stock under the Plans, for possible future issuance. Most Partner Companies also maintain their own 
stock option plans.  

     The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s stock option plans:  

     At December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 there were 583,751, 495,748 and 380,835 options exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of 
$44.98, $84.84 and $150.23 per share under the plans, respectively.  

     The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding at December 31:  
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            Weighted   
            Average   
    Shares     Exercise Price   
Outstanding at December 31, 2001      1,286,194     $ 186.00   
Options granted      405,222     $ 8.40   
Options canceled/forfeited      (592,551 )   $ 249.20   
     

  
    

  
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2002      1,098,865     $ 86.40   
Options granted      30,900     $ 8.40   
Options exercised      (58,784 )   $ 15.00   
Options canceled/forfeited      (245,887 )   $ 182.60   
     

  
    

  
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2003      825,094     $ 61.60   
     

  
    

  
  

Options granted      55,100     $ 7.90   
Options canceled/forfeited      (89,365 )   $ 244.15   
     

  
    

  
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2004      790,829     $ 37.19   
     

  

    

  

  

                          
2004 

                    Weighted Average 
    Shares     Shares     Remaining Contractual Life 
Exercise Price   Outstanding     Exercisable     (in Years) 

$4.60 — $8.00      125,724       56,700       8.1   
$8.01 — $12.00      196,701       102,500       7.9   
$12.01 — $20.00      127,408       97,544       6.6   
$20.01 — $2,210.00      340,996       327,007       6.1   
     

  
    

  
          

       790,829       583,751           
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13. Stock Option Plans – (Continued)  

     During 2004, the Company issued 33,282 shares of common stock, valued at $0.3 million, to certain executive officers of the Company in 
payment of a portion of amounts due under the 2003 bonus plan and in 2003 10,000 shares of common stock to members of its Board of 
Directors, valued at $0.1 million.  

     During 2004 the Company issued 640,326 shares of restricted stock to employees that generally vest over four years with acceleration 
provisions based on certain operating metrics and approximately 11,000 shares were forfeited in 2004. During 2002 and 2001, the Company 
issued 62,488 and 456,780 shares of restricted stock that vested ratably over 2002 and 2003. Recipients of restricted stock did not pay any cash 
consideration to the Company for the shares, had the right to vote all shares subject to grant and received all dividends with respect to shares, 
whether or not the shares had vested. The value of the restricted stock at the date of grant of $4.4 million, $1.2 million and $16.1 million for 
2004, 2002 and 2001, respectively, was recorded as unamortized deferred compensation and is being amortized generally over the vesting 
periods. During 2002, 110,207 shares of restricted stock were forfeited upon employee terminations and $1.4 million of unamortized deferred 
compensation was reversed. Stock based compensation expense of $1.4 million, $1.1 million and $4.5 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively, was recorded for these restricted stock issuances.  

     In April through July 1999, the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors authorized the acceptance of full recourse 
promissory notes totaling $79.8 million from certain employees and a director as consideration for exercising all or a portion of their vested and 
unvested stock options issued under the 1999 Plan (a total of 1,799,575 shares of common stock were issued in connection with these exercises). 
These notes receivable were recorded as a reduction of stockholders’ equity (deficit).  

     The Company has the right, but not the obligation, to repurchase unvested shares under certain circumstances. The exercise of unvested 
options by the employees and director and the acceptance of promissory notes by the Company was in accordance with the terms of the 
Company’s equity compensation plans and related option agreements. The Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors also 
approved loaning employees the funds, under the terms of full recourse promissory notes, to pay the income taxes that became due in connection 
with the option exercises. The tax loans totaled approximately $8.1 million and were included  
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2003 

                    Weighted Average 
    Shares     Shares     Remaining Contractual Life 
Exercise Price   Outstanding     Exercisable     (in Years) 

$4.60 — $8.00      105,975       16,711       8.8   
$8.01 — $12.00      171,238       72,221       8.7   
$12.01 — $20.00      127,507       71,602       7.6   
$20.01 — $2,210.00      420,374       335,214       7.1   
     

  
    

  
          

       825,094       495,748           
     

  

    

  

          

                          
2002 

                    Weighted Average 
    Shares     Shares     Remaining Contractual Life 
Exercise Price   Outstanding     Exercisable     (in Years) 

$4.60 — $8.00      152,875       365       9.8   
$8.01 — $12.00      170,473       15,440       9.6   
$12.01 — $20.00      127,950       21,971       8.6   
$20.01 — $2,210.00      647,567       343,059       8.0   
     

  
    

  
          

       1,098,865       380,835           
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13. Stock Option Plans – (Continued)  

in other assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, the Company had been accruing interest on these notes, which 
totaled approximately $5.4 million. During the fourth quarter of 2002, as the Company was reviewing the recoverability of these tax loans and 
interest receivable, it was determined that it was appropriate to record a provision for a possible loss in the amount of approximately $5.5 million 
relating to the tax loans and the interest receivable. This provision was included in selling, general and administrative expense on the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations during the year ended December 31, 2002. The remaining balance of $2.8 million is included in “Other 
assets” on the Company’s December 31, 2004 Balance Sheet.  

     In March 2001, the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the modification of certain of the promissory 
notes from full recourse to 25% recourse of the original loan principal, the modification of the interest rate on the notes to the applicable Federal 
rate as of the date of modification and extension of the term of the loan from five years to seven years. These modifications were communicated 
to eligible employees shortly after such approval and were documented during the course of 2001, with the final documents executed in 
December 2001. The Company also offered eligible employees the opportunity to receive accelerated vesting of restricted stock underlying the 
loans in exchange for extended vesting of stock options and/or restricted stock previously granted in 2001. The 2001 modifications to the notes 
resulted in accounting for the notes and underlying stock as options to purchase common stock. Accordingly, the remaining principal balances of 
the notes subject to the modifications of approximately $26.5 million were reclassified to additional paid-in capital at December 31, 2001. As of 
the modification date, these new options have been treated for accounting purposes as variable awards. The impact of these variable awards has 
not been significant through December 31, 2004.  

     During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company modified the loan recourse for certain stockholder loans for former employees who had been 
severed in 2000 and 2001 from full recourse to 25% recourse of the original loan principal. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-23, “Issues 
Related to the Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and FASB Interpretation No. 44”, the Company recorded this 
modification as a treasury stock transaction for the repurchase of outstanding shares at the fair value of the stock underlying the notes (which 
was $0.6 million at the date of the modification). The principal balance of the notes of $4.3 million was reduced and compensation expense of 
$3.7 million was recorded for the amount of the note in excess of the repurchase amount.  

     During 2001 and 2002, the Company exercised its rights to repurchase a total of 588,182 shares of stock underlying the notes at cost in 
exchange for cancellation of the associated promissory notes totaling $30.8 million upon the termination of the employee noteholders.  
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14. Income Taxes  

     Total income tax expense (benefit) was allocated as follows:  

     The provision for income tax expense (benefit) consists of:  

     The current expense consists of foreign income taxes.  

     At December 31, 2004, the Company had net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $413 million that may be used to offset future 
taxable income. Approximately $397 million of these carry forwards are subject to significant limitations on their utilization due to ownership 
changes experienced by the Company and certain consolidated Partner Companies. The annual limitation on the utilization of net operating loss 
carryforwards is approximately $13 million. These carry forwards expire between 2008 and 2024. Additional limitations on the utilization of 
these carry forwards may be imposed if the Company experiences another change in ownership.  

     A valuation allowance has been provided for the Company’s net deferred tax asset as the Company believes, after evaluating all positive and 
negative evidence, historical and prospective, that it is more likely than not that these benefits will not be realized.  

     The Company’s net deferred tax asset (liability) consists of the following:  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Income from continuing operations    $ —    $ —    $ 179   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total    $ —    $ —    $ 179   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Current    $ —    $ —    $ 179   
Deferred    —      —      —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total    $ —    $ —    $ 179   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                  
    As of December 31,   
    2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Net operating loss carry forward    $ 152,666     $ 145,872   
Capital loss carry forward      253,414       195,893   
Other comprehensive income      (18,089 )     (262 ) 
Reserves and accruals      2,786       4,388   
Other, net      1,096       1,005   
Partner Company basis difference      236,367       301,944   
Valuation allowance      (628,240 )     (648,840 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Net deferred tax asset (liability)    $ —    $ —  
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14. Income Taxes – (Continued)  

     The effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate as follows:  

15. Related Parties  

     During 2004, the Company entered into a consulting arrangement with a member of the Company’s Board of Directors at a cost of 
$0.2 million for 2004 that is included in accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

     The Company provides strategic and operational support to its Partner Companies in the normal course of its business. The Company’s 
employees and members of its Board of Directors and outside consultants generally provide these services. The costs related to employees are 
paid by the Company and are reflected by the Company in general and administrative expenses. Members of the Company’s Board of Directors 
are generally compensated with cash and equity grants in the Company that are accounted for in accordance APB No. 25.  

     During 2003, the Company subleased a portion of its Wayne premises to Intrepid Capital Partners, LLC (“Intrepid”). A member of the 
Company’s Board of Directors is a Managing Director at Intrepid. The Company believes that its sublease with Intrepid was on terms no less 
favorable to the Company than those that were available to it in an arm’s length transaction with a third party. In 2003, Intrepid paid the 
Company $0.1 million in respect of the sublease.  

     The Company and a former equity method Partner Company had a leased employment agreement with respect to one individual. The 
Company had receivables totaling less than $0.1 million for reimbursement of services for the years ended December 31, 2003.  

     The Company entered into various cost sharing arrangements with a stockholder, Safeguard Scientifics, Inc. during 2002, whereby the 
Company reimbursed, under fair market terms, this stockholder for certain operational expenses. The amounts incurred for such items were 
$0.4 million in 2002. In 2003, this stockholder sold its shares in the Company and is no longer considered a related party.  

     See Note 19.  
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    As of December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
Tax benefit at statutory rate      (35.0 )%     (35.0 )%     (35.0 )% 
Debt for equity exchanges      35.0 %     25.0 %     —  
Stock-based compensation      —      0.1 %     1.7 % 
Non-deductible expenses and other      —      3.7 %     4.4 % 
Foreign and state taxes, net      —      —      0.1 % 
Valuation allowance      —      6.2 %     29.0 % 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

       0.0 %     0.0 %     0.2 % 
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16. Other supplemental non-cash financing and investing activities  

     Interest paid in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $2.6 million, $12.3 million and $20.5 million, respectively.  

     No income taxes were paid in 2004, 2003 or 2002 as the Company had a net operating loss.  

     In 2004, the Company issued 15.9 million shares of common stock in exchange for $134.8 million of convertible debt. In 2003, the Company 
issued 7.4 million shares of common stock in exchange for $97.2 million of convertible debt. See Note 6.  

     During the year ended December 31, 2004, one of the Company’s consolidated Partner Companies adjusted its additional paid-in capital to 
reflect the reversal of a $3.1 million equity financing fee accrual. Accordingly, the Company recorded its share of this Partner Company equity 
adjustment as an increase to “Additional paid-in capital” on its Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

17. Defined Contribution and Benefit Plans  

     The Company has defined contribution plans that cover substantially all employees. Participants may contribute a percentage of pre-tax 
compensation, as defined, not to exceed IRS limitations. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, one of the Company’s consolidated Partner Companies 
made matching contributions of $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively.  

     One of the Company’s consolidated Partner Companies maintains a defined benefit plan that covers the majority of its German employees. 
The obligation resulting from the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit method in accordance with SFAS No. 87 
“Employer’s Accounting for Pensions”. Future salary and benefit increases are considered. Actuarial gains and losses are deferred and amortized 
over the average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan, when gains and losses exceed a 10% corridor as defined in 
SFAS No. 87. The assumptions to be used in the above calculation reflect market and economic conditions, including the discount rate.  

     The principal actuarial assumptions for the plan for 2004, 2003 and 2002 are discounts rates of 5.25%, 5.5% and 5.75%, respectively, 
expected rates of wage and salary increases of 2.5% in 2004 and 2.75% in 2003 and retirement benefit increases of 1.25% in each year. During 
2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, as costs of benefits earned and 
$0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, as interest cost associated with the defined benefit plan. Additionally, currency 
translation accounted for an approximate $0.2 million increase in the projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2004.  

     As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the projected benefit obligation for the defined benefit plan was $5.4 million and $4.6 million, 
respectively, and is included in “Other Liabilities” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. No benefits are expected to be paid over the 
next five years. No contributions are expected to be made to the plan over the next five years.  
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18. Other Income  

Other Income (Loss), net  

     Other income (loss), net consists of the effect of transactions and other events relating to the Company’s ownership interests in its Partner 
Companies and its operations in general.  

     During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company sold its ownership interests in various Partner Companies in exchange for cash, marketable 
securities, additional ownership interests in existing Partner Companies and contingent consideration. The gain of $22.6 million in 2004 
primarily relates to the sale of the Company’s ownership interests in eMerge Interactive and Onvia.com, Inc. (“Onvia.com”). The gain of 
$3.7 million in 2003 primarily relates to the receipt of escrow releases from the prior dispositions of CourtLink Corporation (“CourtLink”) and 
TeamOn Systems, Inc. and the sale of a portion of the Company’s ownership interest in Onvia.com. The gain of $5.5 million in 2002 primarily 
relates to the receipt of escrow releases from the prior disposition of CourtLink and a distribution in the form of a dividend from Onvia.com 
partially offset by a loss on the sale of the Company’s ownership position in NetVendor, Inc., the receipt of escrow releases from the prior 
disposition of CourtLink and a distribution in the form of a dividend from Onvia.com.  

     The realized gains on marketable securities of $6.2 million in 2004 relate primarily to the Company’s sales of a portion of its holdings in 
Arbinet and other marketable securities.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands)   
Gains (losses) on debt extinguishment (Note 6)    $ (133,158 )   $ (59,297 )   $ 111,423   
Sales/distributions of ownership interests in Partner Companies      22,553       3,664       5,552   
Realized gains on marketable securities      6,213       340       267   
Other than temporary impairment of marketable securities (Note 5)      (2,869 )     —      (7,932 ) 
Cost method Partner Company impairment charges (Note 4)      (1,267 )     (3,488 )     (13,992 ) 
Gain (loss) on SFAS No. 133 Securities (Note 4)      1,191       (135 )     (905 ) 
Gain on settlement of debt of Consolidated Partner Company (Note 6)      1,593       —      —  
Other      (961 )     (1,364 )     (737 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (106,705 )   $ (60,280 )   $ 93,676   
Total other income (expense) for Consolidated Partner Companies      446       1,621       (1,044 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (106,259 )   $ (58,659 )   $ 92,632   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

19. Commitments and Contingencies  

     The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In 
the opinion of management, the amount of the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will not materially affect the financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries.  

     The Company and its consolidated Partner Companies lease their facilities under operating lease agreements expiring 2005 through 2009 and 
thereafter. Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2004 under the leases are as follows (in thousands):  

     Rent expense (excluding pass-through leases discussed below) under the non-cancelable operating leases was $2.7 million in 2004, 
$5.7 million in 2003 and $6.8 million in 2002.  

     Included in the above lease agreements are leases regarding one Partner Company that leases equipment under non-cancelable operating 
leases expiring through 2007 in which the Partner Company leases equipment and automobiles to lease to customers. When leasing on behalf of 
its customers, the Partner Company simultaneously enters into a lease with the vendor and a lease with the customer (“pass-through leases”). 
Pass-through lease income and expenses are recorded on a net basis as revenue in the accompanying statements of operations. The Partner 
Company has $2.7 million, $0.7 million and $0.1 million, respectively, in future minimum pass-through leases, which expire in 2005, 2006 and 
2007, respectively.  

     Because many of its Partner Companies are not majority-owned subsidiaries, changes in the value of the Company’s interests in Partner 
Companies and the income or loss and revenue attributable to them could require the Company to register under the Investment Company Act 
unless it takes action to avoid being required to register. However, the Company believes it can take steps to avoid being required to register 
under the Investment Company Act, which would not adversely affect its operations or stockholder value.  

     If ICG Commerce achieves a fair market value in excess of $1.0 billion, the Company will be obligated to pay, in cash or the Company’s 
common stock at the Company’s option, 4% of ICG Commerce’s fair market value in excess of $1.0 billion, up to a maximum of $70 million of 
additional purchase price consideration to a venture capital firm. The Company and one of its executive officers were limited partners in this 
venture capital firm. The Company retains a contingent economic interest in such firm but the executive officer retains no such interest. A 
member of our Board of Directors also has an interest in this venture capital firm. The Company’s contingent obligation expires on the earlier to 
occur of May 31, 2005 or an unaffiliated company sale if the valuation milestone is not achieved. Currently, the fair market value of ICG 
Commerce is significantly below $1.0 billion.  
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2005    $ 5,449   
2006    $ 2,567   
2007    $ 1,583   
2008    $ 832   
2009    $ 718   
Thereafter    $ 1,870   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

20. Net Loss per Share  

     The calculations of Net Loss per Share were:  

     The following dilutive securities were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would have been anti-
dilutive:  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003     2002   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Basic and Diluted:                          
Loss from continuing operations    $ (138,317 )   $ (124,656 )   $ (86,873 ) 
                           
Gain (loss) on discontinued operations, net of gain of $1,675 (2003) and net of gain of $10,317 

(2002)      3,000       (11,228 )     (15,346 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

Shares used in computation of basic and diluted loss per share      35,713       15,130       13,400   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Basic and diluted loss per share:                          
Loss from continuing operations    $ (3.87 )   $ (8.24 )   $ (6.48 ) 
Gain (loss) on discontinued operations      0.08       (0.74 )     (1.15 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 )   $ (7.63 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                  
            Weighted Average   
    Shares     price per share   
December 31, 2004                  
Stock options      790,829     $ 37.19   
Stock options (exercised with partial recourse loans)      756,128     $ 41.70   
Restricted stock      627,828     $ —  
Senior convertible notes      6,587,621     $ 9.11   
Warrants      26,521     $ 189.27   
                   
December 31, 2003                  
Stock options      825,094     $ 61.60   
Stock options (exercised with partial recourse loans)      756,128     $ 41.70   
Convertible subordinated notes      68,235     $ 2,548.80   
Warrants      26,521     $ 189.27   
                   
December 31, 2002                  
Stock options      1,098,865     $ 86.40   
Stock options (exercised with partial recourse loans)      756,128     $ 41.70   
Restricted stock      172,679     $ —  
Convertible subordinated notes      111,077     $ 2,548.80   
Warrants      14,021     $ 352.66   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Conti nued)  

21. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

     The following table sets forth selected quarterly consolidated financial information for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The 
operating results for any given quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.  
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    Fiscal 2004 Quarter Ended     Fiscal 2003 Quarter Ended   
    Mar. 31     Jun. 30     Sep. 30     Dec. 31     Mar. 31     Jun. 30     Sep. 30     Dec. 31   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Revenue    $ 12,146     $ 12,519     $ 12,732     $ 15,003     $ 19,395     $ 18,081     $ 16,034     $ 16,510   
Operating Expenses                                                                  

Cost of revenue      7,434       6,716       6,928       6,908       11,934       11,040       9,261       8,701   
Selling, general & administrative      8,876       8,521       9,521       7,747       15,730       12,690       9,770       8,436   
Research and development      2,495       2,496       2,351       2,380       5,461       3,833       2,536       3,010   
Amortization of other intangibles      786       708       689       528       1,724       1,552       1,134       3,545   
Impairment related and other      653       (7 )     20       144       537       3,360       (7,030 )     1,397   

     
  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (8,098 )     (5,915 )     (6,777 )     (2,704 )     (15,991 )     (14,394 )     363       (8,579 ) 
                                                                   
Other income (loss), net      (113,739 )     3,343       1,792       2,345       5,774       (2,413 )     (28,612 )     (33,408 ) 
Interest income      227       344       366       414       442       372       257       261   
Interest expense      (1,630 )     (1,573 )     (855 )     (867 )     (4,553 )     (4,523 )     (4,217 )     (3,271 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) before minority interest and equity 
loss      (123,240 )     (3,801 )     (5,474 )     (812 )     (14,328 )     (20,958 )     (32,209 )     (44,997 ) 

Minority interest      630       573       210       (510 )     1,434       1,044       (33 )     (119 ) 
Equity loss      (1,185 )     (1,625 )     (1,845 )     (1,238 )     (4,925 )     (5,142 )     (2,704 )     (1,719 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Loss from continuing operations      (123,795 )     (4,853 )     (7,109 )     (2,560 )     (17,819 )     (25,056 )     (34,946 )     (46,835 ) 
Gain (loss) on discontinued operations      —      3,000       —      —      (283 )     (615 )     (744 )     (9,586 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss (2)    $ (123,795 )   $ (1,853 )   $ (7,109 )   $ (2,560 )   $ (18,102 )   $ (25,671 )   $ (35,690 )   $ (56,421 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                                                   
Basic and diluted income (loss) from continuing 

operations– per share (1)    $ (3.89 )   $ (0.13 )   $ (0.19 )   $ (0.07 )   $ (1.32 )   $ (1.85 )   $ (2.43 )   $ (2.45 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

Basic and diluted net income (loss) – per share (1)    $ (3.89 )   $ (0.05 )   $ (0.19 )   $ (0.07 )   $ (1.34 )   $ (1.90 )   $ (2.48 )   $ (2.95 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

(1)   The sum of quarterly income (loss) per share differs from the full year amount due to changes in the number of shares outstanding during 
the year. 

(2)   The quarter ended December 31, 2004 results of operations were positively impacted by $2.7 million of accrual reversals for liabilities that 
were settled for less than originally estimated. 
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures  

     None.  

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures  

Controls and procedures  

     We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15e 
and 15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered in this Report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered in this Report, our disclosure controls and 
procedures have been designed and are being operated in a manner that provides reasonable assurance that information required to be included in 
the Company’s periodic SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the relevant SEC rules 
and forms.  

     It should be noted that the design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, 
and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how 
remote.  

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

     The management of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s internal control 
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the Company; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

     Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

     The management of Internet Capital Group, Inc. evaluated the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. 
In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework . Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of its internal control over financial 
reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its 
assessment with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Based on this assessment, as of December 31, 2004, Internet Capital Group, 
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.  

     The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, have audited management’s assessment of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Their report on management’s assessment and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting appears below.  

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, 
that Internet Capital Group, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s 
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 



maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating 
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Internet Capital Group, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), comprehensive loss and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 
2004, and our report dated March 15, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 15, 2005  
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PART III  

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  

     We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Election of Directors”, “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership 
Reporting Compliance”, “Executive Officers” and “Corporate Governance: Committees of the Board of Directors” in our Definitive Proxy 
Statement for our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report pursuant to 
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

     We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics, known as our Corporate Code of Conduct, which applies to all of our 
directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer. Our code of 
conduct is available on our internet website, www.internetcapital.com. Any amendments to our Corporate Code of Conduct or waivers from the 
provisions of the Corporate Code of Conduct for our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer will be 
disclosed on our internet website within five business days following the date of such amendment or waiver.  

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation  

     We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Executive Compensation” and “Other Forms of Compensation” in 
our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this 
Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters  

     We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Directors 
and Officers” in our Definitive Proxy Statements for our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the 
year covered by this Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  

     We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our Definitive 
Proxy Statement for our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report 
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services  

     We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm” in our Definitive Proxy Statements for our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of 
the year covered by this Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

PART IV  

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules  

1. Consolidated Financial Statements  

     The Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto as set forth under Item 8 of this Report are incorporated herein by reference. 
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2. Financial Statement Schedule  

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

Under date of March 15, 2005, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), comprehensive loss and cash 
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated 
financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial statement schedule. The consolidated financial statement schedule is the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statement schedule based 
on our audits.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken 
as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 15, 2005  

     The following financial statement schedule of Internet Capital Group, Inc. for each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 
should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP  
SCHEDULE II —VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004  
(in thousands)  
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    Balance at     Charged to             Balance at the   
    the beginning     costs and             end of the   
    of the year     expenses     Write -offs     year   
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts :                                  

December 31, 2002    $ 5,249     $ 1,748 (a)   $ (4,042 )   $ 2,955   
December 31, 2003    $ 2,955     $ 333     $ (668 )(b)   $ 2,620   
December 31, 2004    $ 2,620     $ (286 )   $ (1,205 )   $ 1,129   

(a)   Reserve of $115 was established upon acquisitions of partner companies during 2002. 
  
(b)   Reserve of $209 was eliminated upon deconsolidation of partner companies during 2003. 
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3. List of Exhibits  

     The exhibits required by this Item are listed under Item 14(c).  

Exhibit Index  

     The following is a list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K filed as part of this Report. Where so indicated by footnote, 
exhibits which were previously filed are incorporated by reference. For exhibits incorporated by reference, the location of the exhibit in the 
previous filing is indicated in parentheses.  
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Exhibit Number   Document 

2.1  

  

Agreement of Merger dated February 2, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by the Company on May 11, 1999 
(Registration No. 333-78193) (the “ IPO Registration Statement” )). 

       
3.1  

  
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed 
by the Company on August 4, 1999 (Registration No. 000-26989) (the “8-A Registration Statement” )). 

       
3.2    Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the 8-A Registration Statement). 
       
3.3  

  
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2002”)). 

       
3.4  

  
Second Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004). 

       
4.1    Specimen Certificate for Internet Capital Group’s Common Stock. 
       
4.2  

  
Form of 5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2009 of Internet Capital Group (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
4.3  

  

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2000, between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and ChaseMellon Shareholder 
Services, L.L.C., as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate, incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated December 1, 2000 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 1, 2000 (File No. 0-26929)). 
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Exhibit Number   Document 

10.1  

  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated July 25, 2001 (the “ Internet Capital 
Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.4 to the Company’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2001” )). 

       
10.1.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.1.2  

  
Amendment No. 2 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.1.3    Amendment No. 3 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan. 
       
10.2  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated effective September 1, 2002 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.3  

  
Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s 10-K 
Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.3.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to the Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to 
the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.4  

  
Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Membership Profit Interest Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the IPO 
Registration Statement). 

       
10.5  

  
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C., dated January 4, 1999 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.1 to the IPO Registration Statement). 

       
10.6  

  

Lease dated March 27, 2000 between the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States and Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. for premises located in Boston, Massachusetts (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000). 

       
10.7  

  
Lease Termination Agreement between One Boston Place LLC and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. dated April 14, 
2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004). 

       
10.8  

  

Form of Promissory Note issued in connection with the exercise of Internet Capital Group, Inc.’ s stock options in May, June 
and July of 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Amendment No. 1 to the IPO Registration Statement filed by 
the Company on June 22, 1999 Registration No. 333-78913) (the “ IPO Amendment No. 1” )). 

       
10.9    Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the IPO Amendment No. 1). 
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Exhibit Number   Document 

10.10  
  

Severance and Change in Control Agreement dated as of January 1, 2001 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and 
Edward H. West (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2001). 

       
10.11  

  
Form of Letter Agreement dated September 20, 2001 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and certain of its officers (the 
“Form Severance Letter Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2001). 

       
10.12  

  

Amendment dated December 11, 2002 to Severance Letter Agreement dated September 20, 2001 by and between Internet 
Capital Group, Inc. and Henry Nassau, which is substantially in the form of the Form Severance Letter Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.13  

  
Severance Letter Agreement dated February 4, 2003 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Anthony Dolanski 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.14  

  

Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2002, by and between Comerica Bank-California and Internet Capital 
Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002). 

       
10.14.1  

  

First Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of October 20, 2003 by and between Comerica Bank, Internet 
Capital Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 2003). 

       
10.14.2  

  
Second Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2004 by and between Comerica Bank, ICG 
Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 

       
10.15  

  

Form of Promissory Note (Option Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.16  

  

Form of Share Pledge Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.17  

  

Form of Promissory Note (Tax Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.18  

  

Severance and Change in Control Agreement by and between ICG Commerce, Inc. and Edward H. West dated as of 
January 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ending March 31, 2003). 

       
10.19  

  

Letter Agreement between Internet Capital Group and Edward H. West dated February 24, 2003 relating to termination of 
employment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ending March 31, 2003). 
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Exhibit Number   Document 

10.20  

  

Agreement of Lease between FV Office Partners, L.P. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. dated June 30, 2003 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 
2003). 

       
10.20.1  

  
First Amendment to lease between FV Office Partners, L.P. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. dated November 20, 
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2003). 

       
10.21  

  
Letter Agreement between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Henry N. Nassau dated June 20, 2003 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2003). 

       
10.22  

  
Employment Agreement among Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc., Walter W. Buckley, III and Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. dated as of March 9, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10-40 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2003). 

       
10.23  

  

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, by and among Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the investors listed 
on the Schedule of Buyers attached as Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
10.24  

  

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 8, 2004 by and among Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the investors listed on 
the Schedule of Buyers attached as Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
10.25  

  

Independent Contractor Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc., Wayne Strategy Consultants, Inc. 
and Dr. Michael D. Zisman dated August 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004). 

       
10.25.1  

  

First Amendment to Independent Contractor Agreement dated January 18, 2005 by and among Internet Capital Group 
Operations, Inc., Wayne Strategy Consultants, Inc. and Dr. Michael Zisman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2004). 

       
10.26  

  
2004 ICG Performance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A 
for the quarter ended September 30, 2004). 

       
10.27  

  
Specimen Award Notification for the 2004 ICG Performance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2004). 

       
10.28  

  
Internet Capital Group 2005 Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on March 3, 2005). 

       
10.29  

  
Internet Capital Group 2005 Bonus Plan Specimen Award Letter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 2005). 

       
10.30  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Non-Management Director Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 2005). 
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Exhibit Number   Document 

10.31  
  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. Deferred Stock Unit Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 2005). 

       
10.32    Form of Restricted Stock Grant Without Performance Acceleration. 
       
10.33    Form of Restricted Stock Grant With Performance Acceleration. 
       
10.34    Form of Stock Option Grant Without Performance Acceleration. 
       
10.35    Form of Stock Option Grant With Performance Acceleration. 
       
10.36    Form of Non-Employee Director Initial Stock Option Grant. 
       
10.37    Form of Non-Employee Director Annual Stock Option Grant. 
       
11.1  

  

Statement Regarding Computation of Per Share Earnings (included herein at Note 3-“Significant Accounting Policies” in the 
subsection “Net Loss Per Share” to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 20-“ Net Loss Per Share” to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements). 

       
21.1    Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
       
23.1    Consent of KPMG LLP regarding Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
       
31.1    Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
31.2    Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
32.1    Certification of the Chief Executive Officer required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
32.2    Certification of the Chief Financial Officer required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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SIGNATURES  

     Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Security Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this Report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities set forth above.  
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Date: March 15, 2005 INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

  
  

  By:   /s/ ANTHONY P. DOLANSKI     
  Name: Anthony P. Dolanski    
  Title: Chief Financial Officer    
  

      
Signature   Title 

  
/s/WALTER W. BUCKLEY, III    Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board 

  of Directors (Principal Executive Officer) 
Walter W. Buckley, III      
       
/s/ANTHONY P. DOLANSKI    Chief Financial Officer 

  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
Anthony P. Dolanski      
       
/s/DAVID J. BERKMAN    Director 

    
David J. Berkman      
       
/s/THOMAS A. DECKER    Director 

    
Thomas A. Decker      
       
/s/DAVID K. DOWNES    Director 

    
David K. Downes      
       
/s/THOMAS P. GERRITY    Director 

    
Thomas P. Gerrity      
       
/s/ROBERT E. KEITH, JR.    Director 

    
Robert E. Keith, Jr.      
       
/s/WARREN V. MUSSER    Director 

    
Warren V. Musser      
       
/s/PHILIP J. RINGO    Director 

    
Philip J. Ringo      
       
/s/MICHAEL D. ZISMAN    Director 

    
Michael D. Zisman      



   



   

Exhibit 4.1 



 



   

NUMBER ICG SHARES INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC. COMMON STOCK INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE SEE REVERSE FOR CE RTAIN DEFINITIONS C U S I P 46059C 20 5 This Certi fies  that: Is the owner o f:  FULLY PAID AND NONASSESSABLE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, $.001  PAR VALUE PER SHARE, OF Internet Capital  Group, Inc. hereinafter called the “Corporation ”, transferab le only on  the books of the Corporation  by the holder hereof in person, or by h is duly authorized attorney, upon  the surrender of this Certificate properly endorsed. This  Certificate and the shares represented hereby are issued and shall be held  subject to  al l of the provis ions contained  in the Corporat ion’s Restated Certi ficate of Incorporat ion, as amended (cop ies of which are on fi le with the Transfer Agent), to which the holder by acceptance hereo f assents. This  Certificate is not valid until  coun ters igned and reg istered  by the Transfer Agent and Registrar. WlTNESSthe:facsimi le seal  of the Corporation and the facsimile signatures of its duly authorized officers. DATE D: SE CRETARY CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUT IVE OFFICER Internet Capital Group, Inc. Corporate Seal 1999 Delaware * 
Countersigned and Regis tered: Mel lon Investor Serv ices LLC Transfer Agent and Registrar Authorized Signature 



   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

     The Corporation shall furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests a statement of the powers, designations, preferences and 
relative, participating, optional, or other special rights of each class of stock of the Corporation or series thereof and the qualifications, 
limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. Such request shall be made to the Corporation’s Secretary at the principal office of 
the Corporation or to the Transfer Agent and Registrar named on the face of this Certificate.  

     The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this Certificate, shall be construed as though they were written out in 
full according to applicable laws or regulations:  

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.  

     FOR VALUE RECEIVED                                                                                                                                                      hereby sell, assign 
and transfer unto  

KEEP THIS CERTIFICATE IN A SAFE PLACE. IF IT IS LOS T, STOLEN, MUTILATED OR DESTROYED, THE CORPORATION 
WILL REQUIRE A BOND OF INDEMNITY AS A CONDITION TO THE ISSUANCE OF A REPLACEMENT CERTIFICATE.  

                              
TEN COM   -   as tenants in common       UNIF TRANS MIN ACT-       Custodian     

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

TEN ENT    -   as tenants by the entireties           (Cust)       (Minor) 
JT TEN 

  

- 

  

as joint tenants with right of 
survivorship and not as 
tenants in common   

  

  

under Uniform Transfers to Minors Act 

  

  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  

                (State)          

              
  PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER            
  IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE            
               
            

          

  
 
     

  
  

  

  
        

  (PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS INCLUDING ZIP CODE OF ASSIGNEE)  

  
 
     

  
  

  

  
        

  
 
     

  
  

  

  
        

  
 
     

  
  

  

  
        

  shares of the common stock represented by the within Certificate, and do hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint 

  
 
     

  
Attorney 

  

  
        

    

  to transfer the said stock on the books of the within named Corporation with full power of substitution in the premises. 
                  
Dated           X     

            
                   

          X     
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

NOTICE The signature(s) to this assignment must correspond with the name(s) as 
written upon the face of the Certificate in every particular, without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever. 

                   
                   
          
SIGNATURE(S) 
GUARANTEED:    

  
  

  

      

  

THE SIGNATURE(S) MUST BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION 
(BANKS, STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS, AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH 
MEMBERSHIP IN AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT 
TO S.E.C. RULE 17Ad-15.   

  

           
           



This certificate also evidences and entitles the holder hereof to certain Rights as set forth in the Rights Agreement between Internet Capital 
Group, Inc. (the “Company”) and Mellon Investor Services LLC (the “Rights Agent”), dated as of November 22, 2000 (the “Rights 
Agreement”), the terms of which are hereby incorporated herein by reference and a copy of which is on file at the principal offices of the 
Company. Under certain circumstances, as set forth in the Rights Agreement, such Rights will be evidenced by separate certificates and will no 
longer be evidenced by this certificate. The Company will mail to the holder of this certificate a copy of the Rights Agreement, as in effect on 
the date of mailing, without charge promptly after receipt of a written request therefor. Under certain circumstances set forth in the Rights 
Agreement, Rights issued to, or held by, any Person who is, was or becomes an Acquiring Person or any Affiliate or Associate thereof (as such 
terms are defined in the Rights Agreement), whether currently held by or on behalf of such Person or by any subsequent holder, may become 
null and void.  

   



Exhibit 10.1.3  

AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO THE  
INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

1999 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN  
(as amended and restated, effective July 25, 2001)  

WHEREAS, Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the "Company") maintains the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (as 
amended and restated, effective July 25, 2001) (the "Plan") for the benefit of its eligible employees, certain advisors and consultants who 
perform services for the Company, and non-employee members of the Company's Board of Directors;  

WHEREAS, Amendment No. 2 to the Plan provides, in part, that, effective as of July 1, 2003, automatic service grants under the Plan to non-
employee members of the Board ("Non-Employee Directors") will be made on a quarterly basis;  

WHEREAS, prior to making the first quarterly automatic service grant to Non-Employee Directors in accordance with Amendment No. 2, the 
Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") determined that automatic service grants would instead be annual and entirely discretionary;  

WHEREAS, the Board desires to amend the Plan to provide that service grants to Non-Employee Directors under the Plan will be annual and at 
the sole discretion of the Board; and  

WHEREAS, Section 19(a) of the Plan provides that the Board may amend the Plan at any time.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in accordance with the foregoing, the Plan shall be amended as follows:  

1. Effective as of July 1, 2003, the first sentence of Section 6 of the Plan is hereby amended to delete the word "automatic".  

2. Effective as of July 1, 2003, Section 6(b) of the Plan is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:  

"Service Grants. Each calendar year, the Board may determine, in its sole discretion, to provide that each Non-Employee Director shall be 
granted a Nonqualified Stock Option to purchase Shares in an amount determined by the Board; provided that on each such grant date the Non-
Employee Director is a member of the Board (a "Service Grant")."  

3. Effective as of July 1, 2003, the second sentence of Section 6(e)(ii) of the Plan is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:  



"Each Service Grant shall fully vest on the first anniversary of the date of the grant of such Option, unless determined otherwise by the Board."  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and as evidence of the adoption of Amendment No. 3 set forth herein, the Board has caused this Amendment to be 
executed this 25th day of February, 2005.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

 
2  

BY: /s/ Philip A. Rooney 
   ------------------------ 
 
TITLE: Vice President, Taxes and Treasury 



Exhibit 10.14.2  

SECOND AMENDMENT TO LETTER OF CREDIT AGREEMENT  

This Second Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement (the "Amendment") is entered into as of December 15, 2004, by and between 
COMERICA BANK ("Bank") and INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC. ("ICG"), ICG HOLDINGS, INC. ("ICG Holdings"), and INTERNET  
CAPITAL GROUP OPERATIONS, INC. ("ICG Operations")(ICG, ICG Holdings, and ICG Operations are sometimes referred to, individually, 
as a "Borrower" and collectively, as the "Borrowers").  

RECITALS  

Borrowers and Bank are parties to that certain Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2002 (as amended from time to time, 
including without limitation that certain First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated October 20, 2003, together with any related 
agreements, the "Agreement"). Hereinafter, all indebtedness owing by Borrowers to Bank shall be referred to as the "Indebtedness." The parties 
desire to amend the Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Amendment.  

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows:  

AGREEMENT  

I. Incorporation by Reference. The Recitals and the documents referred to therein are incorporated herein by this reference. Except as otherwise 
noted, the terms not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement.  
 
II. Amendment to the Agreement. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent as set forth in Article IV hereof, the Agreement is 
hereby amended as set forth below.  

A. The definition of "Revolving Maturity Date" in Section 1.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows: 

"Revolving Maturity Date" means December 14, 2005.  

B. Bank's addresses for notices set forth in Section 10 of the Agreement are hereby amended in their entirety to read as follows:  

 

C. A new Section 14 is hereby added to the Agreement to read as follows:  

"If to Bank:               Comerica Bank 
                           2321 Rosecrans Ave., Suite 5000 
                           El Segundo, CA 90245 
                           Attn: Manager 
                           FAX: (310) 297-2290 
 
With a copy to:           Comerica Bank 
                          2420 Sand Hill Road,Suite 102 
                          Menlo Park, CA 94025 
                          Attn: Lafe Vittitoe 
                          FAX: (650) 233-3075" 



"14. Reference Provision.  

The parties prefer that any dispute between them be resolved in litigation subject to a Jury Trial Waiver as set forth in the Loan Documents 
(defined below), but the availability of that process is in doubt because of the opinion of the California Court of Appeal in Grafton Partners LP v. 
Superior Court, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 511. This Reference Provision will be applicable until the California Supreme Court completes its review of that 
case, and will continue to be applicable if either that court or a California Court of Appeal publishes a decision holding that a pre-dispute Jury 
Trial Waiver provision similar to that contained in the Loan Documents is invalid or unenforceable. Delay in requesting appointment of a referee 
pending review of any such decision, or participation in litigation pending review, will not be deemed a waiver of this Reference Provision.  

Other than (i) nonjudicial foreclosure of security interests in real or personal property, (ii) the appointment of a receiver or (iii) the exercise of 
other provisional remedies (any of which may be initiated pursuant to applicable law), any controversy, dispute or claim (each, a "Claim") 
between the parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other document, instrument or agreement between the Bank and the 
undersigned (collectively in this Section, the "Loan Documents"), will be resolved by a reference proceeding in California in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 638 et seq. of the California Code of Civil Procedure ("CCP"), or their successor sections, which shall constitute the 
exclusive remedy for the resolution of any Claim, including whether the Claim is subject to the reference proceeding. Except as otherwise 
provided in the Loan Documents, venue for the reference proceeding will be in the Superior Court or Federal District Court in the County or 
District where venue is otherwise appropriate under applicable law (the "Court").  

The referee shall be a retired Judge or Justice selected by mutual written agreement of the parties. If the parties do not agree, the referee shall be 
selected by the Presiding Judge of the Court (or his or her representative). A request for appointment of a referee may be heard on an ex parte or 
expedited basis, and the parties agree that irreparable harm would result if ex parte relief is not granted. The referee shall be appointed to sit with 
all the powers provided by law. Each party shall have one peremptory challenge pursuant to CCP  
Section 170.6. Pending appointment of the referee, the Court has power to issue temporary or provisional remedies.  

The parties agree that time is of the essence in conducting the reference proceedings. Accordingly, the referee shall be requested to (a) set the 
matter for a status and trial-setting conference within fifteen (15) days after the date of selection of the referee, (b) if practicable, try all issues of 
law or fact within ninety (90) days after the date of the conference and (c) report a statement of decision within twenty (20) days after the matter 
has been submitted for decision. Any decision rendered by the referee will be final, binding and conclusive, and judgment shall be entered 
pursuant to CCP  
Section 644.  

The referee will have power to expand or limit the amount and duration of discovery. The referee may set or extend discovery deadlines or 
cutoffs for good cause, including a party's failure to provide requested discovery for any reason whatsoever. Unless otherwise ordered, no party 
shall be entitled to "priority" in conducting discovery, depositions may be taken by either party upon seven (7) days written notice, and all other 
discovery shall be responded to within fifteen (15) days after service. All disputes relating to discovery which cannot be resolved by the parties 
shall be submitted to the referee whose decision shall be final and binding.  

Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the referee shall determine the manner in which the reference proceeding is conducted including 
the time and place of hearings, the order of presentation of evidence, and all other questions that arise with respect to the course of the reference 
proceeding. All proceedings and hearings conducted before the referee, except for trial, shall be conducted without a court reporter, except that 
when any party so requests, a court reporter will be used at any hearing conducted before the referee, and the referee will be provided a courtesy 
copy of the transcript. The party making such a request shall have the obligation to arrange for and pay the court reporter. Subject to the referee's 
power to award costs to the prevailing party, the parties will equally share the cost of the referee and the court reporter at trial.  

The referee shall be required to determine all issues in accordance with existing case  



law and the statutory laws of the State of California. The rules of evidence applicable to proceedings at law in the State of California will be 
applicable to the reference proceeding. The referee shall be empowered to enter equitable as well as legal relief, provide all temporary or 
provisional remedies, enter equitable orders that will be binding on the parties and rule on any motion which would be authorized in a trial, 
including without limitation motions for summary judgment or summary adjudication . The referee shall issue a decision at the close of the 
reference proceeding which disposes of all claims of the parties that are the subject of the reference. The referee's decision shall be entered by the 
Court as a judgment or an order in the same manner as if the action had been tried by the Court. The parties reserve the right to appeal from the 
final judgment or order or from any appealable decision or order entered by the referee. The parties reserve the right to findings of fact, 
conclusions of laws, a written statement of decision, and the right to move for a new trial or a different judgment, which new trial, if granted, is 
also to be a reference proceeding under this provision.  

If the enabling legislation which provides for appointment of a referee is repealed (and no successor statute is enacted), any dispute between the 
parties that would otherwise be determined by reference procedure will be resolved and determined by arbitration. The arbitration will be 
conducted by a retired judge or Justice, in accordance with the California Arbitration Act Section 1280 through Section 1294.2 of the CCP as 
amended from time to time. The limitations with respect to discovery set forth above shall apply to any such arbitration proceeding.  

THE PARTIES RECOGNIZE AND AGREE THAT ALL DISPUTES RESOLVED UNDER THIS REFERENCE PROVISION WILL BE 
DECIDED BY A REFEREE AND NOT BY A JURY, AND THAT THEY ARE IN EFFECT WAIVING THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY 
IN AGREEING TO THIS REFERENCE PROVISION. AFTER CONSULTING (OR HAVING HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT) 
WITH COUNSEL OF THEIR OWN CHOICE, EACH PARTY KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY AND FOR THEIR MUTUAL 
BENEFIT AGREES THAT THIS REFERENCE PROVISION WILL APPLY TO ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THEM WHICH ARISES OUT 
OF OR IS RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE LOAN DOCUMENTS."  

III. Legal Effect.  

A. The Agreement is hereby amended wherever necessary to reflect the changes described above. Borrowers agree that each Borrower has no 
defenses against the obligations to pay any amounts under the Indebtedness.  

B. Each Borrower understands and agrees that in modifying the existing Indebtedness, Bank is relying upon each Borrower's representations, 
warranties, and agreements, as set forth in the Agreement. Except as expressly modified pursuant to this Amendment, the terms of the 
Agreement remain unchanged, and in full force and effect. Bank's agreement to modifications to the existing Indebtedness pursuant to this 
Amendment in no way shall obligate Bank to make any future modifications to the Indebtedness. Nothing in this Amendment shall constitute a 
satisfaction of the Indebtedness. It is the intention of Bank and each Borrower to retain as liable parties, all makers and endorsers of Agreement, 
unless the party is expressly released by Bank in writing. No maker, endorser, or guarantor will be released by virtue of this Amendment. The 
terms of this paragraph apply not only to this Amendment, but also to all subsequent loan modification requests.  

C. This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall 
constitute one instrument. This is an integrated Amendment and supersedes all prior negotiations and agreements regarding the subject matter 
hereof. All modifications hereto must be in writing and signed by the parties.  



IV. Conditions Precedent. Except as specifically set forth in this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full 
force and effect. The effectiveness of this Agreement is conditioned upon receipt by Bank of this Amendment, and any other documents which 
Bank may require to carry out the terms hereof, including but not limited to the following:  

A. This Amendment, duly executed by Borrowers;  

B. Corporation Resolutions and Incumbency Certification, duly executed by each Borrower;  

C. A legal fee from the Borrowers in the amount of $250; and  

D. Such other documents, and completion of such other matters, as Bank may reasonably deem necessary or appropriate.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment as of the first date above written.  

 

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.               INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP 
                                           OPERATIONS, INC. 
 
By: /s/ Philip A. Rooney                   By: /s/ Philip A. Rooney 
    --------------------                       -------------------- 
 
Title: Vice President, Treasury & Tax      Title: Vice President, Treasury & Tax 
 
ICG HOLDINGS, INC.                         COMERICA BANK 
 
By:/s/ Philip A. Rooney                    By: /s/ Lafe Vittitoe 
    --------------------                       -------------------- 
Title: Vice President                      Title: Assistant Vice President 



Exhibit 10.32  

RESTRICTED SHARE AGREEMENT  

On this, the _________ day of _________, 200X Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc, a Delaware corporation (together with Internet Capital 
Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, (collectively the "Company")), hereby grants to __________________ a Restricted Share Award (the 
"Award"), of _________ shares (the "Shares") of the common stock in the Company subject to the restrictions below and pursuant to and subject 
to the terms and conditions of the _________ Equity Compensation Plan  

GENERAL PROVISIONS  

1. Vesting and Term.  

(a) Except as provided in Paragraph 1(b) below, you will vest in your right to the Shares granted under this Award according to the following 
vesting schedule  

 

(1) Termination of Service on Account of Involuntary Termination Without Cause Within One Year After Change of Control. Unless otherwise 
stipulated in an employment agreement with the Company, if you incur a Termination of Service (as defined in the Plan) on account of an 
involuntary termination without Cause (as defined in the Plan) prior to the Vesting Date and within one (1) year after a Change of Control (as 
defined in the Plan), your Shares will become fully vested on your termination date.  

(2) Termination of Service on Account of Involuntary Termination without Cause. Unless otherwise stipulated in an employment agreement with 
the company, if you incur a Termination of Service on account of an involuntary termination without Cause prior to the Vesting Date, you will 
receive pro-rated vesting at the rate of 2.083% per month through your termination date plus _________ months additional vesting in the Shares 
up to 100% vesting.  

(3) Termination of Service on Account of Death, Disability, or Retirement. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of death, your 
Disability (as defined in the Plan), or your Retirement (as defined in the Plan), you will receive pro-rated vesting at the rate of 2.083% per month 
through your termination date.  

(4) Termination of Service on Account of Cause. No Shares shall be vested on an accelerated basis if you incur a Termination of Service on 
account of Cause.  

(5) Termination of Service for Any Other Reason. No Shares shall be vested on an accelerated basis if you incur a Termination of Service on 
account of any reason other than that listed above in this Paragraph 1(b).  

         _________, 200X           _________ 
         _________, 200X           _________ 
         _________, 200X           _________ 
         _________, 200X           _________ 
 
(b)   Acceleration of Vesting Date. 



ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS  

2. Non-Transferability of Award. During the period before the Shares vest, you may not assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of the 
Shares prior to vesting. Any attempt to assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of the unvested Shares contrary to the provisions hereof, and 
the levy of any execution, attachment or similar process upon the unvested Shares, shall be null and void and without effect.  

3. Right to Vote and to Receive Dividends. You will have the right to vote unvested Shares and receive any dividends or other distributions paid 
on unvested Shares. In the event of a dividend or distribution payable in stock or other property or a reclassification, split up or similar event 
during the period in which the Shares are unvested, the shares or other property issued or delivered with respect to the unvested Shares shall be 
subject to the same terms and conditions relating to vesting as the Shares to which they relate.  

4. Forfeiture of Shares. If you incur a Termination of Service for any reason before the Shares are fully vested, the Shares that are not then vested 
shall be forfeited and must be immediately returned to the Company. In addition, if the Committee (as defined in the Plan) determines, in good 
faith, that you have breached any non-compete, non-solicitation or confidentiality agreement with the Company at any time, you will 
immediately forfeit all unvested Shares and all vested Shares, and all Shares must be immediately returned to the Company.  

5. Change of Control. The provisions of the Plan applicable to a Change of Control shall apply to the Shares, and, in the event of a Change of 
Control, the Committee may take such actions as it deems appropriate pursuant to the Plan.  

6. Incorporation by Reference; Definitions. This Award shall be subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the Plan, which are 
incorporated herein by reference. In the event of any contradiction, distinction or difference between this Award Agreement and the terms of the 
Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Except as otherwise defined in this Award Agreement, the terms used in this Award Agreement shall 
have the meanings set forth in the Plan. The Award is subject to the interpretations, regulations and determinations concerning the Plan 
established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, provisions pertaining 
to (i) rights and obligations with respect to the withholding of taxes, (ii) the registration, qualification or listing of the shares, (iii) changes in 
capitalization of the Company, and (iv) other requirements of applicable law. The Committee shall have the authority to interpret and construe 
the Award pursuant to the terms of the Plan, its decisions shall be conclusive as to any questions arising hereunder, and your acceptance of this 
Award is you agreement to be bound by the interpretations and decisions of the Committee with respect to this Award and the Plan.  

7. Issuance of Certificates.  

(a) Stock certificates representing the Shares may be issued by the Company and held in escrow by the Company until the Shares vest, or the 
Company may hold non-certificated shares until the Shares vest.  

(b) When you obtain a vested right to the Shares, a certificate representing the vested shares shall be issued to you, free of the restrictions under 
Paragraph 1 of this Award.  

8. Withholding. You are required to pay to the Company, or make other arrangements satisfactory to the Company to provide for the payment of, 
any federal, state, local or other  
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taxes that the Company is required to withhold with respect to the grant or vesting of this Award. Subject to Committee approval, you may elect 
to satisfy any tax withholding obligation of the Company with respect to this Award by having shares withheld up to an amount that does not 
exceed the minimum applicable withholding tax rate for federal (including FICA), state, local and other tax liabilities.  

9. No Employment or Other Rights. This Award shall not confer upon you any right to be retained by or in the employ or service of the 
Company or its parent or subsidiaries, and shall not interfere in any way with the right of the Company or its parent or subsidiaries to terminate 
your employment or service at any time. The right of the Company or its parent or subsidiaries to terminate at will your employment or service 
at any time for any reason is specifically reserved.  

10. Assignment by Company. The rights and protections of the Company hereunder shall extend to any successors or assigns of the Company 
and to the Company's parent or subsidiaries and affiliates. This Award may be assigned by the Company without your consent.  

11. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be deemed to be made under and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Delaware.  

12. Notice. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, and if to the Company or the Committee, shall be delivered to the Board of Directors of the 
Company or mailed to its principal office, addressed to the attention of the Board of Directors; and if to you, shall be delivered personally sent 
by facsimile transmission or mailed to you at the address appearing in the records of the Company. Such addresses may be changed at any time 
by written notice to the other party given in accordance with this Paragraph 13.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP OPERATIONS, INC.  

 

I hereby accept the Share Award described in this Restricted Share Agreement. I have read the terms of the Plan and this Restricted Share 
Agreement, and agree to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Restricted Share Agreement and the interpretations of the Committee with 
respect thereto.  

ACCEPTED:  

By: ____________________________________  
__________________ (Grantee)  

- 3 -  

Date: ___________________________       By: ____________________________________ 
                                            Walter W. Buckley, III 
                                            Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
                                            and President 
 
Attest: 
 
By:______________________________ 
   Philip A. Rooney 
   Vice President, Treasury and Tax 
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RESTRICTED SHARE AGREEMENT  

On this, the 3rd day of March, 2004, Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc, a Delaware corporation (together with Internet Capital Group, Inc., 
a Delaware corporation, (collectively the "Company")), hereby grants to ____________ a Restricted Share Award (the "Award"), of ______ 
shares (the "Shares") of the common stock in the Company subject to the restrictions below and pursuant to and subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (the "Plan"). This award is comprised of 4 components.  

1. _________ shares will vest annually over 4 years,  

2. _________ shares will vest upon achievement of positive net income for 3 consecutive quarters,  

3. _________ shares will vest when the stock price is above $1.00 for 30 consecutive trading days, and  

4. _________ shares will vest when the stock price is above $1.50 for 30 consecutive trading days.  

GENERAL PROVISIONS  

1. Vesting and Term.  

(a)(1) Except as provided in Paragraph 1(b) below, you will vest in your right to _________ of the Shares granted under this Award according to 
the following vesting schedule  

 

(a)(2) Except as provided in Paragraph 1(b) below, you will vest in your right to _________ of the Shares granted under this Award at the earlier 
of (i) March 3, 2008, or (ii) the second business day after the Company announces positive net income for a 3rd consecutive quarter.  

(a)(3) Except as provided in Paragraph 1(b) below, you will vest in your right to _________ of the Shares granted under this Award at the earlier 
of (i) March 3, 2008, or (ii) the day after the Company's reported closing stock price on the NASDAQ Small Cap, or other national exchange or 
automated quotation system for which public quotations are readily available, is at or above $1.00 for 30 consecutive trading days.  

(a)(4) Except as provided in Paragraph 1(b) below, you will vest in your right to _________ of the Shares granted under this Award at the earlier 
of (i) March 3, 2008, or (ii) the day after the Company's reported closing stock price on the NASDAQ Small Cap, or other national exchange or 
automated quotation system for which public quotations are readily available, is at or above $1.50 for 30 consecutive trading days.  

For purposes of Paragraphs (a)(3) and (a)(4), the following additional rules will apply:  

March 3, 2005                      _________ 
March 3, 2006                      _________ 
March 5, 2007                      _________ 
March 3, 2008                      _________ 



1. The stock price thresholds shall be adjusted for stock splits, mergers, dividends, and items of a similar nature after the date hereof and prior to 
the vesting date,  

2. In no event will shares vest on a day when the Company's standing policy on insider trading, or any other time declared by the Company, 
prohibits trading in the Company's securities by employees. In such case, the vesting date will be the first date on which trading in the 
Company's securities is permitted that is after the date the applicable performance measurement has been met, and  

3. The time period referred to in Paragraph (a)(4) can not include any days included in the time period for which the performance measurement 
in Paragraph (a)(3) is considered satisfied.  

(b) Acceleration of Vesting Date.  

(1) Termination of Service on Account of Involuntary Termination Without Cause Within One Year After Change of Control. Unless otherwise 
stipulated in an employment agreement with the Company, if you incur a Termination of Service (as defined in the Plan) on account of an 
involuntary termination without Cause (as defined in the Plan) prior to the Vesting Date and within one (1) year after a Change of Control (as 
defined in the Plan), your Shares will become fully vested on your termination date.  

(2) Termination of Service on Account of Involuntary Termination without Cause. Unless otherwise stipulated in an employment agreement with 
the company, if you incur a Termination of Service on account of an involuntary termination without Cause prior to the Vesting Date, you will 
receive pro-rated vesting at the rate of 2.083% per month through your termination date plus <<accel>> months additional vesting in the Shares 
up to 100% vesting.  

(3) Termination of Service on Account of Death, Disability, or Retirement. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of death, your 
Disability (as defined in the Plan), or your Retirement (as defined in the Plan), you will receive pro-rated vesting at the rate of 2.083% per month 
through your termination date.  

(4) Termination of Service on Account of Cause. No Shares shall be vested on an accelerated basis if you incur a Termination of Service on 
account of Cause.  

(5) Termination of Service for Any Other Reason. No Shares shall be vested on an accelerated basis if you incur a Termination of Service on 
account of any reason other than that listed above in this Paragraph 1(b).  

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS  

2. Non-Transferability of Award. During the period before the Shares vest, you may not assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of the 
Shares prior to vesting. Any attempt to assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of the unvested Shares contrary to the provisions hereof, and 
the levy of any execution, attachment or similar process upon the unvested Shares, shall be null and void and without effect.  

3. Right to Vote and to Receive Dividends. You will have the right to vote unvested Shares and receive any dividends or other distributions paid 
on unvested Shares. In the event of  
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a dividend or distribution payable in stock or other property or a reclassification, split up or similar event during the period in which the Shares 
are unvested, the shares or other property issued or delivered with respect to the unvested Shares shall be subject to the same terms and 
conditions relating to vesting as the Shares to which they relate.  

4. Forfeiture of Shares. If you incur a Termination of Service for any reason before the Shares are fully vested, the Shares that are not then vested 
shall be forfeited and must be immediately returned to the Company. In addition, if the Committee (as defined in the Plan) determines, in good 
faith, that you have breached any non-compete, non-solicitation or confidentiality agreement with the Company at any time, you will 
immediately forfeit all unvested Shares and all vested Shares, and all Shares must be immediately returned to the Company.  

5. Change of Control. The provisions of the Plan applicable to a Change of Control shall apply to the Shares, and, in the event of a Change of 
Control, the Committee may take such actions as it deems appropriate pursuant to the Plan.  

6. Incorporation by Reference; Definitions. This Award shall be subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the Plan, which are 
incorporated herein by reference. In the event of any contradiction, distinction or difference between this Award Agreement and the terms of the 
Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Except as otherwise defined in this Award Agreement, the terms used in this Award Agreement shall 
have the meanings set forth in the Plan. The Award is subject to the interpretations, regulations and determinations concerning the Plan 
established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, provisions pertaining 
to (i) rights and obligations with respect to the withholding of taxes, (ii) the registration, qualification or listing of the shares, (iii) changes in 
capitalization of the Company, and (iv) other requirements of applicable law. The Committee shall have the authority to interpret and construe 
the Award pursuant to the terms of the Plan, its decisions shall be conclusive as to any questions arising hereunder, and your acceptance of this 
Award is you agreement to be bound by the interpretations and decisions of the Committee with respect to this Award and the Plan.  

7. Issuance of Certificates.  

(a) Stock certificates representing the Shares may be issued by the Company and held in escrow by the Company until the Shares vest, or the 
Company may hold non-certificated shares until the Shares vest.  

(b) When you obtain a vested right to the Shares, a certificate representing the vested shares shall be issued to you, free of the restrictions under 
Paragraph 1 of this Award.  

8. Withholding. You are required to pay to the Company, or make other arrangements satisfactory to the Company to provide for the payment of, 
any federal, state, local or other taxes that the Company is required to withhold with respect to the grant or vesting of this Award. Subject to 
Committee approval, you may elect to satisfy any tax withholding obligation of the Company with respect to this Award by having shares 
withheld up to an amount that does not exceed the minimum applicable withholding tax rate for federal (including FICA), state, local and other 
tax liabilities.  

9. No Employment or Other Rights. This Award shall not confer upon you any right to be retained by or in the employ or service of the 
Company or its parent or subsidiaries, and shall not interfere in any way with the right of the Company or its parent or subsidiaries to terminate 
your employment or service at any time. The right of the Company or its parent or subsidiaries to terminate at will your employment or service 
at any time for any reason is specifically reserved.  
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10. Assignment by Company. The rights and protections of the Company hereunder shall extend to any successors or assigns of the Company 
and to the Company's parent or subsidiaries and affiliates. This Award may be assigned by the Company without your consent.  

11. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be deemed to be made under and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Delaware.  

12. Notice. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, and if to the Company or the Committee, shall be delivered to the Board of Directors of the 
Company or mailed to its principal office, addressed to the attention of the Board of Directors; and if to you, shall be delivered personally sent 
by facsimile transmission or mailed to you at the address appearing in the records of the Company. Such addresses may be changed at any time 
by written notice to the other party given in accordance with this Paragraph 13.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP OPERATIONS, INC.  

 

I hereby accept the Share Award described in this Restricted Share Agreement. I have read the terms of the Plan and this Restricted Share 
Agreement, and agree to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Restricted Share Agreement and the interpretations of the Committee with 
respect thereto.  

ACCEPTED:  

By: ____________________________________  
___________________ (Grantee)  

- 4 -  

Date: __________________________        By: ____________________________________ 
                                            Walter W. Buckley, III 
                                            Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
                                            and President 
 
Attest: 
 
By: _____________________________ 
    Philip A. Rooney 
    Vice President, Treasury and Tax 
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STOCK OPTION CERTIFICATE  

Internet Capital Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), hereby grants, on the grant date shown below (the "Date of Grant") to the 
grantee named below (the "Grantee") an option (this "Option") to purchase the total number of shares shown below of the common stock of the 
Company (the "Shares") at the exercise price per share set forth below, subject to all of the terms and conditions on both sides of this Stock 
Option Certificate (the "Certificate") and the _________ Equity Compensation Plan (the "Plan"). The terms and conditions of the Plan are 
incorporated herein by reference.  

 

I hereby accept the Option grant described in this Stock Option Certificate. I have read the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate, 
and agree to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate and the interpretations of the Committee (as defined in the Plan) 
with respect thereto.  

Accepted by:  

Grantee  

In witness whereof, this Stock Option Certificate has been executed by the Company by a duly authorized officer as of the date specified hereon. 

Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

Name  
Title  

 
Name, Witness  

Vesting. Subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 2(f) and 2(g), you will vest in the Option as follows:  

1.  

a. _________ of the granted shares underlying the Option will vest upon the first year anniversary of the Date of Grant, if you are an Employee 
(as defined in the Plan), Non-Employee Director (as defined in the Plan), or Key Advisor (as defined in the Plan) at that time;  

b. Following the first year anniversary of the Grant Date, _________ of the Shares underlying the Option will vest on the _________ day of each 
month that you are an Employee (as defined in the Plan), Non-Employee Director (as defined in the Plan), or Key Advisor (as defined in the 
Plan). (i.e., equal monthly vesting over the next 36 months).  

2. Term; Termination of The Option. This Option will terminate on the occurrence of the earliest to occur of the following dates:  

a. Term of Option. The Option terminates ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, or upon the liquidation of the Company, if earlier. If you have 
not fully exercised the Option prior to that date, you will not be permitted to exercise, and will forfeit any remaining portion of, the Option. The 
Option will also expire and be forfeited at such times and in such circumstances as otherwise provided in this Certificate or under the Plan.  

b. Termination on Death. If you incur a Termination of Service (as defined in the Plan) on account of your death, or if you die within ninety (90) 
days after you cease to be so employed on account of a termination identified in Paragraphs 2(g) and 2(h) the vested portion of the Option shall 
terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) the term of the 
Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of Service.  

c. Termination on Disability. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of you incurring a Disability (as defined in the Plan), the vested 
portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of 

GRANTEE:                   _________ 
TYPE OF OPTION:            Incentive Stock Option or 
                           Nonqualified Stock Option 
 
SHARES SUBJECT TO OPTION:  _________ 
EXERCISE PRICE PER SHARE:  $_________ 
DATE OF GRANT:             _________ 
TERM OF OPTION:            10 years 



Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the 
Termination of Service. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any portion of the Option not exercised within the one (1) 
year period after you cease to be an Employee on account of Disability, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  

d. Termination on Retirement. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of your Retirement (as defined in the Plan), any vested portion 
of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) 
the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the Termination of 
Service. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any portion of the Option not exercised within the three (3) month period 
after you cease to be an Employee on account of Retirement, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  

e. Termination for Cause. If you incur a Termination Service on account of a termination for Cause (as defined in the Plan), the Option will 
immediately terminate on the date of such Termination of Service and you will forfeit all Shares underlying any exercised portion of the Option 
for which the Company has not delivered certificates, and the Company shall refund to you the price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price 
Per Share you paid for such Shares or (ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such Termination of 
Service.  

f. Termination on Change of Control. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of an involuntary termination without Cause within one 
(1) year after a Change of Control (as defined in the Plan), the Option will immediately become fully vested upon such Termination of Service. 
The Option will remain exercisable until the last day of the term of the Option. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any 
portion of the Option not exercised within the three (3) month period after you cease to be an Employee on account of an involuntary termination 
without Cause within one  
(1) year after a Change of Control, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  

g. Involuntary Termination Without Cause. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of an involuntary termination without Cause, 
except as provided in Paragraph 2(f), the vesting of the Option will be pro-rated from the Date of Grant to your Termination of Service and the 
unvested portion of the Option will become accelerated so that you will have an additional 12 months of vesting on the date of such Termination 
of Service. The vested portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) 24 months after your Termination of 
Service, (ii) the point in time at which the Shares trade at $10 or more for at least twenty (20) consecutive trading days after your Termination of 
Service, or (iii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination 
of Service. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any portion of the Option not exercised within the three (3) month period 
after you cease to be an Employee on account of an involuntary termination without Cause, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  

h. Termination for Any Other Reason. If you incur a Termination of Service for any reason other than as identified in this Paragraph 2, any 
vested portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days after you incur such Termination of 
Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination 
of Service.  

3. Exercise Prior to Vesting. Although you can exercise the Option at any time, the Shares that you receive will remain subject to the vesting 
provisions set forth in Paragraph 1. If you exercise any portion of the Option prior to satisfying those vesting provisions, (A) any unvested 
Shares will remain subject to the vesting schedule set forth in Paragraph 1, and to the restrictions applicable to Restricted Shares (as defined in 
the Plan) as provided in Section 8 of the Plan, and (B) the Company may (but has no obligation to) at any time on or after your Termination of 
Service repurchase any then unvested Shares for a price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price Per Share you paid for such Shares or  
(ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such repurchase.  

4. Method of Exercising The Option.  
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a. Notice. When you want to exercise any portion of the Option, you must give written notice to the Company specifying the number of Shares 
that you would like to purchase.  

b. Method of Payment. To exercise the Option, you must pay to the Company the Exercise Price, (i) in cash, (ii) if approved by the Committee, 
by delivering Shares that you currently own in accordance with Section 5(f)(y) of the Plan, or (iii) by any other method of payment that the 
Committee may approve. Payment must be made at the principal office of the Company.  

c. The obligation of the Company to deliver Shares upon exercise of the Option shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations and 
such approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed appropriate by the Committee, including such actions as Company counsel shall 
deem necessary or appropriate to comply with relevant securities laws and regulations. You understand that you are responsible for the income 
tax consequences of your exercise of the Option and the sale of Shares and, among other tax consequences, you understand that you may be 
subject to the alternative minimum tax under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") in the year in which the Option is 
exercised. The Company may require that you (or the person exercising the Option pursuant to a transfer in accordance with Paragraph 7) 
represent that you are purchasing the Shares for your own account and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution of the 
Shares, or such other representation as the Committee deems appropriate. All obligations of the Company under this Certificate shall be subject 
to the rights of the Company as set forth in the Plan to withhold amounts required to be withheld for any taxes, if applicable. Subject to 
Committee approval, you may elect to satisfy any tax withholding obligation of the Company with respect to the Option by having Shares 
withheld up to an amount that does not exceed the minimum applicable withholding tax rate for federal (including FICA), state and local tax 
liabilities.  

5. Designation as Incentive Stock Option. If this Option is designated as an Incentive Stock Option under section 422 of the Code, this Paragraph 
5 applies to the Option.  

a. If the aggregate fair market value of the Shares on the Date of Grant with respect to which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first 
time by you during any calendar year, under the Plan or any other stock option plan of the Company or a parent or a subsidiary of the Company, 
exceeds $100,000, then the Option, as to the excess, shall be treated as a nonqualified stock option that does not meet the requirements of section 
422. If and to the extent that the Option fails to qualify as an incentive stock option under the Code, the Option shall remain outstanding 
according to its terms as a nonqualified stock option.  

b. If you dispose of Shares acquired upon exercise of the Option, or a portion thereof, in a disqualifying disposition within the meaning of 
section 422 of the Code prior to the expiration of the later of either (i) two years from the Date of Grant of the Option or (ii) one year from the 
transfer of Shares to you pursuant to the exercise of the Option, or in any other disqualifying disposition within the meaning of section 422 of the 
Code, you must notify the Company in writing as soon as practicable thereafter of the date and terms of such disposition and, if the Company 
thereupon has a tax-withholding obligation, must pay to the Company an amount equal to any withholding tax the Company is required to pay as 
a result of the disqualifying disposition.  

c. You understand that favorable incentive stock option tax treatment is available only if the Option is exercised while you are an Employee or 
within a time specified in the Code after you cease to be an Employee. You should consult with your tax advisor regarding the tax consequences 
of the Option.  

6. Reorganization or Change of Control. The provisions of the Plan applicable to a Reorganization (as defined in the Plan) or a Change of 
Control shall apply to the Option, and, in the event of a Reorganization or a Change of Control, the Committee may take such actions as it deems 
appropriate pursuant to the Plan.  

7. Transferability of The Option.  

a. Incentive Stock Option. If this Option is designated as an Incentive Stock Option, only you may exercise the Option during your lifetime. 
After your death, the Option shall be exercisable (subject to the limitations specified in the Plan) solely by your legal representatives, or by the 
person who acquires the right to exercise the Option by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, to the extent that the Option is exercisable 
pursuant to this Certificate.  

b. Nonqualified Stock Option. If this Option is designated as a Nonqualified Stock Option, you may transfer the Option only: (a) by will or the 
laws of descent and distribution or (b) to (i) your spouse, children or grandchildren ("Immediate Family Members"), (ii) a trust or trusts for the 
exclusive benefit of you or such Immediate Family Members (or both), (iii) a partnership in which you or such Immediate Family Members (or 
both) are the only partners or (iv) a corporation wholly owned by you or such Immediate Family Members (or both), provided that (w) the 
transfer does not result in accelerated federal income tax, (x) you do not receive any consideration, (y) the transferred Option continues to be 
subject to the same terms and conditions as it was immediately before the transfer, provided that the provisions of this Certificate and the Plan 
shall be deemed to apply to the transferee where the context so requires, and (z) the transfer complies with such other terms and conditions as 
determined by the Committee. Except as set forth above, the Option is exercisable only by you during your lifetime.  

8. Incorporation by Reference; Entire Agreement; Definitions. This Option shall be subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the Plan 
and to interpretations, regulations and determinations concerning the Plan established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the 
provisions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, provisions pertaining to (i) rights and obligations with respect to withholding taxes, (ii) the 



registration, qualification or listing of the Shares,  
(iii) changes in capitalization of the Company, and (iv) other requirements of applicable law. This Certificate, together with the Plan, contains 
the entire agreement between you and the Company with respect to the Option and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 
written or oral, with respect thereto. In the event of any contradiction, distinction or differences between this Certificate and the terms of the 
Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Except as otherwise defined in this Certificate, the terms used in this Certificate shall have the meanings 
set forth in the Plan.  

9. No Stockholder Rights. Neither you, nor any person or entity you transfer the Option pursuant to Paragraph 7, shall have any of the rights and 
privileges of a stockholder with respect to the Shares subject to the Option, until certificates for Shares have been issued upon the exercise of the 
Option.  

10. Assignment and Transfers. Your rights and interests under this Certificate may not be sold, assigned, encumbered or otherwise transferred 
except as provided in Paragraph 7. In the event of any attempt by you to alienate, assign, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of this 
Option or any right hereunder, except as provided for in this Certificate, or in the event of the levy of any attachment, execution or similar 
process upon the rights or interests hereby conferred, the Company may terminate the Option by notice to you, and the Option and all rights 
hereunder shall thereupon become null and void. The rights and protections of the Company hereunder shall extend to any successors or assigns 
of the Company and to the Company's parent, subsidiaries, and affiliates. This Certificate may be assigned by the Company without your 
consent.  

11. Governing Law. This Certificate shall be deemed to be made under and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Delaware, without giving effect to conflict of laws provisions thereof.  

12. Miscellaneous.  

a. The captions of this Certificate are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This Certificate may not be amended or 
modified except by a written agreement executed by you, or your legal representative, as applicable, and by the Company, or by its successors or 
legal representative, as applicable. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Certificate shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision of this Certificate.  

b. The Committee may make such rules and regulations and establish such procedures for the administration of this Certificate as it deems 
appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee may interpret this Certificate and the Plan, with such interpretations 
to be conclusive and binding on all persons and otherwise accorded the maximum deference permitted by law. In the event of any dispute or 
disagreement as to the interpretation of this Certificate, the Plan or of any rule, regulation or procedure, or as to any question, right or obligation 
arising from or related to this Certificate or the Plan, the decision of the Committee shall be final and binding on all persons, and your accepting 
this Option is your agreement to this.  

c. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, and if to the Company or the Committee, shall be delivered to the Board of Directors of the 
Company or mailed to its principal office, addressed to the attention of the Board of Directors; and if to you, shall be delivered personally, sent 
by facsimile transmission or mailed to you at the address appearing in the records of the Company. Such addresses may be changed at any time 
by written notice to the other party given in accordance with this Paragraph 12(c).  

d. The failure of you or the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Certificate or the Plan, or to assert any right that 
you or the Company, respectively, may have under this Certificate or the Plan, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or 
any other provision or right of this Certificate or the Plan.  

e. Nothing in this Certificate shall confer on you the right to continue in the employment or service of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, or 
interfere in any way with the right of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, and its stockholders to terminate your employment or service at 
any time.  

Grantee's Initials:________  
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STOCK OPTION CERTIFICATE  

Internet Capital Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), hereby grants, on the grant date shown below (the "Date of Grant") to the 
grantee named below (the "Grantee") an option (this "Option") to purchase the total number of shares shown below of the common stock of the 
Company (the "Shares") at the exercise price per share set forth below, subject to all of the terms and conditions on both sides of this Stock 
Option Certificate (the "Certificate") and the Company's 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (the "Plan"). The terms and conditions of the Plan are 
incorporated herein by reference.  

 

I hereby accept the Option grant described in this Stock Option Certificate. I have read the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate, 
and agree to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate and the interpretations of the Committee (as defined in the Plan) 
with respect thereto.  

Accepted by:  

Grantee  

In witness whereof, this Stock Option Certificate has been executed by the Company by a duly authorized officer as of the date specified hereon. 

Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

Name  
Title  

 
Name, Witness  

Vesting. Subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 2(f) and 2(g), you will vest in the Option as follows:  

1.  

a. _________ of the granted shares underlying the Option will vest upon the first year anniversary of the Date of Grant, if you are an Employee 
(as defined in the Plan), Non-Employee Director (as defined in the Plan), or Key Advisor (as defined in the Plan) at that time;  

b. Following the first year anniversary of the Grant Date, _________ of the Shares underlying the Option will vest on the _________ day of each 
month that you are an Employee (as defined in the Plan), Non-Employee Director (as defined in the Plan), or Key Advisor (as defined in the 
Plan). (i.e., equal monthly vesting over the next 36 months).  

2.  

a. ________ of the granted shares underlying the Option will vest 100% upon the fourth year anniversary of the Date of Grant with 100% 
accelerated vesting upon achievement of aggregate positive EBITDA for two consecutive quarters of the following companies, Blackboard, Inc., 
BuyMedia, Inc., Commerce Quest, Inc., CreditTrade, Inc., eCredit.com, Inc., Freeborders, Inc., Go Industry AG, ICG Commerce, Inc., Investor 
Force Holdings, Inc., iSky, Inc., LinkShare Corporation, Mobility Technologies, Inc., One Coast Network, Inc., and Syncra Systems, Inc., if you 
are an Employee (as defined in the Plan), Non-Employee Director (as defined in the Plan), or Key Advisor (as defined in the Plan) at that time. If 
the Company no longer has a financial interest in a named company, the company will be excluded from the calculation of the aggregate 
EBITDA.  

3.  

a. _________ of the granted shares underlying the Option will vest 100% upon the fourth year anniversary of the Date of Grant with 100% 

GRANTEE:                   _________ 
TYPE OF OPTION:            Incentive Stock Option or 
                           Nonqualified Stock Option 
 
SHARES SUBJECT TO OPTION:  _________ 
EXERCISE PRICE PER SHARE:  $_________ 
DATE OF GRANT:             _________ 
TERM OF OPTION:            10 years 



accelerated vesting upon achievement of ICG positive net income for two consecutive quarters, if you are an Employee (as defined in the Plan), 
Non-Employee Director (as defined in the Plan), or Key Advisor (as defined in the Plan) at that time.  

2. Term; Termination of The Option. This Option will terminate on the occurrence of the earliest to occur of the following dates:  

a. Term of Option. The Option terminates ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, or upon the liquidation of the Company, if earlier. If you have 
not fully exercised the Option prior to that date, you will not be permitted to exercise, and will forfeit any remaining portion of, the Option. The 
Option will also expire and be forfeited at such times and in such circumstances as otherwise provided in this Certificate or under the Plan.  

b. Termination on Death. If you incur a Termination of Service (as defined in the Plan) on account of your death, or if you die within ninety (90) 
days after you cease to be so employed on account of a termination identified in Paragraphs 2(g) and 2(h) the vested portion of the Option shall 
terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) the term of the 
Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of Service.  

c. Termination on Disability. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of you incurring a Disability (as defined in the Plan), the vested 
portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of 
Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the 
Termination of Service. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any portion of the Option not exercised within the one (1) 
year period after you cease to be an Employee on account of Disability, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  

d. Termination on Retirement. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of your Retirement (as defined in the Plan), any vested portion 
of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) 
the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the Termination of 
Service. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any portion of the Option not exercised within the three (3) month period 
after you cease to be an Employee on account of Retirement, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  

e. Termination for Cause. If you incur a Termination Service on account of a termination for Cause (as defined in the Plan), the Option will 
immediately terminate on the date of such Termination of Service and you will forfeit all Shares underlying any exercised portion of the Option 
for which the Company has not delivered certificates, and the Company shall refund to you the price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price 
Per Share you paid for such Shares or (ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such Termination of 
Service.  

f. Termination on Change of Control. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of an involuntary termination without Cause within one 
(1) year after a Change of Control (as defined in the Plan), the Option will immediately become fully vested upon such Termination of Service. 
The Option will remain exercisable until the last day of the term of the Option. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any 
portion of the Option not exercised within the three (3) month period after you cease to be an Employee on account of an involuntary termination 
without Cause within one (1) year after a Change of Control, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  

g. Involuntary Termination Without Cause. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of an involuntary termination without Cause, 
except as provided in Paragraph 2(f), the vesting of the Option will be pro-rated from the Date of Grant to your Termination of Service and the 
unvested portion of the Option will become accelerated so that you will have an additional 12 months of vesting on the date of such Termination 
of Service. The vested portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) 24 months after your Termination of 
Service,  
(ii) the point in time at which the Shares trade at $10 or more for at least twenty (20) consecutive trading days after your Termination of Service, 
or (iii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of 
Service. To the extent that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, any portion of the Option not exercised within the three (3) month period 
after you cease to be an Employee on account of an involuntary termination without Cause, shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.  
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h. Termination for Any Other Reason. If you incur a Termination of Service for any reason other than as identified in this Paragraph 2, any 
vested portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days after you incur such Termination of 
Service, or  
(ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of Service.  

3. Exercise Prior to Vesting. Although you can exercise the Option at any time, the Shares that you receive will remain subject to the vesting 
provisions set forth in Paragraph 1. If you exercise any portion of the Option prior to satisfying those vesting provisions, (A) any unvested 
Shares will remain subject to the vesting schedule set forth in Paragraph 1, and to the restrictions applicable to Restricted Shares (as defined in 
the Plan) as provided in Section 8 of the Plan, and (B) the Company may (but has no obligation to) at any time on or after your Termination of 
Service repurchase any then unvested Shares for a price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price Per Share you paid for such Shares or (ii) the 
Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such repurchase.  

4. Method of Exercising The Option.  

a. Notice. When you want to exercise any portion of the Option, you must give written notice to the Company specifying the number of Shares 
that you would like to purchase.  

b. Method of Payment. To exercise the Option, you must pay to the Company the Exercise Price, (i) in cash, (ii) if approved by the Committee, 
by delivering Shares that you currently own in accordance with Section 5(f)(y) of the Plan, or (iii) by any other method of payment that the 
Committee may approve. Payment must be made at the principal office of the Company.  

c. The obligation of the Company to deliver Shares upon exercise of the Option shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations and 
such approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed appropriate by the Committee, including such actions as Company counsel shall 
deem necessary or appropriate to comply with relevant securities laws and regulations. You understand that you are responsible for the income 
tax consequences of your exercise of the Option and the sale of Shares and, among other tax consequences, you understand that you may be 
subject to the alternative minimum tax under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") in the year in which the Option is 
exercised. The Company may require that you (or the person exercising the Option pursuant to a transfer in accordance with Paragraph 7) 
represent that you are purchasing the Shares for your own account and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution of the 
Shares, or such other representation as the Committee deems appropriate. All obligations of the Company under this Certificate shall be subject 
to the rights of the Company as set forth in the Plan to withhold amounts required to be withheld for any taxes, if applicable. Subject to 
Committee approval, you may elect to satisfy any tax withholding obligation of the Company with respect to the Option by having Shares 
withheld up to an amount that does not exceed the minimum applicable withholding tax rate for federal (including FICA), state and local tax 
liabilities.  

5. Designation as Incentive Stock Option. If this Option is designated as an Incentive Stock Option under section 422 of the Code, this Paragraph 
5 applies to the Option.  

a. If the aggregate fair market value of the Shares on the Date of Grant with respect to which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first 
time by you during any calendar year, under the Plan or any other stock option plan of the Company or a parent or a subsidiary of the Company, 
exceeds $100,000, then the Option, as to the excess, shall be treated as a nonqualified stock option that does not meet the requirements of section 
 
422. If and to the extent that the Option fails to qualify as an incentive stock option under the Code, the Option shall remain outstanding 
according to its terms as a nonqualified stock option.  

b. If you dispose of Shares acquired upon exercise of the Option, or a portion thereof, in a disqualifying disposition within the meaning of 
section 422 of the Code prior to the expiration of the later of either (i) two years from the Date of Grant of the Option or (ii) one year from the 
transfer of Shares to you pursuant to the exercise of the Option, or in any other disqualifying disposition within the meaning of section 422 of the 
Code, you must notify the Company in writing as soon as practicable thereafter of the date and terms of such disposition and, if the Company 
thereupon has a tax-withholding obligation, must pay to the Company an amount equal to any withholding tax the Company is required to pay as 
a result of the disqualifying disposition.  

c. You understand that favorable incentive stock option tax treatment is available only if the Option is exercised while you are an Employee or 
within a time specified in the Code after you cease to be an Employee. You should consult with your tax advisor regarding the tax consequences 
of the Option.  

6. Reorganization or Change of Control. The provisions of the Plan applicable to a Reorganization (as defined in the Plan) or a Change of 
Control shall apply to the Option, and, in the event of a Reorganization or a Change of Control, the Committee may take such actions as it deems 
appropriate pursuant to the Plan.  

7. Transferability of The Option.  

a. Incentive Stock Option. If this Option is designated as an Incentive Stock Option, only you may exercise the Option during your lifetime. 
After your death, the Option shall be exercisable (subject to the limitations specified in the Plan) solely by your legal representatives, or by the 



person who acquires the right to exercise the Option by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, to the extent that the Option is exercisable 
pursuant to this Certificate.  

b. Nonqualified Stock Option. If this Option is designated as a Nonqualified Stock Option, you may transfer the Option only: (a) by will or the 
laws of descent and distribution or (b) to (i) your spouse, children or grandchildren ("Immediate Family Members"), (ii) a trust or trusts for the 
exclusive benefit of you or such Immediate Family Members (or both), (iii) a partnership in which you or such Immediate Family Members (or 
both) are the only partners or (iv) a corporation wholly owned by you or such Immediate Family Members (or both), provided that (w) the 
transfer does not result in accelerated federal income tax, (x) you do not receive any consideration, (y) the transferred Option continues to be 
subject to the same terms and conditions as it was immediately before the transfer, provided that the provisions of this Certificate and the Plan 
shall be deemed to apply to the transferee where the context so requires, and (z) the transfer complies with such other terms and conditions as 
determined by the Committee. Except as set forth above, the Option is exercisable only by you during your lifetime.  

8. Incorporation by Reference; Entire Agreement; Definitions. This Option shall be subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the Plan 
and to interpretations, regulations and determinations concerning the Plan established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the 
provisions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, provisions pertaining to (i) rights and obligations with respect to withholding taxes, (ii) the 
registration, qualification or listing of the Shares, (iii) changes in capitalization of the Company, and (iv) other requirements of applicable law. 
This Certificate, together with the Plan, contains the entire agreement between you and the Company with respect to the Option and supersedes 
all prior and contemporaneous agreements, written or oral, with respect thereto. In the event of any contradiction, distinction or differences 
between this Certificate and the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Except as otherwise defined in this Certificate, the terms 
used in this Certificate shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.  

9. No Stockholder Rights. Neither you, nor any person or entity you transfer the Option pursuant to Paragraph 7, shall have any of the rights and 
privileges of a stockholder with respect to the Shares subject to the Option, until certificates for Shares have been issued upon the exercise of the 
Option.  

10. Assignment and Transfers. Your rights and interests under this Certificate may not be sold, assigned, encumbered or otherwise transferred 
except as provided in Paragraph 7. In the event of any attempt by you to alienate, assign, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of this 
Option or any right hereunder, except as provided for in this Certificate, or in the event of the levy of any attachment, execution or similar 
process upon the rights or interests hereby conferred, the Company may terminate the Option by notice to you, and the Option and all rights 
hereunder shall thereupon become null and void. The rights and protections of the Company hereunder shall extend to any successors or assigns 
of the Company and to the Company's parent, subsidiaries, and affiliates. This Certificate may be assigned by the Company without your 
consent.  

11. Governing Law. This Certificate shall be deemed to be made under and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Delaware, without giving effect to conflict of laws provisions thereof.  

12. Miscellaneous.  

a. The captions of this Certificate are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This Certificate may not be amended or 
modified except by a written agreement executed by you, or your legal representative, as applicable, and by the Company, or by its successors or 
legal representative, as applicable. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Certificate shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision of this Certificate.  

b. The Committee may make such rules and regulations and establish such procedures for the administration of this Certificate as it deems 
appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee may interpret this Certificate and the Plan, with such interpretations 
to be conclusive and binding on all persons and otherwise accorded the maximum deference permitted by law. In the event of any dispute or 
disagreement as to the interpretation of this Certificate, the Plan or of any rule, regulation or procedure, or as to any question, right or obligation 
arising from or related to this Certificate or the Plan, the decision of the Committee shall be final and binding on all persons, and your accepting 
this Option is your agreement to this.  

c. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, and if to the Company or the Committee, shall be delivered to the Board of Directors of the 
Company or mailed to its principal office, addressed to the attention  
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of the Board of Directors; and if to you, shall be delivered personally, sent by facsimile transmission or mailed to you at the address appearing in 
the records of the Company. Such addresses may be changed at any time by written notice to the other party given in accordance with this 
Paragraph 12(c).  

d. The failure of you or the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Certificate or the Plan, or to assert any right that 
you or the Company, respectively, may have under this Certificate or the Plan, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or 
any other provision or right of this Certificate or the Plan.  

e. Nothing in this Certificate shall confer on you the right to continue in the employment or service of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, or 
interfere in any way with the right of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, and its stockholders to terminate your employment or service at 
any time.  

Grantee's Initials:________  



Exhibit 10.36  

STOCK OPTION CERTIFICATE  

Internet Capital Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), hereby grants, on the grant date shown below (the "Date of Grant"), to the 
grantee named below (the "Grantee") an option (this "Option") to purchase the total number of shares of the common stock of the Company as 
specified below (the "Shares") at the exercise price per share set forth below (the "Exercise Price"), subject to all of the terms and conditions on 
both sides of this Stock Option Certificate (the "Certificate") and the Company's 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (the "Plan"). The terms and 
conditions of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference.  

 

I hereby accept the Option grant described in this Stock Option Certificate. I have read the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate, 
and agree to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate and the interpretations of the Committee (as defined in the Plan) 
with respect thereto.  

Accepted by:  
 

Grantee  

In witness whereof, this Stock Option Certificate has been executed by the Company by a duly authorized officer as of the date specified hereon. 

Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

Walter W. Buckley, III  
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  

 
Luann M. Taiariol, Witness  

1. Vesting. Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 3, you will vest in the Option as follows,  

The Shares underlying the Option will vest 25% on each anniversary of the Date of Grant if you are a Non-Employee Director (as defined in the 
Plan), Key Advisor (as defined in the Plan), or Employee (as defined in the Plan) at that time.  

2. Term; Termination of The Option. This Option will terminate on the occurrence of the earliest to occur of the following dates:  

a. Term of Option. The Option terminates eight (8) years from the Grant Date, or upon the liquidation of the Company, if earlier. If you have not 
fully exercised the Option prior to that date, you will not be permitted to exercise, and will forfeit any remaining portion of, the Option. The 
Option will also expire and be forfeited at such times and in such circumstances as otherwise provided in this Certificate or under the Plan.  

b. Termination on Death. If you incur a Termination of Service (as defined in the Plan) on account of your death, or if you die within ninety (90) 
days after you cease to be so employed on account of a termination identified in Paragraph 2(f), the vested portion of the Option shall terminate 
unless exercised within the earlier of: (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any 
unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of Service.  

c. Termination on Disability. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of you incurring a Disability (as defined in the Plan), the vested 
portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of: (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of 
Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the 
Termination of Service.  

d. Termination on Retirement. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of your Retirement (as defined in the Plan), any vested portion 
of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) 
the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the Termination of 
Service.  

e. Termination for Cause. If you incur a Termination Service on account of a termination for Cause (as defined in the Plan), the Option will 

GRANTEE:                   _________ 
TYPE OF OPTION:            Nonqualified Stock Option 
SHARES SUBJECT TO OPTION:  _________ 
EXERCISE PRICE PER SHARE:  $_________ 
DATE OF GRANT:             _________ 
TERM OF OPTION:            8 years 



immediately terminate on the date of such Termination of Service and you will forfeit all Shares underlying any exercised portion of the Option 
for which the Company has not delivered certificates, and the Company shall refund to you the price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price 
Per Share you paid for such Shares or (ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such Termination of 
Service.  

f. Termination for Any Other Reason. If you incur a Termination of Service for any reason other than as identified in this Paragraph 2, any 
vested portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised by you or a transferee under Paragraph 6, if applicable, within the earlier of (i) 
ninety (90) days after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate 
and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of Service.  

3. Exercise Prior to Vesting. Although you can exercise the Option at any time, the Shares that you receive will remain subject to the vesting 
provisions set forth in Paragraph 1. If you exercise any portion of the Option prior to satisfying those vesting provisions, (A) any unvested 
Shares will remain subject to the vesting schedule set forth in Paragraph 1, and to the restrictions applicable to Restricted Shares (as defined in 
the Plan) as set forth in Section 8 of the Plan, and (B) the Company may (but has no obligation to), at any time on or after your Termination of 
Service, repurchase any then unvested Shares for a price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price per Share you paid for such Shares or  
(ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such repurchase.  

4. Method of Exercising the Option.  

a. Notice. When you want to exercise any portion of the Option, you must give written notice to the Company specifying the number of Shares 
that you would like to purchase.  

b. Method of Payment. To exercise the Option, you must pay to the Company the Exercise Price, (i) in cash, (ii) if approved by the Committee, 
by delivering Shares that you currently own in accordance with Section 5(f)(y) of the Plan, or (iii) by any other method of payment that the 
Committee may approve. Payment must be made at the principal office of the Company.  

c. The obligation of the Company to deliver Shares upon exercise of the Option shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations and 
such approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed appropriate by the Committee, including such actions as Company counsel shall 
deem necessary or appropriate to comply with relevant securities laws and regulations. You understand that you are responsible for the income 
tax consequences of your exercise of the Option and the sale of Shares. The Company may require that you (or the person exercising the Option 
pursuant to a transfer in accordance with Paragraph 6) represent that you are purchasing the Shares for your own account and not with a view to 
or for sale in connection with any distribution of the Shares, or such other representation as the Committee deems appropriate. All obligations of 
the Company under this Certificate shall be subject to the rights of the Company as set forth in the Plan to withhold amounts required to be 
withheld for any taxes, if applicable. Subject to Committee approval, you may elect to satisfy any tax withholding obligation of the Company 
with respect to the Option by having Shares withheld up to an amount that does not exceed the minimum applicable withholding tax rate for 
federal (including FICA), state and local tax liabilities.  

5. Reorganization or Change of Control. The provisions of the Plan applicable to a Reorganization (as defined in the Plan) or a Change of 
Control (as defined in the Plan) shall apply to the Option, and, in the event of a Reorganization or a Change of Control, the Committee may take 
such actions as it deems appropriate pursuant to the Plan.  

6. Transferability of The Option. You may transfer the Option only: (a) by will or the laws of descent and distribution or (b) to (i) your spouse, 
children or grandchildren ("Immediate Family Members"), (ii) a trust or trusts for the exclusive benefit of you or such Immediate  



Exhibit 10.36  

Family Members (or both), (iii) a partnership in which you or such Immediate Family Members (or both) are the only partners or (iv) a 
corporation wholly owned by you or such Immediate Family Members (or both); provided that (w) the transfer does not result in accelerated 
federal income tax, (x) you do not receive any consideration, (y) the transferred Option continues to be subject to the same terms and conditions 
as it was immediately before the transfer, provided that the provisions of this Certificate and the Plan shall be deemed to apply to the transferee 
where the context so requires, and (z) the transfer complies with such other terms and conditions as determined by the Committee. Except as set 
forth above, the Option is exercisable only by you during your lifetime.  

7. Incorporation by Reference; Entire Agreement; Definitions. This Option shall be subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the Plan 
and to interpretations, regulations and determinations concerning the Plan established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the 
provisions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, provisions pertaining to (i) rights and obligations with respect to withholding taxes, (ii) the 
registration, qualification or listing of the Shares,  
(iii) changes in capitalization of the Company, and (iv) other requirements of applicable law. This Certificate, together with the Plan, contains 
the entire agreement between you and the Company with respect to the Option and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 
written or oral, with respect thereto. In the event of any contradiction, distinction or differences between this Certificate and the terms of the 
Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Except as otherwise defined in this Certificate, the terms used in this Certificate shall have the meanings 
set forth in the Plan.  

8. No Stockholder Rights. Neither you, nor any person or entity you transfer the Option pursuant to Paragraph 6, shall have any of the rights and 
privileges of a stockholder with respect to the Shares subject to the Option, until certificates for Shares have been issued upon the exercise of the 
Option.  

9. Assignment and Transfers. Your rights and interests under this Certificate may not be sold, assigned, encumbered or otherwise transferred 
except as provided in Paragraph 6. In the event of any attempt by you to alienate, assign, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of this 
Option or any right hereunder, except as provided for in this Certificate, or in the event of the levy of any attachment, execution or similar 
process upon the rights or interests hereby conferred, the Company may terminate the Option by notice to you, and the Option and all rights 
hereunder shall thereupon become null and void. The rights and protections of the Company hereunder shall extend to any successors or assigns 
of the Company and to the Company's parent, subsidiaries, and affiliates. This Certificate may be assigned by the Company without your 
consent.  

10. Governing Law. This Certificate shall be deemed to be made under, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
Delaware, without giving effect to conflict of laws provisions thereof.  

11. Miscellaneous.  

a. The captions of this Certificate are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This Certificate may not be amended or 
modified except by a written agreement executed by you, or your legal representative, as applicable, and by the Company, or by its successors or 
legal representative, as applicable. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Certificate shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision of this Certificate.  

b. The Committee may make such rules and regulations and establish such procedures for the administration of this Certificate as it deems 
appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee may interpret this Certificate and the Plan, with such interpretations 
to be conclusive and binding on all persons and otherwise accorded the maximum deference permitted by law. In the event of any dispute or 
disagreement as to the interpretation of this Certificate, the Plan, or of any rule, regulation or procedure, or as to any question, right or obligation 
arising from or related to this Certificate or the Plan, the decision of the Committee shall be final and binding on all persons, and your accepting 
this Option is your agreement to this.  

c. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, and if to the Company or the Committee, shall be delivered to the Board of Directors of the 
Company or mailed to its principal office, addressed to the attention of the Board of Directors; and if to you, shall be delivered personally, sent 
by facsimile transmission or mailed to you at the address appearing in the records of the Company. Such addresses may be changed at any time 
by written notice to the other party given in accordance with this Paragraph 11(c).  

d. The failure of you or the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Certificate or the Plan, or to assert any right that 
you or the Company, respectively, may have under this Certificate or the Plan, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or 
any other provision or right of this Certificate or the Plan.  

e. Nothing in this Certificate shall confer on you the right to continue in the service or employment of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, or 
interfere in any way with the right of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, and its stockholders to terminate your service or employment at 
any time.  

Grantee's Initials:________  
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STOCK OPTION CERTIFICATE  

Internet Capital Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), hereby grants, on the grant date shown below (the "Date of Grant"), to the 
grantee named below (the "Grantee") an option (this "Option") to purchase the total number of shares of the common stock of the Company as 
specified below (the "Shares") at the exercise price per share set forth below (the "Exercise Price"), subject to all of the terms and conditions on 
both sides of this Stock Option Certificate (the "Certificate") and the Company's 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (the "Plan"). The terms and 
conditions of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference.  

 

I hereby accept the Option grant described in this Stock Option Certificate. I have read the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate, 
and agree to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Stock Option Certificate and the interpretations of the Committee (as defined in the Plan) 
with respect thereto.  

Accepted by:  
 

Grantee  

In witness whereof, this Stock Option Certificate has been executed by the Company by a duly authorized officer as of the date specified hereon. 

Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

Walter W. Buckley, III  
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  

 
Luann M. Taiariol, Witness  

1. Vesting. Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 3, you will vest in the Option as follows,  

The Shares underlying the Option will vest 100% on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant if you are a Non-Employee Director (as defined in 
the Plan), Key Advisor (as defined in the Plan), or Employee (as defined in the Plan) at that time.  

2. Term; Termination of The Option. This Option will terminate on the occurrence of the earliest to occur of the following dates:  

a. Term of Option. The Option terminates eight (8) years from the Grant Date, or upon the liquidation of the Company, if earlier. If you have not 
fully exercised the Option prior to that date, you will not be permitted to exercise, and will forfeit any remaining portion of, the Option. The 
Option will also expire and be forfeited at such times and in such circumstances as otherwise provided in this Certificate or under the Plan.  

b. Termination on Death. If you incur a Termination of Service (as defined in the Plan) on account of your death, or if you die within ninety (90) 
days after you cease to be so employed on account of a termination identified in Paragraph 2(f), the vested portion of the Option shall terminate 
unless exercised within the earlier of: (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any 
unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of Service.  

c. Termination on Disability. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of you incurring a Disability (as defined in the Plan), the vested 
portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of: (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of 
Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the 
Termination of Service.  

d. Termination on Retirement. If you incur a Termination of Service on account of your Retirement (as defined in the Plan), any vested portion 
of the Option shall terminate unless exercised within the earlier of (i) the three (3) year period after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) 
the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate and be forfeited on the date in which you incur the Termination of 
Service.  

e. Termination for Cause. If you incur a Termination Service on account of a termination for Cause (as defined in the Plan), the Option will 

GRANTEE:                   _________ 
TYPE OF OPTION:            Nonqualified Stock Option 
SHARES SUBJECT TO OPTION:  _________ 
EXERCISE PRICE PER SHARE:  $_________ 
DATE OF GRANT:             _________ 
TERM OF OPTION:            8 years 



immediately terminate on the date of such Termination of Service and you will forfeit all Shares underlying any exercised portion of the Option 
for which the Company has not delivered certificates, and the Company shall refund to you the price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price 
Per Share you paid for such Shares or (ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such Termination of 
Service.  

f. Termination for Any Other Reason. If you incur a Termination of Service for any reason other than as identified in this Paragraph 2, any 
vested portion of the Option shall terminate unless exercised by you or a transferee under Paragraph 6, if applicable, within the earlier of (i) 
ninety (90) days after you incur such Termination of Service, or (ii) the term of the Option. Any unvested portion of the Option will terminate 
and be forfeited on the date you incur the Termination of Service.  

3. Exercise Prior to Vesting. Although you can exercise the Option at any time, the Shares that you receive will remain subject to the vesting 
provisions set forth in Paragraph 1. If you exercise any portion of the Option prior to satisfying those vesting provisions, (A) any unvested 
Shares will remain subject to the vesting schedule set forth in Paragraph 1, and to the restrictions applicable to Restricted Shares (as defined in 
the Plan) as set forth in Section 8 of the Plan, and (B) the Company may (but has no obligation to), at any time on or after your Termination of 
Service, repurchase any then unvested Shares for a price equal to the lesser of (i) the Exercise Price per Share you paid for such Shares or  
(ii) the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the Shares on the date of such repurchase.  

4. Method of Exercising the Option.  

a. Notice. When you want to exercise any portion of the Option, you must give written notice to the Company specifying the number of Shares 
that you would like to purchase.  

b. Method of Payment. To exercise the Option, you must pay to the Company the Exercise Price, (i) in cash, (ii) if approved by the Committee, 
by delivering Shares that you currently own in accordance with Section 5(f)(y) of the Plan, or (iii) by any other method of payment that the 
Committee may approve. Payment must be made at the principal office of the Company.  

c. The obligation of the Company to deliver Shares upon exercise of the Option shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations and 
such approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed appropriate by the Committee, including such actions as Company counsel shall 
deem necessary or appropriate to comply with relevant securities laws and regulations. You understand that you are responsible for the income 
tax consequences of your exercise of the Option and the sale of Shares. The Company may require that you (or the person exercising the Option 
pursuant to a transfer in accordance with Paragraph 6) represent that you are purchasing the Shares for your own account and not with a view to 
or for sale in connection with any distribution of the Shares, or such other representation as the Committee deems appropriate. All obligations of 
the Company under this Certificate shall be subject to the rights of the Company as set forth in the Plan to withhold amounts required to be 
withheld for any taxes, if applicable. Subject to Committee approval, you may elect to satisfy any tax withholding obligation of the Company 
with respect to the Option by having Shares withheld up to an amount that does not exceed the minimum applicable withholding tax rate for 
federal (including FICA), state and local tax liabilities.  

5. Reorganization or Change of Control. The provisions of the Plan applicable to a Reorganization (as defined in the Plan) or a Change of 
Control (as defined in the Plan) shall apply to the Option, and, in the event of a Reorganization or a Change of Control, the Committee may take 
such actions as it deems appropriate pursuant to the Plan.  

6. Transferability of The Option. You may transfer the Option only: (a) by will or the laws of descent and distribution or (b) to (i) your spouse, 
children or grandchildren ("Immediate Family Members"), (ii) a trust or trusts for the exclusive benefit of you or such Immediate  
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Family Members (or both), (iii) a partnership in which you or such Immediate Family Members (or both) are the only partners or (iv) a 
corporation wholly owned by you or such Immediate Family Members (or both); provided that (w) the transfer does not result in accelerated 
federal income tax, (x) you do not receive any consideration, (y) the transferred Option continues to be subject to the same terms and conditions 
as it was immediately before the transfer, provided that the provisions of this Certificate and the Plan shall be deemed to apply to the transferee 
where the context so requires, and (z) the transfer complies with such other terms and conditions as determined by the Committee. Except as set 
forth above, the Option is exercisable only by you during your lifetime.  

7. Incorporation by Reference; Entire Agreement; Definitions. This Option shall be subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the Plan 
and to interpretations, regulations and determinations concerning the Plan established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the 
provisions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, provisions pertaining to (i) rights and obligations with respect to withholding taxes, (ii) the 
registration, qualification or listing of the Shares,  
(iii) changes in capitalization of the Company, and (iv) other requirements of applicable law. This Certificate, together with the Plan, contains 
the entire agreement between you and the Company with respect to the Option and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 
written or oral, with respect thereto. In the event of any contradiction, distinction or differences between this Certificate and the terms of the 
Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Except as otherwise defined in this Certificate, the terms used in this Certificate shall have the meanings 
set forth in the Plan.  

8. No Stockholder Rights. Neither you, nor any person or entity you transfer the Option pursuant to Paragraph 6, shall have any of the rights and 
privileges of a stockholder with respect to the Shares subject to the Option, until certificates for Shares have been issued upon the exercise of the 
Option.  

9. Assignment and Transfers. Your rights and interests under this Certificate may not be sold, assigned, encumbered or otherwise transferred 
except as provided in Paragraph 6. In the event of any attempt by you to alienate, assign, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of this 
Option or any right hereunder, except as provided for in this Certificate, or in the event of the levy of any attachment, execution or similar 
process upon the rights or interests hereby conferred, the Company may terminate the Option by notice to you, and the Option and all rights 
hereunder shall thereupon become null and void. The rights and protections of the Company hereunder shall extend to any successors or assigns 
of the Company and to the Company's parent, subsidiaries, and affiliates. This Certificate may be assigned by the Company without your 
consent.  

10. Governing Law. This Certificate shall be deemed to be made under, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
Delaware, without giving effect to conflict of laws provisions thereof.  

11. Miscellaneous.  

a. The captions of this Certificate are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This Certificate may not be amended or 
modified except by a written agreement executed by you, or your legal representative, as applicable, and by the Company, or by its successors or 
legal representative, as applicable. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Certificate shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision of this Certificate.  

b. The Committee may make such rules and regulations and establish such procedures for the administration of this Certificate as it deems 
appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee may interpret this Certificate and the Plan, with such interpretations 
to be conclusive and binding on all persons and otherwise accorded the maximum deference permitted by law. In the event of any dispute or 
disagreement as to the interpretation of this Certificate, the Plan, or of any rule, regulation or procedure, or as to any question, right or obligation 
arising from or related to this Certificate or the Plan, the decision of the Committee shall be final and binding on all persons, and your accepting 
this Option is your agreement to this.  

c. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, and if to the Company or the Committee, shall be delivered to the Board of Directors of the 
Company or mailed to its principal office, addressed to the attention of the Board of Directors; and if to you, shall be delivered personally, sent 
by facsimile transmission or mailed to you at the address appearing in the records of the Company. Such addresses may be changed at any time 
by written notice to the other party given in accordance with this Paragraph 11(c).  

d. The failure of you or the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Certificate or the Plan, or to assert any right that 
you or the Company, respectively, may have under this Certificate or the Plan, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or 
any other provision or right of this Certificate or the Plan.  

e. Nothing in this Certificate shall confer on you the right to continue in the service or employment of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, or 
interfere in any way with the right of the Company, its parent or subsidiaries, and its stockholders to terminate your service or employment at 
any time.  

Grantee's Initials:________  
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Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

 

Unless otherwise provided, each of the subsidiaries named above do business under the same name.  

Name                                                                            Jurisdiction of Incorporation 
----                                                                            ----------------------------- 
Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc.                                                      Delaware 
Internet Capital Group (Europe), Ltd.                                                     United Kingdom 
ICG Holdings, Inc.                                                                           Delaware 
1999 Internet Capital (Europe) L.P.                                                          Delaware 
Agribuys, Inc.                                                                              California 
Anthem/CIC Ventures Fund L.P.                                                                Delaware 
Arbinet - thexchange Inc.                                                                    Delaware 
Axxis, Inc. (fka Fuelspot.com, Inc.)                                                         Delaware 
Blackboard, Inc.                                                                             Delaware 
Captive Capital Corporation (fka eMarket Capital, Inc.)                                      Delaware 
ClearCommerce Corporation                                                                    Delaware 
CommerceQuest, Inc.                                                                           Florida 
     CQ Holdings Limited                                                                  United Kingdom 
     CITL Holdings Limited                                                                United Kingdom 
     CommerceQuest UK Limited                                                             United Kingdom 
ComputerJobs.com, Inc.                                                                        Georgia 
Co-nect Inc. (fka Simplexis.com)                                                             Delaware 
CreditTrade Inc.                                                                             Delaware 
eCredit.com, Inc.                                                                            Delaware 
Emptoris, Inc.                                                                               Delaware 
Entegrity Solutions Corporation                                                             California 
Freeborders, Inc.                                                                            Delaware 
     Freeborders, Ltd.                                                                       Hong Kong 
GoIndustry AG                                                                                 Germany 
ICG Commerce Holdings, Inc.                                                                  Delaware 
     ICG Commerce, Inc.                                                                    Pennsylvania 
     Integrated Sourcing, LLC                                                              Pennsylvania 
     ICG Commerce Investments, LLC                                                           Delaware 
     ICG Commerce International, LLC                                                         Delaware 
     ICG Commerce Mexico I, LLC                                                              Delaware 
     ICG Commerce Mexico II, LLC                                                             Delaware 
     ICG Commerce UK Limited                                                              United Kingdom 
     ICG Commerce Singapore Pte Ltd.                                                         Singapore 
     ICG Commerce Germany GmbH                                                                Germany 
     ICG Commerce France SAS                                                                  France 
     ICG Commerce Ireland Ltd.                                                                Ireland 
     ICG Commerce Latin America, S. de. R.L., de C.V.                                         Mexico 
     ICG Commerce Services, S. de. R.L. de C.V.                                               Mexico 
     epValue.com, Inc.                                                                       Delaware 
     epValue.com UK Limited                                                               United Kingdom 
     hpi GmbH                                                                                 Germany 
ICG Patent, Inc.                                                                             Delaware 
Investor Force Holdings, Inc.                                                                Delaware 
Cloudy, Inc. (fka iSky, Inc.)                                                                Maryland 
Jamcracker, Inc.                                                                             Delaware 
LinkShare Corporation                                                                        Delaware 
LGO Corporation (fka Logistics.com, Inc.)                                                    Delaware 
Marketron International, Inc. (fka Buymedia, Inc.)                                           Delaware 
Mobility Technologies, Inc. (fka traffic.com, Inc.)                                          Delaware 
OneCoast Network Holdings, Inc. (fka USgift Corporation)                                      Georgia 
StarCite, Inc.                                                                               Delaware 
Tibersoft Corporation                                                                      Massachusetts 
Universal Access Global Holdings Inc.                                                        Illinois 
Verticalnet, Inc.                                                                          Pennsylvania 
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

The Board of Directors  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-34736, 333-76870 and 333-76872) on Form S-8 and the 
registration statement (no. 333-115702) on Form S-3 of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries of our reports dated March 15, 2005, with 
respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit), comprehensive loss and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year 
period ended December 31, 2004, and related financial statement schedule, management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, which 
reports appear in the December 31, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

 

/s/ KPMG LLP 
 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 
March 15, 2005 
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

I, Walter W. Buckley, III, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant, and have:  

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and  

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting.  

 

Date: March 15, 2005 
                                                 /s/ Walter W. Buckley, III 
                                                 -------------------------- 
                                                 Walter W. Buckley, III 
                                                 Chief Executive Officer 
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

I, Anthony P. Dolanski, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by 
this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f)) for the registrant, and have:  

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and  

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting.  

 

Date: March 15, 2005 
                                                 /s/ Anthony P. Dolanski 
                                                 ------------------------ 
                                                 Anthony P. Dolanski 
                                                 Chief Financial Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF  

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2004 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Walter W. Buckley, III, Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

 

/s/ Walter W. Buckley, III 
--------------------------- 
Walter W. Buckley, III 
Chief Executive Officer 
March 15, 2005 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF  

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2004 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Anthony P. Dolanski, Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

 

/s/ Anthony P. Dolanski 
------------------------- 
Anthony P. Dolanski 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
March 15, 2005 


